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Important notices  

Date of Scheme Booklet  

This Scheme Booklet is dated 19 December 2013. 

General 

VII Shareholders should read this Scheme Booklet in its entirety before making a decision as to how to 
vote on the resolution to be considered at the Scheme Meeting.  If you are in any doubt as to how to deal 
with this Scheme Booklet, please consult your legal, financial or other professional adviser immediately. 

Purpose of this Scheme Booklet 

The purpose of this Scheme Booklet is to explain the terms of the Scheme and the manner in which the 
Scheme will be considered and implemented (if approved), and to provide such information as is 
prescribed or otherwise material to the decision of VII Shareholders whether or not to approve the 
Scheme.  This Scheme Booklet includes the explanatory statement required by section 412(1) of the 
Corporations Act in relation to the Scheme.   

Responsibility statement 

Except as set out in paragraphs (a) and (b) below, this Scheme Booklet has been prepared by, and is the 
responsibility of, VII and has been approved by the VII Directors: 

(a) The SSE Information (being information with respect to SSE) contained in Section 5 has been 
prepared by, and is the responsibility of, SSE.  SSE, its directors, officers, employees and 
advisers do not assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any information 
in this Scheme Booklet other than the SSE Information which is the responsibility of SSE.   

(b) The Independent Expert's Report contained in this Scheme Booklet has been prepared by, and 
is the responsibility of, the Independent Expert (BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd).  VII 
does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the Independent 
Expert's Report except in relation to information given by it to the Independent Expert or its 
directors, officers or employees for the purposes of the Independent Expert preparing the 
Independent Expert's Report.  The Independent Expert and its directors, officers and 
employees are not responsible for the accuracy and completeness of any other part of this 
Scheme Booklet. 

ASIC, the ASX and the Court 

A copy of this Scheme Booklet has been provided to ASIC for the purpose of section 411(2) of the 
Corporations Act and registered by ASIC for the purpose of section 412(6) of the Corporations Act. 

ASIC has reviewed a copy of this Scheme Booklet.  VII has asked ASIC to provide a statement, in 
accordance with section 411(17)(b) of the Corporations Act, that ASIC has no objection to the Scheme.  
If ASIC provides that statement, it will be produced to the Court at the time of the Court hearing on the 
Second Court Date.   

A copy of this Scheme Booklet has been provided to the ASX. 

Neither ASIC, the ASX nor its officers take any responsibility for the contents of this Scheme Booklet.   
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Important notice associated with the Court order under section 411(1) of the Corporations Act 

The Court has ordered the convening of the Scheme Meeting pursuant to section 411(1) of the 
Corporations Act.  The convening of the Scheme Meeting by the Court does not mean that the Court: 

(a) has formed any view as to the merits of the proposed Scheme or as to how VII Shareholders 
should vote (on this matter VII Shareholders must reach their own decision); or 

(b) has prepared, or is responsible for, the content of this Scheme Booklet. 

No investment advice 

The information contained in this Scheme Booklet does not constitute financial product advice and has 
been prepared without reference to the investment objectives, financial situation, taxation position and 
particular needs of VII Shareholders.  The information in this Scheme Booklet should not be relied upon 
as the sole basis for any investment decision in relation to the Scheme, the VII Shares or the SSE Shares.  
VII Shareholders should seek independent financial, taxation or other professional advice before making 
any decision regarding the Scheme. 

Forward looking statements 

Certain statements in this Scheme Booklet, including statements relating to VII's or SSE's plans, 
intentions or expectations and future costs, relate to the future and are forward looking statements or 
information.  These forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, 
assumptions and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or achievements 
of VII or SSE (as applicable) to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such statements.  Such material risks, uncertainties and other important factors 
include, among other things, general economic conditions, exchange rates, interest rates, the regulatory 
environment, competitive pressures, selling price and market demand.   

Assumptions upon which forward looking statements related to the Scheme are based include, without 
limitation: (a) that VII Shareholders will approve the Scheme; (b) that the Court will approve the Scheme; 
and (c) that all other conditions to the completion of the Scheme will be satisfied or waived.  Many of 
these assumptions are based on factors and events that are not within the control of VII or SSE and may 
not prove to be correct. 

Factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from results anticipated by such forward looking 
statements include, but are not limited to: the parties' ability to consummate the Scheme; the conditions to 
the completion of the Scheme, including the receipt of VII Shareholder approval and Court approval on 
the terms expected or on the anticipated schedule; the parties' ability to meet expectations regarding the 
timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments of the Scheme; and the factors identified under 
Section 6, as well as in VII's recent annual, half-yearly and nine months ended 30 September 2013 
financial reports, which are available from VII's website at www.vii.net.au.   

Without limiting the generality of the other provisions of this cautionary statement, the Independent 
Expert's Report which is set out in Annexure A of this Scheme Booklet may contain or refer to forward 
looking information and is subject to certain assumptions, limitations, risks and uncertainties as described 
herein and therein.   

Other than as required by law, neither VII, SSE, nor any other person gives any representation, assurance 
or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward looking statements in 
this Scheme Booklet will actually occur.  VII Shareholders are cautioned about relying on any such 
forward looking statements.  The forward looking statements in this Scheme Booklet reflect views held 
only at the date of this Scheme Booklet.  Additionally, statements of the intentions of SSE reflect its 
present intentions as at the date of this Scheme Booklet and may be subject to change.   
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Subject to any continuing obligations under law or the ASX Listing Rules or as contemplated by Section 
11.15 of this Scheme Booklet, VII, SSE and their respective directors disclaim any obligation or 
undertaking to disseminate after the date of this Scheme Booklet any updates or revisions to any forward 
looking statements to reflect any change in expectations in relation to those statements or any change in 
events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.   

Estimates, targets and forecasts 

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to estimates, targets and forecasts and derivatives of the same in 
this Scheme Booklet are references to estimates, targets and forecasts by management of either VII or 
SSE (as applicable).  Management estimates, targets and forecasts are based on views held only at the 
date of this Scheme Booklet, and actual events and results may be materially different from them.   

Each of VII and SSE believe that any forecast attributed to it in this Scheme Booklet has been made on 
reasonable grounds.  However, readers are cautioned that the estimates, targets and forecasts are subject 
to a variety of factors that are likely to cause actual results to vary from them, and such variations may be 
material.  Forward looking information generally involves risks and uncertainties as described above, 
which are in many instances beyond VII and SSE's control, including amongst other things, global 
economic conditions, specific market conditions, regulatory developments in the Socialist Republic of 
Vietnam (Vietnam) and other territories in which VII and SSE operate, exchange rates, changes in raw 
material prices, interest rates and regulatory changes.  A description of certain risks are set out in Section 
6 of this Scheme Booklet. 

These could cause actual events and results to vary significantly from those included in or contemplated 
by such statements. 

Any estimates, targets or forecasts reflect certain assumptions by SSE and/or VII which assumptions may 
differ with respect to future events, economic, competitive and regulatory conditions, financial market 
conditions and future business decisions, including a continuation of existing business operations on 
substantially the same basis as currently exists, all of which assumptions are difficult to predict and many 
of which are beyond VII and SSE's control.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that any estimate, 
forecast or target is indicative of VII or SSE's future performance or that actual events and results would 
not differ materially from them. 

VII Shareholders outside Australia  

This Scheme Booklet is subject to Australian disclosure requirements.  Financial information in this 
Scheme Booklet has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and is presently 
in an abbreviated form and does not contain all of the disclosures that are usually provided in a financial 
report prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act.  Australian disclosure requirements and 
Australian Accounting Standards may be different from those applicable in other jurisdictions. 

Scheme Shareholders in jurisdictions outside Australia and its external territories, Singapore, Belgium, 
Malaysia, the Republic of Philippines and Vietnam, are Ineligible Foreign Shareholders under the Scheme 
and should refer to Section 7.3.  SSE is not obliged to procure VII to transfer SSE Shares to any Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholder unless SSE and VII determine that it is lawful and not unduly onerous or 
impracticable.   

VII Shareholders should consult their tax adviser as to the applicable tax consequences of the Scheme. 

This Scheme Booklet and the Scheme do not, either individually or in combination, constitute an offer to 
sell to VII Shareholders or a solicitation of an offer to purchase from VII Shareholders any securities in 
VII or SSE in any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation would be illegal. 
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Scheme Shareholders who reside outside of Australia, but who do not constitute Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders should note that this Scheme Booklet has been prepared (in accordance with the 
requirements in Australia) for the sole purpose of allowing you to consider the Scheme.  It must not be 
distributed, reproduced or disclosed (in whole or part) to other persons or used for any purpose other than 
a consideration of the Scheme.  This Scheme Booklet has not been filed with or considered or approved 
by any regulatory body in any country other than Australia and VII Shareholders should consult with their 
professional advisers as to whether any other formalities or consents are required to permit them to 
receive SSE Shares pursuant to the Scheme. 

The distribution of this Scheme Booklet outside of Australia may be restricted by law and persons who 
come into possession of it should seek advice on and observe any such restrictions.  Any failure to 
comply with such restrictions may contravene applicable securities laws.  VII disclaims all liabilities to 
such persons.   

VII Shareholders who are nominees, trustees or custodians may forward the Scheme Booklet to all 
beneficial shareholders resident in Australia, Belgium or Malaysia but they may not send the Scheme 
Booklet into any other country except to beneficial shareholders who are institutional or professional 
investors in the other countries listed in, and to the extent permitted as disclosed under the heading 
"Disclosure in regards to permitted shareholders" and are advised to seek independent advice as to how 
they should proceed. 

No action has been taken to register or qualify this Scheme Booklet or any aspect of the Scheme in any 
jurisdiction outside of Australia. 

Notice to VII Shareholders in Singapore, Belgium, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Republic of 
Philippines and Vietnam 

Singapore 

This Scheme Booklet has not been lodged or registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore (MAS) and is not made in or accompanied by a prospectus that is lodged or registered with the 
MAS.  Accordingly, this Scheme Booklet and any other document or material in connection with the 
offer, or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the SSE Shares may not be circulated or 
distributed, nor may the SSE Shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for 
subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than pursuant to 
the exemptions in Subdivision (4), Division 1, Part XIII of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of 
Singapore (SFA), or otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable 
provision of the SFA. 

You are advised to acquaint yourself with the SFA provisions relating to on-sale restrictions in Singapore 
and comply accordingly. 

Belgium 

This Scheme Booklet is not being distributed in the context of a public offering of financial securities 
(offre au public d'instruments de placement) in Belgium within the meaning of Article 3 of Belgian Act of 
16 June 2006 on the public offering of investment instruments and the admission of investment 
instruments to trading on a regulated market.  The SSE Shares have not been offered or sold and will not 
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, to the public in Belgium. 

This Scheme Booklet and any other material relating to the restructure have not been, and will not be, 
submitted to the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority for approval in Belgium and, 
accordingly, may not be distributed or caused to be distributed, directly or indirectly, to the public in 
Belgium. 
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Such offers, sales and distributions have been and shall only be made in Belgium to the shareholders of 
VII in a transaction that, in accordance with Article 3, §3 of the Belgian Prospectus Act, does not 
constitute a public offering of financial securities. 

Malaysia 

The offering made under this Scheme Booklet does not constitute, and should not be construed as 
constituting an offer or invitation to subscribe for or purchase any securities in Malaysia.  The issuer of 
this Scheme Booklet, by the dispatch of this Scheme Booklet, has not made available any securities for 
subscription or purchase in Malaysia.  This Scheme Booklet is distributed in Malaysia for information 
purposes only.  This Scheme Booklet does not constitute, and should not be construed as offering or 
making available any securities for purchase in Malaysia. 

New Zealand 

This Scheme Booklet has not been registered, filed with or approved by any New Zealand regulatory 
authority or under or in accordance with the Securities Act 1978 (NZ).  This Scheme Booklet is not a 
registered prospectus or investment statement for the purposes of the Securities Act 1978 (NZ) and does 
not contain all the information typically included in a registered prospectus or investment statement.  
Under the restructure, no SSE Shares may be offered or sold within New Zealand or allotted with a view 
to being offered for sale in New Zealand, and no person in New Zealand may accept such an offer, other 
than: 

 persons whose principal business is the investment of money or who, in the course of and for 
the purposes of their business, habitually invest money: and/or 

 persons who are each required to: 

 pay a minimum subscription price of at least NZ$500,000 for the shares before 
allotment of those shares; or 

 have previously paid a minimum subscription price of at least NZ$500,000 for the 
securities of SSE (initial securities) in a single transaction before the allotment of 
such initial securities and such allotment was not more than 18 months prior to the 
date of this Scheme Booklet; and/or 

 persons who are "wealthy" as that term is defined in section 5(2CD) of the Securities Act 1978 
(NZ), being persons that an independent chartered accountant certifies (no more than twelve 
months before this offer) has net assets of at least NZ$2,000,000 or has had an annual gross 
income of at least NZ$200,000 for each of the last two financial years. 

The restructure offer will not be made to members of the "public" in New Zealand. 

No person may offer, invite, sell or deliver any security or distribute any documents (including this 
Scheme Booklet) to any person in New Zealand except in accordance with all of the legal requirements of 
New Zealand, including the Securities Act 1978 (NZ). 

Republic of Philippines 

THE SECURITIES BEING OFFERED OR SOLD HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE 
PHILIPPINE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION UNDER THE PHILIPPINE 
SECURITIES REGULATION CODE.  ANY FUTURE OFFER OR SALE THEREOF IS 
SUBJECT TO REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE CODE UNLESS SUCH 
OFFER OR SALE QUALIFIES AS AN EXEMPT TRANSACTION. 

The SSE Shares are being offered or sold to a shareholder of VII in an exempt transaction under 
section 10.1(k) of the Code.   
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Vietnam 

The SSE Shares may not be offered in the territory of Vietnam or to any Vietnamese citizen (whether 
residing in Vietnam or outside Vietnam) or any foreign exchange resident of Vietnam unless such person 
has obtained the necessary approval/permit as required by relevant local laws from the Vietnamese 
authorities (the State Bank of Vietnam and any other relevant authority according to the requirements of 
Vietnamese law as applicable from time to time) to purchase and/or hold such securities, and by the 
purchase or acceptance of an instrument, the relevant holder shall be deemed to represent and warrant that 
it has obtained all necessary approvals and permits. 

Disclosure in regards to permitted shareholders 

Based on the information available to VII as at the date of this Scheme Booklet, VII shareholders whose 
addresses are shown in the Register on the Record Date for the Scheme as being in the following 
jurisdictions will be entitled to have SSE Shares transferred to them pursuant to the Scheme subject to the 
qualifications, if any, set out below in respect of that jurisdiction: 

 Australia; 

 Singapore; 

 Belgium; 

 Malaysia; 

 New Zealand where the VII Shareholder is a "habitual investor", a "wealthy investor" or the 
value of its shareholding in VII is more than NZ$500,000, in each case in a transaction exempt 
from the prospectus requirements under the Securities Act 1978 (NZ); 

 the Republic of Philippines where the number of VII Shareholders does not exceed 19; and 

 any other person or jurisdiction in respect of which VII reasonably believes that it is not 
prohibited and not unduly onerous or impractical to implement the Scheme and to transfer SSE 
Shares to a VII Shareholder with a registered address in such a jurisdiction. 

Privacy and personal information 

VII, SSE and the Share Registry may collect personal information in the process of implementing the 
Scheme.  The personal information may include the names, addresses, other contact details and details of 
the security holdings of VII Shareholders, and the names of individuals appointed by VII Shareholders as 
proxies, corporate representatives or attorneys at the Scheme Meeting.  The collection of some of this 
information is required or authorised by the Corporations Act. 

VII Shareholders who are individuals and the other individuals in respect of whom personal information 
is collected as outlined above have certain rights to access the personal information collected in relation 
to them.  Such individuals should contact the Share Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within Australia) or 
+61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to Friday between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time) if 
they wish to exercise these rights.   

The personal information is collected for the primary purpose of implementing the Scheme.  The personal 
information may be disclosed to VII and SSE's share registries/transfer agents, securities brokers, print 
and mail service providers and any other service provider to the extent necessary to effect the Scheme. 
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If the information outlined above is not collected, VII may be hindered in, or prevented from, conducting 
the Scheme Meeting and implementing the Scheme. 

VII Shareholders who appoint an individual as their proxy, corporate representative or attorney to vote at 
the Scheme Meeting should inform such an individual of the matters outlined above. 

Interpretation 

Information contained in this Scheme Booklet is given as of 19 December 2013, unless otherwise stated 
to the contrary.  Capitalised terms and certain abbreviations used in this Scheme Booklet have the defined 
meanings set out in the Definitions in Section 12. 

Figures, amounts, percentages, estimates, calculations of value and fractions in this Scheme Booklet are 
subject to the effect of rounding.  Accordingly, the actual calculation of these figures may differ from the 
figures set out in this Scheme Booklet. 

All references to times in this Scheme Booklet are references to time in Perth, Australia, unless otherwise 
stated.  All dates in the timetable are indicative only and subject to change. 

No internet website is part of this Scheme Booklet 

VII maintains an internet website.  Any references in this Scheme Booklet to a website is a textual 
reference for information only and no information on any website forms part of this Scheme Booklet. 

Questions and supplementary information 

VII Shareholders who have any questions in relation to this Scheme Booklet or the Scheme should 
contact the Share Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of 
Australia) Monday to Friday between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time).   

VII Shareholders should seek independent legal, financial or other professional advice before making any 
decision regarding the Scheme. 

In certain circumstances, VII may provide additional disclosure to VII Shareholders in relation to the 
Scheme after the date of this Scheme Booklet.  To the extent applicable, VII Shareholders should have 
regard to any such supplemental information in determining how to vote in relation to the Scheme. 

Currency  

References in this Scheme Booklet to A$ means a reference to Australian dollars.  References in this 
Scheme Booklet to US$ means a reference to US dollars.  References in this Scheme Booklet to S$ means 
a reference to Singapore dollars.  The exchange rates as at 19 December 2013 (the date of this Scheme 
Booklet) are of A$1 being equal to US$0.8836 and of A$1 being equal to S$1.1166. 
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Letter from VII's Chairman 

Dear VII Shareholder, 

On 29 November 2013, Vietnam Industrial Investments (VII) announced the proposed internal restructure 
of its group of companies by scheme of arrangement in accordance with the terms of the Scheme 
Implementation Agreement entered into on the same date. 

If the Scheme is implemented, Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will 
receive 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on the Record Date, where fractional entitlements will 
be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number, with fractions of 0.5 being rounded up.   

It is intended that under the Scheme, VII will become a wholly owned Subsidiary of Structure Steel 
Engineering Pte Ltd (SSE), VII will be delisted from the ASX, and SSE will become the parent company 
of the VII Group.   

Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will hold direct interests in SSE in 
proportion to their respective shareholdings in VII.  Consequently, Scheme Shareholders (other than 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will have the same percentage shareholdings in the same assets that they 
held prior to the Scheme.  The only difference is that they will hold shares in SSE, an unlisted 
Singaporean company, rather than in Australian ASX listed, VII. 

Andrew David Walker and Alan Alexander Young (a majority of the Independent Directors) recommend 
that you vote in favour of the Scheme and approve the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting.   

Whilst I am supportive of VII proposing the Scheme to VII Shareholders, being unfamiliar with the 
individual circumstances of each VII Shareholder, do not wish, having considered the potential 
advantages and disadvantages of the Scheme, to make a recommendation.  I consider that it is for the VII 
Shareholders to decide whether to approve the Scheme based on the information disclosed in this Scheme 
Booklet, the reasons in Section 3 of this Scheme Booklet in relation to voting on the Scheme, and having 
regard to individual risk profiles, portfolio strategies, tax positions and financial circumstances.  

Van Hung Lam (Henry) is a director of VII, SSE and Corbyns, which in turn holds 81.75% of VII's issued 
share capital and is VII's ultimate holding company.  Van Hung Lam (Henry) also holds 100% of the 
issued share capital in Corbyns and is therefore not considered an Independent Director of VII for the 
purposes of the Scheme.  Consequently, although Van Hung Lam (Henry) is supportive of VII proposing 
the Scheme, he does not believe that it is appropriate for him to make a recommendation to VII 
Shareholders, and has not made a recommendation, in relation to the Scheme.   

Corbyns has informed VII that, whilst it will not vote on the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting, it is 
supportive of the Scheme.   

In order for the Scheme to proceed, the Scheme requires the approval of VII Shareholders.  The Scheme 
Meeting will be convened for this purpose, commencing at 10.00 am (Perth time) on 4 February 2014 at 
the Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West Perth, Western Australia. 

In summary, a majority of the Independent Directors (being Andrew David Walker and Alan Alexander 
Young) recommend that you vote in favour of the Scheme and approve the Scheme based on a number of 
important considerations, including the following: 

 upon implementation of the Scheme, Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders) will hold direct interests in SSE in proportion to their respective shareholdings 
in VII.  Consequently, Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will 
have the same percentage shareholdings in the same assets held prior to the Scheme.  SSE will 
be a public unlisted company in Singapore.  SSE is expected to position the VII Group in an 
advantageous position to raise funds in the future, either by a potential future listing on a 
securities exchange in Singapore, through private equity or investment from comparable 



 

 11

companies which operate in the steel industry.  The restructured VII Group domiciled in 
Singapore is likely to attract more foreign investment and private equity capital than an ASX 
listed entity which is domiciled in Australia; 

 VII's shares are thinly traded on the ASX given VII's major shareholder, Corbyns, holds 
81.75% of the issued share capital of VII and it has been difficult to raise further capital in 
these circumstances; and 

 VII is currently incurring significant costs and administrative time by remaining listed on the 
ASX, complying with the ASX Listing Rules and as a result of the parent company of the VII 
Group being domiciled in Australia.  These expenses total approximately A$650,000 per year.  
Following implementation of the Scheme, VII would be delisted from the ASX and VII would 
no longer incur this cost and administrative time. 

Independent Expert 

The Independent Expert has concluded that the Scheme is in the best interests of VII Shareholders.   

Conclusion 

This Scheme Booklet sets out important information regarding the Scheme, including the reasons for the 
majority Independent Directors' recommendation and the Independent Expert's conclusion that the 
Scheme is in the best interests of VII Shareholders.  Please read this Scheme Booklet in its entirety before 
making your decision and voting at the Scheme Meeting.  I would also encourage you to seek 
independent financial and taxation advice before making any investment decision in relation to your VII 
Shares. 

I encourage you to vote at the Scheme Meeting.  If you wish for the Scheme to proceed, it is important 
that you vote in favour of the Scheme to approve the Scheme. 

If you have any questions in relation to the Scheme or this Scheme Booklet, please contact the Share 
Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to 
Friday between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time).   

Yours sincerely, 

 

Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok 
Chairman 
Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited  
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Key dates  

Event Time and Date 

Latest time and date by which completed Proxy Forms 
for the Scheme Meeting must be received by the Share 
Registry 

10.00 am (Perth time) on 2 February 2014 

Time and date for determining eligibility to vote of 
registered VII Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting  

5.00 pm (Perth time) on 2 February 2014 

Scheme Meeting (to be held at the Western Australian 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West 
Perth, Western Australia) 

10.00 am (Perth time) on 4 February 2014  

If the Scheme is approved by the Requisite Majorities, the expected timetable for implementation 
of the Scheme is: 

Second Court Date to obtain orders for approval of the 
Scheme 

6 February 2014  

Effective Date  7 February 2014 

Last date that VII Shares will trade on the ASX 7 February 2014 

Record Date for determining entitlements to Scheme 
Consideration 

5.00 pm (Perth time) on 14 February 2014  

Conversion of SSE to a public company in Singapore By 7 March 2014  

Implementation Date By 11 March 2014 

Scheme Consideration to be transferred to Scheme 
Shareholders  

By 11 March 2014 

 

This timetable is indicative only.  The actual timetable will depend upon the Court approval process and 
the satisfaction or, where applicable, waiver of conditions to the Scheme.  Those conditions are 
summarised in Sections 8.9(a) and 8.9(c) of this Scheme Booklet.  VII has the right to vary the timetable 
set out above subject to the approval of such variation by SSE, the Court, ASIC and the ASX where 
required.  Any variation to the timetable set out above will be announced to the ASX and published on 
VII's website.  
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Scheme Meeting Details and How to Vote  

Scheme Meeting 

The Scheme Meeting will be held at 10.00 am (Perth time) on 4 February 2014 at the Western Australian 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West Perth, Western Australia.   

For the Scheme to proceed, it must be approved by a majority in number of VII Shareholders present and 
voting at the Scheme Meeting (in person, by attorney, by proxy or, in the case of a body corporate, by 
corporate representative) (the Headcount Test) and at least 75% of the total number of votes cast by VII 
Shareholders entitled to vote at the Scheme Meeting.  If the Scheme is not approved by VII Shareholders 
at the Scheme Meeting by reason only of the non-satisfaction of the Headcount Test, VII may apply to the 
Court for the Court to exercise its discretion to disregard the Headcount Test and make orders approving 
the Scheme. 

What should you do? 

Please read this Scheme Booklet and the accompanying Notice of Scheme Meeting carefully. 

If you have any questions, consult your financial, legal or other professional adviser or call the Share 
Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to 
Friday between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time).   

The Independent Directors believe the Scheme is a matter of importance for all VII Shareholders and 
therefore urge you to vote on the Scheme. 

Entitlement to vote 

VII Shareholders who are registered on the Register at 5.00 pm (Perth time) on 2 February 2014 may vote 
at the Scheme Meeting in person, by attorney, by proxy or, in the case of a body corporate, by corporate 
representative. 

How to vote in person 

If you are entitled to vote and wish to do so in person, you should attend the Scheme Meeting to be held 
at 10.00 am (Perth time) on 4 February 2014 at the Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 
1304 Hay Street, West Perth, Western Australia.   

A body corporate who is a VII Shareholder may appoint an individual to act as its corporate 
representative.  The appointment must comply with the requirements of sections 250D and 253B of the 
Corporations Act.  If you are attending as a corporate representative, please bring evidence of your 
authority.  An "Appointment of Corporate Representative" may be obtained for this purpose from VII's 
Share Registry's website at www.securitytransfer.com.au. 

How to vote by proxy or attorney 

A Proxy Form is included with this Scheme Booklet.  If you wish to appoint a proxy to attend and vote at 
the Scheme Meeting, complete the Proxy Form. 

Your Proxy Form or appointment of attorney (in the event you wish to appoint an attorney to attend and 
vote at the Scheme Meeting) must either be: 

 sent by mail to the Share Registry (using the reply paid envelope included with this Scheme 
Booklet), addressed, Suite 1, Alexandra House, 770 Canning Highway, Applecross, Western 
Australia 6153 or PO Box 535, Applecross, Western Australia 6953;  

 faxed to (08) 9315 2233 from within Australia, or +61 8 9315 2233 from overseas;  
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 lodged online at www.securitytransfer.com.au using the details printed on the personalised 
Proxy Form; or 

 delivered by hand to Suite 1, Alexandra House, 770 Canning Highway, Applecross, Western 
Australia 6153, 

so that it is received by no later than 10.00 am (Perth time) on 2 February 2014. 

A Proxy Form completed by custodians or nominees of VII Shareholders must be faxed to the Share 
Registry on (08) 9315 2233 from within Australia, or +61 8 9315 2233 from overseas, so that it is 
received by no later than 10.00 am (Perth time) on 2 February 2014. 

If an attorney signs a Proxy Form on your behalf, a copy of the authority under which the Proxy Form 
was signed must be received by the Share Registry at the same time as the Proxy Form (unless you have 
already provided a copy of the authority to VII). 

If you complete and return a Proxy Form, you may still attend the meeting in person, revoke the proxy 
and vote at the meeting.
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1. Frequently asked questions 

This Scheme Booklet contains detailed information regarding the Scheme.  This Section provides 
summary answers to some questions you may have and will assist you to locate further detailed 
information in this Scheme Booklet. 

Question Answer More 
information 

The Scheme at a glance 

What is the Scheme? On 29 November 2013, VII announced that VII and 
SSE had entered into the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement in relation to the Scheme to effect a 
restructure of the VII Group.  Pursuant to the 
Scheme, SSE will acquire all of the VII Shares by 
way of a scheme of arrangement, VII will become a 
wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE, and SSE will 
become the parent company of the VII Group. 

If the Scheme is implemented, VII Shares will be 
delisted from the ASX. 

Section 2.1 

What is a "scheme of 
arrangement"? 

A "scheme of arrangement" is a means of 
implementing an acquisition of securities under the 
Corporations Act.  It requires a vote in favour of the 
Scheme by certain majorities of shareholders at a 
meeting of shareholders and also requires Court 
approval. 

A detailed description of the Scheme is set out in 
Section 2. 

Section 2 

Who is SSE? SSE is a private, unlisted company incorporated in 
and registered under the laws of Singapore.  As at the 
date of this Scheme Booklet, SSE is a wholly owned 
Subsidiary of VII.   

Further information in relation to SSE is set out in 
Section 5 of this Scheme Booklet. 

Section 5 

What is the effect of the 
Scheme? 

Under the terms of the Scheme, Scheme Shareholders 
(other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will 
receive 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on 
the Record Date. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will not receive SSE 
Shares under the Scheme, but will instead receive a 
pro rata share of the Proceeds from the sale by the 
Sale Nominee of the SSE Shares attributable to 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders in accordance with 
Section 7.3. 

Upon implementation of the Scheme, VII will 
become a wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE and be 
delisted from the ASX and SSE will become the 
parent company of the VII Group. 

Sections 2, 7 
and 8 



 

 16

Question Answer More 
information 

If the Scheme is implemented, the VII Group will 
continue to maintain a Perth office for a short period 
of time after the Implementation Date, in order to 
allow the VII Group to address any administrative 
functions until it establishes a head office in 
Singapore.   

A detailed description of the terms of the Scheme is 
set out in Section 8 of this Scheme Booklet. 

What do the majority of 
Independent Directors 
recommend? 

A majority of the Independent Directors (namely 
Andrew David Walker and Alan Alexander Young) 
recommend that you vote in favour of the Scheme 
and approve the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting and 
believe that the Scheme is in the best interests of VII 
Shareholders.   

Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok, the remaining 
Independent Director, is supportive of VII proposing 
the Scheme to VII Shareholders though, being 
unfamiliar with the individual circumstances of each 
VII Shareholder, does not wish, having considered 
the potential advantages and disadvantages of the 
Scheme, to make a recommendation.  Mr Kwok 
considers that it is for the VII Shareholders to decide 
whether to approve the Scheme based on the 
information disclosed in the Scheme Booklet and 
having regard to individual risk profiles, portfolio 
strategies, tax positions and financial circumstances. 

The reasons for the majority of Independent 
Directors'  recommendation, and other matters that 
you may wish to take into consideration, are set out in 
Section 3 of this Scheme Booklet. 

Section 3 

How are the Directors 
intending to vote? 

Although Van Hung Lam (Henry) holds 100% of the 
issued capital in Corbyns and Corbyns holds 81.75% 
of VII's share capital, Van Hung Lam (Henry) has 
decided that it is appropriate that he does not vote any 
VII Shares that he controls through Corbyns on the 
Scheme at the Scheme Meeting, given Corbyns' 
position as VII's ultimate holding company.  

The Independent Directors do not control VII Shares 
and therefore are not entitled to vote at the Scheme 
Meeting.  

Section 3.1 

What is the Independent 
Expert's conclusion? 

VII engaged BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd 
as an Independent Expert to provide a report on the 
Scheme. 

The Independent Expert has concluded that the 
Scheme is in the best interests of VII Shareholders.   

Section 
3.2(a) and 
Annexure A 



 

 17

Question Answer More 
information 

A full copy of the Independent Expert's Report, 
including the reasons for the Independent Expert's 
conclusion, is set out in Annexure A of this Scheme 
Booklet. 

What are the reasons to 
vote in favour of the 
Scheme? 

The possible reasons to vote in favour of the Scheme 
are set out in Section 3.2 of this Scheme Booklet. 

Section 3.2 

What are the possible 
reasons not to vote in 
favour of the Scheme? 

The possible reasons not to vote in favour of the 
Scheme are set out in Section 3.3 of this Scheme 
Booklet. 

Section 3.3 

What should I do? You should read this Scheme Booklet carefully in its 
entirety and then vote by attending the Scheme 
Meeting, or by appointing a proxy to vote on your 
behalf.   

Full details of who is eligible to vote and how to vote 
are set out in the "Scheme Meeting Details and How 
to Vote" Section on page 13 of this Scheme Booklet.   

"Scheme 
Meeting 
Details and 
How to 
Vote" 

Are any other approvals 
required? 

In addition to being approved by the Requisite 
Majorities of VII Shareholders, the Scheme must be 
approved by the Federal Court of Australia.  If the 
Scheme is approved by the Requisite Majorities of 
VII Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting, VII will 
apply to the Court for approval of the Scheme.   

The Court hearing for approval of the Scheme is 
expected to be held on 6 February 2014 (although this 
may change).  Further details of the approval process 
are set out in Section 8. 

Implementation of the Scheme is subject to certain 
regulatory approvals, as summarised in Section 8.     

Section 8 

What you will receive under the Scheme  

What will I receive if the 
Scheme is implemented? 

If the Scheme is implemented, VII Shareholders will 
receive 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on 
the Record Date, where fractional entitlements will 
be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number, 
with fractions of 0.5 being rounded up. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will not receive SSE 
Shares under the Scheme, but will instead receive a 
pro rata share of the Proceeds from the sale by the 
Sale Nominee of the SSE Shares attributable to 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders. 

See Section 7.3 for further details in respect of 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders. 

Section 7 
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Question Answer More 
information 

Am I eligible to receive the 
Scheme Consideration? 

If you hold VII Shares on the Record Date, you will 
participate in the Scheme and be provided any 
Scheme Consideration to which you are entitled 
under, and in accordance with, the terms of the 
Scheme. 

Section 7 

When will I receive the 
Scheme Consideration? 

If the Scheme becomes Effective, the Scheme 
Consideration (being SSE Shares) will be transferred 
on or about the Implementation Date, which is 
expected to occur by 11 March 2014. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholders should refer to 
Section 7.3 of this Scheme Booklet for details about 
the timing of the payment of consideration they will 
receive in accordance with the Scheme. 

Sections 2.6 
and 7 

Who is an Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholder for 
the purposes of the 
Scheme? What do they 
receive under the 
Scheme? 

An Ineligible Foreign Shareholder is a VII 
Shareholder whose address as shown in the Register 
on the Record Date is a place outside Australia and 
its external territories, Singapore, Belgium, Malaysia, 
the Republic of Philippines and Vietnam, unless SSE 
and VII are satisfied, acting reasonably, that the laws 
of that VII Shareholder's country of residence (as 
shown in the Register) permits the transfer of SSE 
Shares to that VII Shareholder, either unconditionally 
or after compliance with conditions which SSE in its 
sole discretion regards as acceptable.  The SSE 
Shares that would have otherwise been issued to an 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholder will be transferred to a 
Sale Nominee on the Implementation Date and dealt 
with in the manner described in Section 7.3 of this 
Scheme Booklet.   

Section 7.3 

Will I be able to trade my 
SSE shares on the ASX? 

No.  The SSE Shares that you will receive are 
unlisted shares in a public company that is 
incorporated under the laws of Singapore and the 
SSE Shares will not be tradeable on the ASX or on 
any other foreign exchange.   

The SSE Shares shall be transferred in the manner 
permitted by the SSE Articles.  To facilitate the 
transfer of your SSE Shares, pursuant to the SSE 
Articles, you may give notice in writing to SSE that 
you desire to transfer your SSE Shares (Transfer 
Notice).  In the event you choose to give SSE the 
Transfer Notice, SSE is entitled but not obliged to 
assist you to find an existing SSE Shareholder willing 
to purchase your SSE Shares listed in the Transfer 
Notice (in whole or in part) (Purchasing Member).  
During this sale process, SSE may grant you 
permission to transact directly with the Purchasing 
Member.  

Section 2.11 



 

 19

Question Answer More 
information 

 Notwithstanding the aforesaid, subject to the SSE 
Articles, you remain entitled to sell your SSE Shares 
directly to a third party purchaser at a price of your 
choosing. 

Once the details of the transaction to sell your SSE 
Shares are agreed, both you and the purchaser of the 
SSE Shares must execute the instrument of transfer, 
the purchaser must pay the relevant stamp duty and 
immediately thereafter, the instrument of transfer 
must be delivered to the registered office of SSE for 
registration.   

 

What are the tax 
consequences of the 
Scheme for me? 

A description of the general tax implications of the 
Scheme for Australian residents in addition to the 
general tax implications in regards to SSE Shares 
under Singapore law is set out in Section 9. 

VII Shareholders who are Australian residents for tax 
purposes and receive SSE Shares as Scheme 
Consideration should generally be able to obtain CGT 
scrip-for-scrip roll-over relief on any capital gains 
derived for Australian tax purposes.  Roll-over relief 
is optional but must jointly be chosen by SSE and the 
VII Shareholder.  VII Shareholders must choose 
whether or not they obtain roll-over relief by the time 
they lodge their income tax return for the year ending 
30 June 2014 or approved substituted accounting 
period (the 2014 income year). 

SSE will choose to obtain roll-over relief for the 
benefit of the VII Shareholders to the extent that the 
choice is made by VII Shareholders pursuant to Part 
A of the Roll-over Election Form accompanying this 
Scheme Booklet.  In addition to choosing roll-over 
relief, there is a requirement under Australian tax 
legislation for VII Shareholders to inform SSE of the 
cost base of their original interest in VII. 

A more detailed description of the requirements to 
obtain roll-over relief is set out in Section 9.3(a) of 
this Scheme Booklet. 

You should consult with your own tax adviser 
regarding the consequences of receiving the Scheme 
Consideration and disposing of your VII Shares to 
SSE in accordance with the Scheme in light of 
current tax laws and your particular investment 
circumstances. 

Section 9 

Will I have to pay 
brokerage fees or stamp 
duty? 

No, you will not have to pay any brokerage or stamp 
duty in connection with the Scheme.   

Sections 
3.2(e) and 9 
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Question Answer More 
information 

Voting to approve the Scheme   

When and where will the 
Scheme Meeting be held? 

The Scheme Meeting will be held at 10.00 am (Perth 
time) on 4 February 2014 at the Western Australian 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, 
West Perth, Western Australia.   

 

Am I entitled to vote at the 
Scheme Meeting? 

The time for determining eligibility to vote at the 
Scheme Meeting is 5.00 pm (Perth time) on 2 
February 2014.  Only those VII Shareholders entered 
on the Register at that time will be entitled to attend 
and vote at the Scheme Meeting.   

"Scheme 
Meeting 
Details and 
How to 
Vote" 

What votes are required to 
approve the Scheme at the 
Scheme Meeting? 

For the Scheme to be approved by VII Shareholders, 
votes "in favour" of the Scheme must be received: 

 from a majority in number of VII Shareholders 
who vote at the Scheme Meeting (in person or by 
proxy) (the Headcount Test); and 

 in respect of at least 75% of the total number of 
VII Shares voted on the resolution to approve the 
Scheme.   

If the Scheme is not approved by VII Shareholders at 
the Scheme Meeting by reason only of the non-
satisfaction of the Headcount Test, VII may apply to 
the Court for the Court to exercise its discretion to 
disregard the Headcount Test and make orders 
approving the Scheme.   

It is also necessary for the Court to approve the 
Scheme before it can become Effective.   

"Scheme 
Meeting 
Details and 
How to 
Vote" and 
Section 8.1 

What choices do I have as 
a VII Shareholder? 

As a VII Shareholder you have the following choices: 

 you can vote in person, by attorney, by proxy or, 
in the case of a body corporate, by corporate 
representative;  

 you can elect not to vote at the Scheme Meeting; 
or 

 you can sell your VII Shares on the ASX.  If you 
sell your VII Shares on the ASX you may incur 
brokerage costs.  Provided the Scheme becomes 
Effective, VII Shares are expected to be 
suspended from trading on the ASX from close of 
trading on the Effective Date.  Accordingly, you 
can sell your VII Shares on market at any time 
before the close of trading on the day that the 
Scheme becomes Effective. 

N/A 
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Question Answer More 
information 

Should I vote? Voting is not compulsory.  However, the Independent 
Directors believe that the Scheme is important to all 
VII Shareholders and the majority of Independent 
Directors recommend that you vote in favour of the 
Scheme at the Scheme Meeting. 

Section 3 

How do I vote? You may vote in person by attending the Scheme 
Meeting to be held at the Western Australian Chinese 
Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West Perth, 
Western Australia on 4 February 2014 at 10:00 am 
(Perth time).  Alternatively, you may vote by 
completing and lodging the Proxy Form that is 
enclosed with this Scheme Booklet.  The Proxy Form 
can be lodged in person, by mail, online or by fax – 
see page 13 for further details. 

You can also vote by appointing a corporate 
representative (if you are a body corporate) or an 
attorney. 

Full details of how to vote and how to lodge the 
Proxy Form, corporate representative appointment or 
power of attorney are set out in the "Scheme Meeting 
Details and How to Vote" Section on page 13. 

"Scheme 
Meeting 
Details and 
How to 
Vote" 

What happens if I do not 
vote, or I vote against the 
Scheme? 

The Scheme may not be approved at the Scheme 
Meeting by the Requisite Majorities.  If this occurs 
the Scheme will not proceed, you will not receive the 
Scheme Consideration, and you will remain a VII 
Shareholder. 

However, if the Scheme is approved and 
implemented, your VII Shares will be transferred to 
SSE under the Scheme and you will receive the 
Scheme Consideration for each VII Share you hold at 
the Record Date. 

This is so even if you did not vote at all or you voted 
against the Scheme. 

N/A 

What happens if the 
Scheme is not approved at 
the Scheme Meeting? 

If the Scheme is not approved at the Scheme 
Meeting, the Scheme will not proceed.  If the Scheme 
does not proceed: 

 VII Shareholders will retain their VII Shares; 

 VII will continue to operate as an ASX listed 
entity, which will include incurring the ongoing 
compliance costs of remaining listed on the ASX;  

 VII will continue to be the parent company of the 
VII Group domiciled in Australia and as a 
company listed on the ASX will continue to incur 
ASX compliance costs; and 

Section 2.9 
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Question Answer More 
information 

 VII Shareholders will not receive the Scheme 
Consideration. 

What happens if the 
Scheme is approved at the 
Scheme Meeting, but is 
not approved by the 
Court? 

If the Scheme is approved at the Scheme Meeting, 
but is not approved by the Court: 

 VII Shareholders will retain their VII Shares; 

 VII will continue to operate as an ASX listed 
entity;  

 VII will continue to be the parent company of the 
VII Group domiciled in Australia and as a 
company listed on the ASX will continue to incur 
ASX compliance costs; and 

 VII Shareholders will not receive the Scheme 
Consideration. 

Section 2.9 

When will the results of 
the Scheme Meeting be 
available? 

The results of the Scheme Meeting will be declared at 
the Scheme Meeting and will be announced to the 
ASX once available.   

N/A 

Other  

Can I keep my VII Shares? If the Scheme is implemented, your VII Shares will 
be transferred to SSE.  This is so even if you did not 
vote at all or you voted against the Scheme at the 
Scheme Meeting. 

N/A 

Is the Scheme subject to 
any conditions? 

Implementation of the Scheme is subject to a number 
of conditions.   

The Conditions Precedent are detailed in Section 
8.9(a) and are set out in full in the Scheme 
Implementation Agreement.   

The condition for SSE to convert to a public company 
is detailed in Section 8.9(c) and is set out in full in the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement (a copy of which 
is set out in Annexure B of this Scheme Booklet). 

Sections 2.7, 
8.9(a), 8.9(c) 
and 
Annexure B 

What are the potential 
risks associated with VII if 
the Scheme is not  
implemented? 

The potential risks associated with VII if the Scheme 
is not implemented are set out in Section 6. 

Section 6 

What if I have other 
questions? 

If you have any further questions concerning the 
Scheme, please consult your financial, legal, or other 
professional adviser or contact the Share Registry on 
(08) 9315 2333 (within Australia) or +61 8 9315 
2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to Friday 
between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time).   

N/A 
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2. Scheme overview 

2.1 Background 

On 29 November 2013, VII announced the proposed restructure of the VII Group to be 
effected by way of a scheme of arrangement in accordance with the terms of the Scheme 
Implementation Agreement entered into on the same date.   

Under the terms of the Scheme, the proposed restructure will proceed under which Scheme 
Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will receive 1 SSE Share for every 
6.8 VII Shares held on the Record Date, where fractional entitlements will be rounded up or 
down to the nearest whole number, with fractions of 0.5 being rounded up. 

If the Scheme is implemented, it is intended that VII will become a wholly owned Subsidiary 
of SSE, VII will be delisted from the ASX and SSE will become the parent company of the VII 
Group.   

Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will hold direct interests in 
SSE in proportion to their respective shareholdings in VII.  Consequently, Scheme 
Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will have the same percentage 
shareholdings in the same assets held prior to the Scheme.  The only difference is that they will 
hold shares in SSE, an unlisted Singaporean company, rather than in Australian ASX listed, 
VII.    

The new parent company and corporate headquarters of the VII Group are proposed to be 
based in Singapore, because: 

 Singapore has a highly developed corporate legal regulatory framework which is 
similar to Australia; 

 VII has three existing Subsidiaries in Singapore and is familiar with the regulatory 
regime there; 

 an existing Subsidiary of VII was chosen as the new VII Group parent company 
which saves the costs of setting up a new entity; and 

 the costs in utilising Singapore for the domicile of the new parent company and 
corporate headquarters of the VII Group are minimal as opposed to being domiciled 
in Australia.  See Section 3.2(c) for the expected cost savings as a result of the new 
parent company and corporate headquarters of the VII Group being based in 
Singapore. 

The Scheme is subject to the approval of VII Shareholders and the Court.  A copy of the 
Scheme is set out in Annexure C of this Scheme Booklet.   

2.2 What you will receive if the Scheme is implemented  

If the Scheme proceeds, the proposed restructure will proceed under which Scheme 
Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will receive 1 SSE Share for every 
6.8 VII Shares held on the Record Date, where fractional entitlements will be rounded up or 
down to the nearest whole number, with fractions of 0.5 being rounded up. 
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Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will not be transferred SSE Shares.  Instead, the SSE Shares 
that would otherwise have been transferred to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will be 
transferred to a Sale Nominee who will sell those SSE Shares in accordance with Section 7.3 
and account to the Ineligible Foreign Shareholder for the Proceeds.  See Section 7.3 for further 
details in respect of Ineligible Foreign Shareholders. 

2.3 Effect of the Scheme on holders of VII Shares 

Although the Scheme will not impact on VII's operations, the Scheme will have the following 
major effects: 

 VII will become a wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE; 

 SSE will become the parent company of the VII Group; 

 VII will be removed from the official list of the ASX;  

 Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) will essentially 
have the same proportional investment in SSE upon the Scheme being implemented 
as they had in VII immediately before the Scheme; 

 the assets of the VII Group, including the operating Subsidiaries in Vietnam, will be 
unchanged; and 

 regulatory and administration costs of VII in Australia will be reduced substantially. 

2.4 Majority Independent Directors' recommendation 

A majority of the Independent Directors recommend that you vote in favour of the Scheme and 
approve the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting.   

The reasons for this recommendation and other matters that you may wish to take into 
consideration are set out in Section 3 of this Scheme Booklet.   

2.5 Independent Expert's opinion  

VII appointed BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd, as an independent expert, to prepare a 
report on the Scheme.  That report concludes that the Scheme is in the best interests of VII 
Shareholders.   

The Independent Expert's Report is set out in Annexure A to this Scheme Booklet.   

2.6 Key steps to implement the Scheme and approvals required 

The key steps to implement the Scheme are as follows: 

 VII Shareholders will vote in favour or against a resolution to approve the Scheme 
at the Scheme Meeting; 

 if the required majorities of VII Shareholders approve the Scheme, VII will apply to 
the Court to approve the Scheme on the Second Court Date (expected to be 6 
February 2014); 
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 if all conditions to the Scheme have been satisfied or waived, and the Court 
approves the Scheme, VII will lodge with ASIC an office copy of the Court order 
approving the Scheme.  VII intends to lodge this with ASIC on the Business Day 
following the Second Court Date (expected to be 7 February 2014) (the Effective 
Date); 

 it is expected that suspension of trading in VII Shares on the ASX will occur from 
the close of trading on the Effective Date; 

 on the Implementation Date, VII Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders) will receive 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on the Record 
Date; and 

 on a date after the Implementation Date to be determined by SSE, VII will apply for 
termination of the official quotation of VII shares on the ASX and to have itself 
removed from the official list of the ASX. 

Section 8 of this Scheme Booklet contains further details of the Scheme, including the 
approvals required in order for the Scheme to proceed. 

2.7 Conditions to the Scheme 

Implementation of the Scheme is subject to the Conditions Precedent which are summarised in 
Section 8.9(a) and set out in clause 3 of the Scheme Implementation Agreement and to the 
conversion of SSE to a public company which is summarised in Section 8.9(c) and set out in 
clause 4.2(h) of the Scheme Implementation Agreement (a copy of which is set out in 
Annexure B of this Scheme Booklet). 

2.8 Tax implications 

A general guide to the taxation implications of the Scheme is set out in Section 9.  This guide 
is expressed in general terms and is not intended to provide taxation advice in respect of the 
particular circumstances of any VII Shareholder.   

2.9 If the Scheme does not proceed 

If the Scheme does not proceed, VII Shareholders will retain their VII Shares, VII will 
continue to be listed on the ASX and VII Shareholders will not receive the Scheme 
Consideration.   

2.10 What you should do 

You should read this Scheme Booklet carefully in its entirety, including the reasons to vote in 
favour of or against the Scheme set out in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, before making any decision on 
how to vote on the Scheme. 

Details on your entitlement to vote at the Scheme Meeting and instructions on how to vote are 
set out in the "Scheme Meeting Details and How to Vote" Section on page 13 and in the 
Notice of Scheme Meeting, which is set out in Annexure E of this Scheme Booklet.   
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2.11 VII Shareholders may sell their VII Shares on the ASX at any time prior to 
the suspension of trading of VII Shares 

VII Shareholders should take into account that they may sell their VII Shares on the ASX at 
any time prior to the suspension of VII Shares from trading if they do not wish to hold them 
and participate in the Scheme (although normal brokerage and other expenses on sale may be 
incurred).  It is expected that suspension of trading in VII Shares on the ASX will occur from 
close of trading on the Effective Date.  This is expected to occur on 7 February 2014. 

2.12 Key agreement 

The key agreements to effect the Scheme are the: 

 Scheme Implementation Agreement (which is set out in Annexure B of this Scheme 
Booklet); 

 Deed Poll (which is set out in Annexure D of this Scheme Booklet); and 

 Scheme of Arrangement (which is set out in Annexure C of this Scheme Booklet). 

A summary of these key agreements is set out in Section 8 of this Scheme Booklet. 

2.13 Further information for VII Shareholders 

If you have any further questions in relation to this Scheme Booklet or the Scheme please 
consult your financial, legal or other professional adviser or contact the Share Registry on (08) 
9315 2333 (within Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to Friday 
between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm (Perth time).   
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3. Majority Independent Directors' recommendation and matters 
relevant to your vote 

3.1 Majority Independent Directors' recommendation 

A majority of the Independent Directors (namely Andrew David Walker and Alan Alexander 
Young) recommend that you vote in favour of the Scheme and approve the Scheme at the 
Scheme Meeting on the basis that they believe that the Scheme is in the best interests of VII 
Shareholders for the reasons set out below. 

Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok, the remaining Independent Director, is supportive of VII 
proposing the Scheme to VII Shareholders though, being unfamiliar with the individual 
circumstances of each VII Shareholder, does not wish, having considered the potential 
advantages and disadvantages of the Scheme, to make a recommendation.  Mr Kwok considers 
that it is for the VII Shareholders to decide whether to approve the Scheme based on the 
information disclosed in this Scheme Booklet, particularly the reasons in this Section 3 in 
relation to voting on the Scheme, and having regard to individual risk profiles, portfolio 
strategies, tax positions and financial circumstances.  

Van Hung Lam (Henry) is the only VII Director who holds VII Shares via his holding of 100% 
of the issued capital in Corbyns, which in turn holds 81.75% of VII's share capital.  However, 
whilst Van Hung Lam (Henry) is supportive of the Scheme, he has decided that he will not 
vote the VII Shares that he controls through Corbyns on the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting, 
given Corbyns' position as VII's ultimate holding company.   

A majority of the Independent Directors believe that the reasons for VII Shareholders to vote 
for the Scheme outweigh the reasons to vote against the Scheme.  In considering whether to 
vote in favour of the Scheme, your Independent Directors encourage you to: 

 read the whole of this Scheme Booklet (including the Independent Expert's Report 
which is set out in Annexure A); 

 have regard to your individual risk profile, portfolio strategy, tax position and 
financial circumstances; and 

 obtain advice from your legal, financial or other professional adviser on the Scheme 
and obtain taxation advice on the effect of the Scheme becoming Effective.   

3.2 Reasons to vote in favour of the Scheme 

The Scheme has a number of advantages and disadvantages and risks, which may affect VII 
Shareholders in different ways depending on their individual circumstances.  VII Shareholders 
should consider seeking professional advice on their particular circumstances as appropriate. 

The key reasons for the majority of Independent Directors' recommendation that you vote in 
favour of the Scheme include the following: 

(a) The Independent Expert has concluded that the Scheme is in the best interests 
of VII Shareholders 

The Independent Expert has concluded that the Scheme is in the best interests of 
VII Shareholders. 
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(b) Limited value in maintaining ASX listing 

The VII Board believes that there is limited value to the VII Group in maintaining a 
listing on the ASX.  VII has one major shareholder, Corbyns, which holds 81.75% 
of the issued share capital of VII.  It is difficult to raise further capital in these 
circumstances and, in respect of any capital raisings, a substantial majority of the 
capital raised is expected to be provided by Corbyns.   

It has become apparent to the VII Board that there is little following from 
Australian investors for a small-cap industrial company with operations offshore.  
This is evidenced by the low volume of VII Shares traded in recent years, which has 
declined further since Corbyns acquired 81.75% of the issued share capital of VII 
following an off-market takeover bid in 2007.   

As it appears there is little advantage for VII in maintaining a listing on the ASX, 
the VII Board has concluded that there is no compelling reason for the parent 
company and head office of the VII Group to be domiciled in Australia nor be listed 
on the ASX.   

(c) Administrative cost savings 

The delisting from the ASX and change of parent company domicile to Singapore 
will result in substantial cost savings for the VII Group.  These cost savings are 
expected to be reflected both in the short term, as well as over a longer period of 
time.  The VII Board holds the view that the greatest cost savings will be reflected 
over a longer period of time which is expected to increase shareholder value. 

On an annual basis, these estimated administrative cost savings (which will not be 
incurred by the VII Group if the Scheme is implemented) are expected to be 
approximately A$650,000. 

These savings are as a result of a re-domicile of the VII Group to Singapore and 
include ASX listing fees, auditor's fees of the parent company and Subsidiaries of 
the VII Group, tax adviser's fees, share registry and annual report costs, ASIC fees, 
rent, insurance, travel and accommodation expenses, sundry costs relating to 
maintaining a registered office in Perth, Western Australia and a reduction in non-
executive directors' fees. 

Following implementation of the Scheme, VII will be delisted from the ASX, VII 
will become a wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE and SSE will become the parent 
company of the VII Group.  The operations of SSE as an unlisted public company 
in Singapore is not expected to incur the same level of administrative time and 
expense as would be incurred if VII remained the parent company of the VII Group 
and remained listed on the ASX.   

(d) Positioning for future fund raising  

Singapore is a well-established and sophisticated regional financial centre and has 
undertaken capital raising and listings for companies operating in other countries in 
the South East Asian region.  Singapore has low taxation rates, comparable to 
Australia, and there is no capital gains tax on gains from share investments which 
makes it attractive to investors.  Singaporean corporations are among some of the 
top investing nations in Vietnam and investors resident in Singapore have a good 
understanding of the Vietnamese market and support capital raisings and listings of 
companies operating in Vietnam. 
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A listing in Singapore may be considered in the future and is an option for future 
capital raising provided the restructured VII Group can meet Singapore's regulatory 
requirements and market conditions where appropriate.  However, the VII Board 
confirms that a listing in Singapore is not being considered at present. 

Private equity is another option for capital raising, however, the VII Board believes 
that there is better access to private equity capital for companies domiciled in 
Singapore rather than Australia.  The VII Board holds the view that SSE as a 
restructured unlisted public company domiciled in Singapore would present a more 
attractive investment for private equity investment.  There are a large number of 
investors in Singapore with capital dedicated to the South East Asian region, and its 
proximity to Vietnam allows investors in Singapore to easily conduct due diligence 
on potential targets. 

Industry investment by other companies in the steel industry may be a further 
option for capital raising.  Currently, it is not possible for a new foreign investor to 
obtain an investment licence to set up similar operations to the VII Group in 
Vietnam.  This potentially makes the VII Group an attractive partner to a steel 
company wishing to establish an operation in Vietnam.  The VII Board holds the 
current view, that in the event that the VII Group wishes to expand its operations or 
invest in a new project, such as the billet plant currently on hold in Hai Phong, 
Vietnam to be operated by SSESTEEL, that this may be attractive to a foreign steel 
company.  The restructured VII Group domiciled in Singapore is likely to be more 
attractive to a foreign steel company rather than an ASX listed entity domiciled in 
Australia.   

The proposed restructure and delisting will align the VII Group to attract other 
investors with a corporate structure that: 

 is an unlisted entity; 

 is domiciled in a low tax country that has low tax rates for companies 
and investors; and 

 has a corporate structure that will allow separation of the VII Group's 
two segments, steel making and steel products.  This will facilitate 
investors that have an interest in one segment but not the other. 

The VII Group has no immediate plans to raise further funding, however, SSE, as a 
restructured company which is domiciled in Singapore is expected to position the 
VII Group in an advantageous position to raise funds in the future, either by a 
listing on a securities exchange in Singapore, through private equity or investment 
from comparable companies which operate in the steel industry.   

(e) No brokerage or transfer costs 

No brokerage or duty will be payable on the transfer of your VII Shares to SSE or 
the transfer of SSE Shares to VII Shareholders, as proposed under the Scheme.   
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(f) Capital Gains Tax consequences 

Subject to certain requirements, VII Shareholders who are Australian residents for 
tax purposes and receive SSE Shares as Scheme Consideration should generally be 
able to obtain CGT scrip-for-scrip roll-over relief on any capital gains derived for 
Australian tax purposes.  A general guide to the taxation implications of the Scheme 
is set out in Section 9 of this Scheme Booklet.  This guide is expressed in general 
terms and you should seek professional advice regarding the tax consequences 
applicable to your own circumstances. 

3.3 Possible reasons not to vote in favour of the Scheme 

Although the Scheme is recommended by a majority of Independent Directors and the 
Independent Expert has concluded that the Scheme is in the best interests of VII Shareholders, 
factors which may lead you to consider voting against the Scheme include the following: 

(a) You may disagree with the recommendation of the majority of the 
Independent Directors and the Independent Expert 

You may hold a different view to the majority of the Independent Directors and the 
Independent Expert and believe that the Scheme is not in your best interests. 

(b) Change of jurisdiction 

Upon implementation of the Scheme, Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholders) will become shareholders in SSE, which is incorporated in 
Singapore and will therefore not be subject to many of the provisions of the 
Corporations Act to which VII is currently subject and to which VII Shareholders 
are familiar. 

The rights of SSE shareholders will be governed by the laws applying in Singapore 
and the SSE Articles.  Some of VII's Shareholders may not be familiar with the 
Singaporean provisions to which SSE will be subject and should refer to Section 10 
of this Scheme Booklet. 

(c) SSE Shares are not listed on an exchange 

As SSE Shares are unlisted shares, these shares will not be tradeable on the ASX or 
on any other foreign exchange.   

To facilitate a transfer of your SSE Shares, pursuant to the SSE Articles, you may 
give notice in writing to SSE that you desire to transfer your SSE Shares (Transfer 
Notice).  In the event you choose to give SSE the Transfer Notice, SSE is entitled 
but not obliged to assist you to find an existing SSE Shareholder willing to purchase 
your SSE Shares listed in the Transfer Notice (in whole or in part) (Purchasing 
Member).  During this sale process, SSE may grant you permission to transact 
directly with the Purchasing Member.   

Notwithstanding the aforesaid, subject to the SSE Articles, you remain entitled to 
sell your SSE Shares directly to a third party purchaser at a price of your choosing.   

Once the details of the transaction to sell your SSE Shares are agreed, both you and 
the purchaser of the SSE Shares must execute the instrument of transfer, the 
purchaser must pay the relevant stamp duty and immediately thereafter, the 
instrument of transfer must be delivered to the registered office of SSE for 
registration. 
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(d) Taxation Implications 

Implementation of the Scheme may have tax consequences for VII Shareholders.  A 
general guide to the taxation implications of the Scheme is set out in Section 9 of 
this Scheme Booklet.  This guide is expressed in general terms and you should seek 
professional advice regarding the tax consequences applicable to your own 
circumstances. 

3.4 Other relevant considerations 

(a) The Scheme may be implemented even if you vote against it or you do not vote 
at all 

You should be aware that even if you do not vote, or vote against the Scheme, the 
Scheme may still be implemented if it is approved by the Requisite Majorities of 
VII Shareholders and the Court.  If this occurs, your VII Shares will be transferred 
to SSE and you will receive the Scheme Consideration even though you did not 
vote on, or voted against, the Scheme. 

(b) Costs 

VII has incurred significant costs in respect of the Scheme.  These costs include 
retention of advisers, engagement of the Independent Expert and preparation of this 
Scheme Booklet.  The VII Group operates in three jurisdictions, Australia, 
Singapore and Vietnam, and has had to retain legal, taxation and accounting 
advisers in each of those jurisdictions in relation to the Scheme.   

If the Scheme is not implemented, the VII Group expects to incur total costs 
relating to the Scheme of approximately A$1.621 million (excluding GST).  

If the Scheme is implemented, the VII Group expects to incur total costs relating to 
the Scheme of approximately A$1.754 million (excluding GST) which includes the 
contingent liability referred to in Section 4.10 of this Scheme Booklet.  

(c) Implications for VII if the Scheme is not implemented 

If the Scheme does not proceed: 

 VII Shareholders will not receive the Scheme Consideration; and 

 the proposed restructure of the VII Group will not take effect. 

If the Scheme is not approved or all outstanding conditions (including Conditions 
Precedent) are not satisfied or waived, the Scheme will not proceed.  In that case, 
VII Shareholders will not receive the Scheme Consideration, VII will continue to 
operate as it currently does, VII Shares will remain listed on the ASX and the VII 
Group will continue to incur administrative expenses of approximately A$650,000 
per year as a result of remaining listed on the ASX, complying with the ASX 
Listing Rules and being domiciled in Australia. 

If the Scheme is not implemented, the advantages of the Scheme described in 
Section 3.2 of this Scheme Booklet will not be realised.  No break fee is payable if 
the Scheme does not proceed.   
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In the event that the Scheme does not proceed, VII will continue with its business 
and continue to focus on the commercial production of rebar and wire rod from 
VII's rolling mills at Vinausteel and SSESTEEL, roofing and wall cladding at 
Austnam's factory in Hanoi, Vietnam, and the provision of engineering and project 
management services by Total Building Systems.  The VII Group continues to 
assess the feasibility of establishing a billet plant in Vietnam. 

(d) Conditionality of the Scheme 

Implementation of the Scheme is subject to the Conditions Precedent which are 
summarised in Section 8.9(a) and set out in clause 3 of the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement and to the conversion of SSE to a public company which is summarised 
in Section 8.9(c) and set out in clause 4.2(h) of the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement (a copy of which is set out in Annexure B of this Scheme Booklet). 
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4. Information on VII 

4.1 Background and Overview 

VII is a publicly listed company on the ASX (ASX code: VII).  VII was officially listed on 18 
September 1995. 

VII is a special purpose company and was formed to invest in the emerging market of 
Vietnam.  VII's primary activities are its investments in Vietnam being the commercial 
operations at its two steel rolling mills in Hai Phong, steel roofing factory in Hanoi, and total 
building solutions provider throughout Vietnam.   

Corbyns is VII's ultimate holding company and holds 81.75% of VII's issued share capital.  
Corbyns is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with registered company number 
1374080.  Van Hung Lam (Henry), who is a director of VII, SSE and Corbyns, holds 100% of 
the issued share capital in Corbyns. 

4.2 Corporate structure  

The current structure of the VII Group is outlined below.   
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4.3 VII's business 

The principal activities of VII are operated through its investments in the following 
Subsidiaries (which are incorporated and domiciled in Vietnam): Austnam, SSESTEEL, Total 
Building Systems, Vinausteel, and VRC Weldmesh (which as at the date of this Scheme 
Booklet is classified as held for sale). 

The percentage of VII's shareholding in each of these Subsidiaries (as at the date of this 
Scheme Booklet) is listed below. 
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Austnam Joint Stock Corporation (67%) 

Austnam produces metal roofing and cladding from its factory in Hanoi, Vietnam which it 
distributes in that city and surrounding provinces.   

SSESTEEL Ltd (100%) 

SSESTEEL owns and operates a fully automated rolling mill located in Hai Phong, Vietnam 
which produces high tensile rebar and wire rod for the construction industry.  SSESTEEL has 
been issued with an investment certificate to form a new company, Australian Steel Billet 
Company, licensed to construct and own a factory for the manufacture of steel billets. 
Feasibility studies, preliminary engineering design and equipment procurement investigations 
have been undertaken, however, the project has been placed on hold due to current economic 
conditions. 

Total Building Systems Limited (99%) 

Total Building Systems is a building systems provider which supplies engineering services, 
building systems and construction services to industrial and commercial consumers in 
Vietnam.   

Vinausteel Limited (70%) 

Vinausteel owns and operates a steel rolling mill in Hai Phong, Vietnam which produces 
deformed reinforcing steel bar for the construction industry.   

VRC Weldmesh (Vietnam) Limited (100%) 

In 2012, VRC Weldmesh was classified as a disposal group held for sale and a discontinued 
operation.  As at the date of the Scheme Booklet, management are seeking a buyer for the land 
and factory from which the company operates and are considering various options to utilise or 
dispose of the machinery. 

There are also other related companies to VII which are domiciled in Singapore and the British 
Virgin Islands.  These companies serve the main purpose of investment holding companies for 
VII's Vietnam Subsidiaries. 

These related companies are: 

Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 

SSE is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore.  It is a wholly 
owned Subsidiary of VII and principally operates as an investment holding company for 
SSESTEEL.  Further information in relation to SSE is set out in Section 5 of this Scheme 
Booklet. 

Ausviet Industrial Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

Ausviet Industrial Investments is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in 
Singapore.  It is a wholly owned Subsidiary of VII which principally operates as an investment 
holding company for Austnam, Parnham Overseas and Total Building Systems. 

Parnham Overseas Ltd  

Parnham Overseas is a limited company domiciled and incorporated in the British Virgin 
Islands.  It is a wholly owned Subsidiary of Ausviet Industrial Investments.  Parnham Overseas 
principally operates as an investment holding company for Austnam. 
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Vietnam Projects (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

Vietnam Projects is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore.  It is a 
wholly owned Subsidiary of VII and principally operates as an investment holding company 
for VRC Weldmesh. 

4.4 VII Board of Directors  

Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok - Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok is the Managing Director of Arcadia Group in Perth which 
specialises in designing, developing and managing retirement resorts and premium properties.  
For the last 20 years, Mr Kwok has managed a number of Australian businesses in the 
automotive and healthcare sectors.  He is a past president of the Western Australian Chinese 
Chamber of Commerce and brings significant experience in business relations in international 
markets, particularly China.  Mr Kwok is a member of the VII audit and remuneration 
committees.  Mr Kwok was also a director of Kalgoorlie Mining Company Limited.  Mr Kwok 
has held no other directorships during the last three years.   

Mr Lam Van Hung (Henry) - Managing Director (Chief Executive Officer) 

Mr Lam, a resident of Vietnam, was born in Vietnam and came to Australia in 1977 and 
studied electrical engineering.  He resides in Vietnam and is responsible for the VII Group's 
operations in Vietnam.  He was awarded the "Red Star" at the end of 2000, the first overseas 
Vietnamese to receive this, for his contribution to the economy of Vietnam and in 2010 he was 
awarded the "Second Class Labour Medal".  He has not been a director of any other ASX 
listed company in the last three years.  Mr Lam is a director of SSE and a director and 
shareholder of Corbyns, the VII's ultimate holding company.   

Mr Alan Alexander Young - Managing Director (Chief Operating Officer) 

Mr Young commenced his business career in the financial industry and was engaged for 
several years in banking and finance.  For the past 35 years, he has been involved in the 
administration of public companies, previously in the resource sector.  Mr Young is a board 
member of all the VII Group's operating Subsidiaries in Vietnam and has devoted all of his 
time to VII for the past 19 years.  He has not been a director of any other ASX listed company 
in the last three years.  Mr Young is a director of SSE and Corbyns.   

Mr Andrew David Walker - Independent Non-Executive Director  

Mr Walker has graduate and postgraduate qualifications in Medicine and Medical Science 
from Newcastle University and is a Fellow of the International College of Surgeons.  He also 
has an MBA from The University of Melbourne.  Before starting his business career, Andrew 
was an officer in the Australian Army and a Platoon Commander in Australia's elite parachute 
battalion.  Mr Walker has a wide range of board experiences, in both public and private 
companies.  He was the Past-Chairman of the Melbourne Chapter of the Young Presidents 
Organisation.  He was named the 2006 Ernst & Young's National "Entrepreneur of the Year" 
(Service Category).  In the past three years, Mr Walker is the Executive Chairman of Vallenar 
Iron Company and Founder-Chairman of Aspen Medical Pty Ltd.  On 26 February 2013, Mr 
Walker was appointed as Chairman of the VII audit and remuneration committees.  Mr Walker 
has no other current directorships during the last three years. 
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4.5 VII's issued capital 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, there were 142,277,423 VII Shares on issue, held by 99 
VII Shareholders. 

4.6 Recent VII Share price performance 

The last recorded share price of VII Shares traded on the ASX before the proposed Scheme 
was announced was A$0.11 on 28 November 2013.   

VII Shares traded in a range of A$0.10 to A$0.14 during the 12 month period prior to the 
announcement of the proposed Scheme.   

The following graph illustrates VII's share price performance over the period commencing 12 
months prior to the announcement of the proposed Scheme on 29 November 2013.   

 

Source: Bloomberg.  Bloomberg has not consented to the use of any trading data in this Scheme Booklet.  

4.7 VII historical financial information  

The selected historical financial information in this Section has been derived from VII's 
reviewed financial statements for the nine months ended 30 September 2013 and audited 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012. 

4.8 Basis of preparation  

The following selected financial information for VII is extracted from the reviewed 
consolidated financial statements of VII and its controlled entities for the nine months ended 
30 September 2013 and the audited consolidated financial statements of the VII Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2012, except for the review conclusion for nine months ended 30 
September 2013 which included a qualification regarding the non-compliance of the 
comparative information disclosure requirement.   

The financial information set out in this Section 4 has been prepared in accordance with the 
measurement and recognition principles of the Australian Accounting Standards.  The audit 
and reviewed opinions on these financial statements were issued by Ernst & Young and were 
unqualified, except for the review conclusion for the nine months ended 30 September 2013 
which included a qualification regarding the non-compliance of the comparative information 
disclosure requirement. 
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The financial information presented in the tables below does not represent full financial 
statements and should therefore be read in conjunction with the relevant financial statements 
for the nine months ended 30 September 2013, and year ended 31 December 2012, including 
the accounting policies contained in those financial statements, notes and the independent 
review and audit reports.  The full financial statements are contained in VII's Annual Report 
2012 and nine months ended 30 September 2013 Interim Financial Report which are available 
on VII's website (www.vii.net.au).  Where appropriate, adjustments have been made to 
headings and classifications of historical data to provide a consistent basis of preparation. 

As noted in VII's Annual Report 2012, the year under review was indeed a difficult year for 
the VII Group.  Whilst Vietnamese Government policies were successful in bringing inflation 
and interest rates under control, the policies also curbed credit growth and dampened domestic 
demand, particularly in the property and infrastructure sectors.  This had a negative impact on 
the steel industry in Vietnam reducing demand and consumption. 
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(a) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the nine 
months ended 30 September 2013 and year ended 31 December 2012 

 Reviewed 
9 months ended 

30 September 2013 
A$'000 

Audited 
Year ended 

31 December 2012 
A$'000 

Continuing operations   
Sale of goods                                          200,319 379,417 
Contract revenue  1,107 4,265 
Other revenue                            1,408 1,571 
Revenue 202,834 385,253 
    
Cost of sales                                                   (192,659) (374,345) 
   
Gross profit  10,175 10,908 
   
Other income                             256 2,820 
Marketing expenses  (1,759) (1,224) 
Administrative expenses                               (5,951) (7,910) 
Impairment of assets  - (265) 
Finance costs   (3,737) (4,881) 
   
Loss before income tax (1,016) (552) 
   
Income tax expense  (352) (1,790) 
   
Loss after tax from continuing operations (1,368) (2,342) 
   
Discontinued operations   
Loss after tax from discontinued operations            (43) (193) 
   
Net loss for the period (1,411) (2,535) 
   
Other comprehensive income   
Items that may be reclassified subsequently            
to profit or loss 

  

Foreign currency translation differences                   
–attributable to parent 

 
3,757 

 
(573) 

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently       
to profit or loss 

  

Foreign currency translation differences                   
–attributable to non-controlling interests 

 
 

332 

 
 

(77) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period 4,089 (650) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
FOR THE PERIOD 

 
2,678 

 
(3,185) 

   
(Loss)/profit attributable to:   
Owners of parent (1,738) (2,715) 
Non-controlling interests 327 180 
 (1,411) (2,535) 
   
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable 
to: 

  

Owners of parent 2,019 (3,288) 
Non-controlling interests 659 103 
 2,678 (3,185) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction 
with the Notes to the Financial Statements as released by VII to the ASX on 27 March 2013. 
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(b) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 September 2013 
and 31 December 2012 

 Reviewed 
As at 

30 September 2013 
A$'000 

Audited 
As at 

31 December 2012 
A$'000 

ASSETS   
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents   32,875 37,112 
Trade and other receivables 8,660 19,999 
Advances to suppliers 
Inventories  

32,434 
31,724 

13,834 
42,634 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 9 
Other current assets  804 249 
 106,506 113,837 
Disposal group classified as held for sale                     1,504 1,398 
Total Current Assets 108,010 115,235 
   
Non-current Assets   
Receivables 5 4 
Property, plant and equipment 12,324 11,271 
Deferred tax assets 50 45 
Intangible assets and goodwill 79 79 
Total Non-current Assets  12,458 11,399 
   
TOTAL ASSETS  120,468 126,634 
   
LIABILITIES   
Current Liabilities   
Trade and other payables  12,123 22,791 
Advances from customers 1,162                           295 
Income tax provision 525                           516 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  (A) 61,654 60,152 
Provisions                                                                     625 622 
 76,089 84,376 
Liabilities associated with disposal group classified 
as held for sale                                                         

 
195 

 
202 

Total Current Liabilities 76,284 84,578 
   
TOTAL LIABILITIES  76,284                      84,578 
   
NET ASSETS 44,184                      42,056 
   
EQUITY   
Contributed equity                                                        27,819 27,819 
Reserves (11,600) (15,512) 
Foreign currency translation reserves of disposal 
group classified as held for sale 

 
93 

 
248 

Retained earnings  24,015 25,753 
Parent interests  40,327 38,308 
Non-controlling  interests  3,857 3,748 
TOTAL EQUITY  44,184 42,056 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
Notes to the Financial Statements as released by VII to the ASX on 27 March 2013. 
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Interest-bearing loans and borrowings consist of: 

 Reviewed 
As at 

30 September 2013 
A$'000 

Audited 
As at 

31 December 2012 
A$'000 

   
Bank loans 61,397 60,152 
Other creditors 257 - 
 61,654 60,152 

 

Outstanding bank loans relate to loans from various banks in Vietnam which are valued in 
Vietnamese Dong and US dollars.  These interest bearing liabilities of the VII Group's 
operating Subsidiaries have various repayment terms.  The VII Group's operating Subsidiaries 
in Vietnam have banking facilities with various banks in Vietnam for working capital 
purposes.  These facilities are secured by a chattel pledge over machinery, equipment, 
receivables and inventories of the Subsidiaries and in certain instances, a guarantee provided 
by VII.  VII has provided security to various banks for banking facilities provided to VII's 
Vietnam Subsidiaries in the form of letters of guarantee totalling US$16,000,000 
(A$17,187,668).  At 30 September 2013, the total interest bearing liabilities drawn down to 
which these corporate guarantees relate to were US$13,503,374 (A$14,505,719). 

The VII Group intends to continually renew the bank borrowings upon maturity in order to 
meet its working capital requirements.  At 30 September 2013, the VII Group's unused bank 
facilities were A$102,120,528. 
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(c) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the nine months ended 30 September 2013 and year ended 
31 December 2012 

  
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Non-
controlling 

interests

Total equity 

 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED 

 
Contributed 

equity 
 

$'000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
 reserves 

$'000

 
Retained 
Earnings 

 
$'000

Discon- 
tinued 

Operation 
 

$'000

 
Legal 

reserves 
 

$'000

 
 

Total 
 

$'000

 
 
 
 

$'000

 
 
 
 

$'000 
  
At 1 January 2013  27,819 (16,636) 25,753 248 1,124 38,308 3,748 42,056 
Net (loss)/profit for the period - - (1,738) - - (1,738) 327 (1,411) 
Other comprehensive income - 3,757 - - - 3,757 332 4,089 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period 

 
-

 
3,757

 
(1,738)

 
-

 
-

 
2,019

 
659

 
2,678 

Dividends paid by subsidiaries - - - - - - (550) (550) 
Discontinued operation - 155 - (155) - - - - 
At 30 September 2013 27,819 (12,724) 24,015 93 1,124 40,327 3,857 44,184 
         
  
At 1 January 2012 27,819 (15,815) 37,431 - 1,124 50,559 4,456 55,015 
Net (loss)/profit for the period - - (2,715) - (2,715) 180 (2,535) 
Other comprehensive loss - (573) - - - (573) (77) (650) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (573) (2,715) - - (3,288) 103 (3,185) 
Dividends paid to shareholders - - (8,963) - - (8,963) - (8,963) 
Dividends paid by subsidiaries  - - - - - - (811) (811) 
Discontinued operation - (248) - 248 - - - - 
At 31 December 2012 27,819 (16,636) 25,753 248 1,124 38,308 3,748 42,056 
         
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements as released by VII to 
the ASX on 27 March 2013. 
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(d) Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine months ended 30 
September 2013 and year ended 31 December 2012 

 Reviewed 
9 months ended 

30 September 2013 
A$'000 

Audited 
Year ended 

31 December 2012 
A$'000 

   
Cash Flows from operating activities   
Receipts from customers (inclusive of VAT) 198,889 396,051 
Payments to suppliers and employees  
(inclusive of VAT) 

 
(197,494) 

 
(367,276) 

Interest received 1,408 1,571 
Interest paid (3,737) (4,881) 
Income taxes paid (396) (1,568) 
Net cash flows (used in)/provided by            
operating activities 

 
(1,330) 

 
23,897 

   
Cash Flows from investing activities   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,200) (930) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
5 

 
- 

Purchase of software - (2) 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,195) (932) 
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from bank borrowings 183,022 229,230 
Repayment of bank borrowings (187,667) (230,194) 
Proceeds from other borrowings 297 - 
Repayment of other borrowings (51) - 
Dividends paid to shareholders - (8,961) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (550) (811) 
Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,949) (10,736) 
   
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and  
cash equivalents 

 
(7,474) 

 
12,229 

Net foreign exchange differences 3,233 (331) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37,144 25,246 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year 32,903 37,144 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
Notes to the Financial Statements as released by VII to the ASX on 27 March 2013. 

4.9 Going concern 

As at 30 September 2013, the VII Group had A$32,874,887 (31 December 2012: 
A$37,112,006) in cash and cash equivalents and was in a net current asset position of 
A$31,726,744 (31 December 2012: A$30,656,616). 

All interest bearing liabilities and external debt of A$61,654,437 (31 December 2012: 
A$60,151,626) is current.  The VII Group does not have any non-current liabilities. 

Management intends to continually renew the bank borrowings upon maturity in order to meet 
its working capital requirements.  As at 30 September 2013, the unused bank facilities were 
A$56,883,759 (31 December 2012:  A$45,554,992) for SSESTEEL and A$44,162,540  
(31 December 2012: A$43,488,909) for Vinausteel. 

Based on the above, the VII Board does not believe that there are any uncertainties that cast 
doubt upon the VII Group's ability to continue as a going concern. 



 

 43

4.10 Contingent liability 

Following implementation of the Scheme, VII's disposal of its SSE shares to VII Shareholders 
may result in a capital gain to VII subject to any movements in the US$/A$ exchange rate.  
This gain is likely to be subject to CGT in Australia.  As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, 
the estimated CGT liability on this transaction is A$164,000.  This gain may potentially be 
reduced depending on the nature and market value of the underlying assets held by SSE at the 
Implementation Date.   

4.11 Material changes in the financial position of VII 

To the knowledge of the VII Directors, there have been no other material changes to the 
financial position of VII since 30 September 2013, except as publicly disclosed on the ASX's 
website or in this Scheme Booklet.   

4.12 Impact of Scheme on the consolidated financial statements 

The Scheme will result in SSE being identified as the parent company of the VII Group.  As a 
result, following implementation of the Scheme, the consolidated financial statements of the 
VII Group will be issued in the name of SSE.  However, as the Scheme will not result in any 
change of economic substance at the consolidated level, the consolidated financial statements 
will be prepared and lodged as a continuation of the existing group.   

Whilst the consolidated financial statements will be described as a continuation of the financial 
statements of the VII Group, an adjustment is required to reflect the legal capital structure 
(number and type of equity instruments issued) of the new parent entity. 

4.13 Operations of VII if Scheme does not proceed 

In the event that the Scheme does not proceed, VII will continue with its business and continue 
to focus on the commercial production of rebar and wire rod from VII's rolling mills at 
Vinausteel and SSESTEEL, roofing and wall cladding at Austnam's factory in Hanoi, 
Vietnam, and the provision of engineering and project management services by Total Building 
Systems.  The VII Group continues to assess the feasibility of establishing a billet plant in 
Vietnam. 

4.14 VII risk factors   

Risk factors relating to VII and its business are discussed in Section 6.   

4.15 VII publicly available information  

As an ASX listed company and a "disclosing entity" under the Corporations Act, VII is subject 
to regular reporting and disclosure obligations.  Amongst other things, these obligations 
require VII to announce price sensitive information to the ASX as soon as VII becomes aware 
of information, subject to some exceptions.  VII's recent announcements are available from the 
ASX's website at www.asx.com.au.  Further announcements concerning VII will continue to 
be made available on this website after the date of this Scheme Booklet. 
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Pursuant to the Corporations Act, VII is required to prepare and lodge with ASIC and the ASX 
both annual and half-yearly financial statements accompanied by a statement and report from 
the VII Directors and an audit or review report.  The financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2012, half-year ended 30 June 2013 and nine months ended 30 September 2013, can 
be obtained (free of charge) by contacting the Share Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within 
Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to Friday between 8.00 am and 
5.00 pm (Perth time).   

ASIC also maintains a record of documents lodged with it by VII, and these may be obtained 
from or inspected at any office of ASIC.  Information is also available on VII's website at 
www.vii.net.au.  
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5. Information on SSE and profile of VII Group following 
implementation of the Scheme 

The SSE Information contained in this Section 5 has been prepared by SSE and is the 
responsibility of SSE (except to the extent that the SSE Information is based on information 
about VII, for which VII takes responsibility).  VII and VII's Directors and officers do not 
assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this information.   

5.1 Background and ownership of SSE 

SSE was incorporated in Singapore on 3 July 1996 and is currently a private limited company 
domiciled in Singapore.  As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, SSE is a wholly owned 
Subsidiary of VII.  The principal activity of SSE is that of an investment holding company.  
SSE holds 100% of SSESTEEL, which owns and operates a steel rolling mill in Hai Phong, 
Vietnam. 

Following the implementation of the Scheme, SSE will have more than 50 shareholders and 
under the laws applying in Singapore, SSE will be required to be converted into a public 
company.  Consequently, implementation of the Scheme is conditional on SSE providing to 
VII, by no later than 5.00 pm (Perth time) on the date which is 20 Business Days after the 
Second Court Date, a certificate issued by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
confirming that SSE has been converted into a public company in accordance with the 
Singapore Companies Act.  This is to ensure SSE is converted into a public company prior to 
Scheme Shareholders receiving the Scheme Consideration.   

5.2 Current SSE Board and the SSE Board following implementation of the 
Scheme 

Current Board of SSE 

The SSE Board currently comprises Alan Alexander Young, Van Hung Lam (Henry) and 
Shirley Lim Guat Hua.  Further details in relation to Alan Alexander Young and Van Hung 
Lam (Henry) are set out in Section 4.4 of this Scheme Booklet. 

Ms Shirley Lim Guat Hua – Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Shirley Lim Guat Hua is an Associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators and is registered as a Practising Chartered Secretary of the Singapore 
Association of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.  Ms Lim Guat Hua 
joined Complete Corporate Services Pte Ltd in 1989 and was previously with an international 
accounting firm where she was Head of the Corporate Secretarial Department.  Ms Lim Guat 
Hua has more than 30 years' experience, gained in the United Kingdom and Singapore 
handling corporate secretarial matters for both international and local clients in a wide variety 
of industries, particularly shipping, manufacturing, engineering, retail, trading and service 
companies.  Ms Lim Guat Hua has no current Australian directorships.   

The SSE Board following implementation of the Scheme 

If the Scheme is implemented, the SSE Directors who will form the SSE Board are: 

 Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok; 

 Mr Van Hung Lam (Henry); 

 Mr Alan Alexander Young; 
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 Mr Andrew David Walker; and 

 Ms Shirley Guat Hua Lim. 

A summary of the background and qualifications of the directors listed above is set out in 
Section 4.4 and this Section 5.2.   

The SSE Board may consider, from time to time, the appointment of additional directors to 
enhance the skill set of the board once the Scheme has been implemented in accordance with 
the SSE Articles.   

5.3 SSE issued capital 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, SSE has an issued and paid-up share capital of 
S$20,885,351 comprising 20,885,351 ordinary shares.  SSE does not have any options or other 
convertible securities on issue.  The issued share capital of SSE comprises only ordinary shares 
which have identical rights in all respects and rank equally with one another. 

5.4 Principal activities following implementation of the Scheme  

The principal activities of SSE will be the same as the principal activities of VII (as set out in 
Section 4 of this Scheme Booklet) being an investment holding company and the parent 
company of the VII Group. 

5.5 SSE's intentions for the business, assets and employees of VII following 
implementation of the Scheme  

The statements set out in this Section 5.5 are statements of current intention only, which may 
change as new information becomes available or as circumstances change, and the statements 
in this Section 5.5 should be read in this context. 

(a) VII to be delisted 

If the Scheme is implemented, VII will request the ASX to remove VII from its official list. 

(b) VII's operation, board and management, corporate and head office functions 
and employees 

If the Scheme is implemented, SSE: 

 does not intend to make any changes to VII's operations; 

 will retain the current members of the SSE Board and will also appoint Roger 
(Sing-Leong) Kwok and Andrew David Walker to the SSE Board; and 

 will retain the management and employees of VII. 

(c) Other intentions 

Other than as described above, if the Scheme is implemented, SSE intends to: 

 continue the business of VII; and 

 not make any major changes to the businesses of VII. 
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5.6 Corporate structure following implementation of the Scheme  

The structure of the VII Group following implementation of the Scheme is set out below.   
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Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 

 

5.7 Risks involved in acquiring SSE Shares  

The risks associated with an investment in SSE reflect the same risks associated with an 
investment in VII as set out in Section 6 of this Scheme Booklet.   

There are also additional risks associated with a change in jurisdiction of the parent company 
of the VII Group from Australia to Singapore as set out in Section 6 of this Scheme Booklet.    
VII Shareholders should refer to Section 10 of this Scheme Booklet for a comparison of 
relevant Australian and Singaporean laws.  There may also be tax implications for VII 
Shareholders, which is discussed in Section 9 of this Scheme Booklet. 

Whilst it is believed that the Scheme will enhance shareholder value for the reasons set out in 
Section 3.2 of this Scheme Booklet, there is no assurance that the value of the SSE Shares will 
be equal or greater than the market value of the VII Shares prior to completion of the Scheme 
or that the value of the SSE Shares will increase after completion of the Scheme.  The value of 
the SSE Shares may be influenced by a number of factors which are beyond the control of 
SSE. 

5.8 Other material information 

Except as set out in this Scheme Booklet, there is no information material to the making of a 
decision in relation to the Scheme, being information that is within the knowledge of any SSE 
Director at the time of lodging this Scheme Booklet with ASIC for registration, which has not 
been previously disclosed to VII Shareholders.  
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6. Risks relating to VII's and SSE's business 

VII Shareholders should be aware there are risks associated with investment in VII and SSE.  
There are certain general risks and certain specific risks which relate directly to the VII 
Group's business and are largely beyond the control of VII and VII's Directors because of the 
nature of the business of VII. 

The following summary, which is not exhaustive, represents some of the major risk factors 
which VII Shareholders need to be aware of which apply to VII and will also apply to SSE 
following implementation of the Scheme.   

6.1 Litigation risk 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, VII is not aware of any material contractual disputes or 
litigation matters in respect of VII, including with its customers or other third parties.  
However, as with any company, there is a risk that it may in the future have disputes with its 
customers, regulators or other third parties (including payment disputes) and that this may 
have an adverse impact on growth prospects, operating results and financial performance. 

6.2 Sovereign risk  

It is generally regarded that the government of Vietnam is stable.  However, it is not possible 
to guarantee that, under certain circumstances such as social or political upheaval or a change 
in leadership, the current reforms will continue.  Possible sovereign risks may include: 

(a) changes in the terms of investment licences; 

(b) restrictions on the import of raw materials or export of finished products; 

(c) restrictions on repatriation of capital and/or dividends; 

(d) difficulties in obtaining foreign exchange for repatriation of capital and/or 
dividends; 

(e) restrictions or difficulties in disposal of the investment; 

(f) changes in the taxation rates or in current taxation concessions granted; and 

(g) interference in the market by Vietnam Government agencies. 

6.3 Legal risk 

Vietnam has a relatively undeveloped legal system, however, the Vietnamese Government has 
embarked on a substantial programme of legislative reform.  This programme may result in 
new laws and regulations or amendments to existing laws which may have a material effect on 
the current Vietnam operations or any subsequent investments by VII in Vietnam. 

There is no certainty that VII will be able to obtain effective enforcement of its rights by 
arbitration or legal proceedings in Vietnam. 

6.4 Exchange rate and currency risk 

VII's operations in Vietnam earn income denominated in Vietnamese Dong.  Given the 
Vietnamese Dong is not freely converted into other currencies, or traded internationally, this 
may have an impact on VII's income. 
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VII's operations in Vietnam face some exposure to exchange rate fluctuations as the cost of the 
major raw materials are generally denominated in US dollars whereas their revenue is 
denominated in Vietnamese Dong and they have some loans that are denominated in US 
dollars.   

VII may be required to remit certain funds to its Vietnam operating Subsidiaries to assist with 
their working capital requirements.  These funds are expected to be remitted in foreign 
currency, either in Australian dollars or US dollars and used to purchase Vietnamese Dong by 
VII's Vietnam operating Subsidiaries.  The movements of foreign currency in Vietnam are 
subject to the restrictions and procedures imposed by the State Bank of Vietnam.  It is not 
possible to guarantee that VII will be able to remit funds advanced to its Vietnam operating 
Subsidiaries back to Australia, as and when VII requires funding.   

Transactions in SSE Shares will be settled in Singapore dollars.  Fluctuations in the exchange 
rate between the Singapore dollar and other currencies may affect the equivalent foreign 
currency price of the SSE Shares, the foreign currency value of any dividend amounts that may 
be declared and payable, if any, and the foreign currency value of any gains or losses realised 
by you on the sale of SSE Shares.   

Global currencies are affected by a number of factors that are beyond the control of VII.  
These factors include economic conditions in the relevant country and elsewhere and the 
outlook for interest rates, inflation and other economic factors.  These factors may have a 
positive or negative effect on VII's project development and production plans and activities 
together with the ability to fund those plans and activities. 

6.5 Operational risk 

Any unforseen major mechanical breakdowns may adversely affect the profitability of VII's 
operations. 

6.6 Raw material prices and supply 

VII operates the following two steel rolling mills in Hai Phong, Vietnam: 

 Vinausteel (70% owned by VII); and 

 SSESTEEL (100% owned by VII). 

The major raw material component for Vinausteel and SSESTEEL is steel billets which 
comprise more than 80% of production costs.  There are a number of local billet producers 
using electric arc furnace and blast furnace technology.  However, these cannot meet demand 
for billets and the shortfall in supply has to be met by imports.  The billets are a world 
commodity and may be imported from a number of countries.  However, these operations are 
exposed to fluctuations in the billet cost.  There is a risk that the selling price of the finished 
product will not be adjusted to match fluctuations in raw material costs (to a level the market 
will bear, or to which Vinausteel and SSESTEEL is allowed, if the government imposes a 
selling price ceiling or controls). 

Any significant changes in the supply and prices of electric power and fuel oil will impact on 
the profitability of the Vietnam operations. 

6.7 Sales risk 

In Vietnam it is not possible to guarantee that future events, such as a reduction in foreign 
investment or international aid, would not reduce construction activity with a subsequent 
decline in demand for construction steel. 
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6.8 Dumping and import duties 

Measures, such as import duties, have been implemented to control the import of steel into 
Vietnam.  Although these measures have made the local product more competitive, the 
Vietnam Government has amended the duties from time to time which affects the market in 
Vietnam.  There are commitments to phase out or reduce these duties following Vietnam's 
accession to the World Trade Organisation. 

6.9 Future capital requirements 

There can be no assurances that additional capital or liquidity will not be required by VII in the 
future.  Although the Directors believe that additional capital can be obtained, no assurances 
can be made that appropriate capital or funding, if and when needed, will be available on terms 
favourable to VII or at all.  

If VII's future cash flows are lower than anticipated or additional capital expenditure or 
working capital requirements are higher than anticipated, capital intensive plans may have to 
be deferred, or further debt or equity financing may be necessary.  Any of these events may 
adversely affect VII's operating and financial performance and financial position.   

If VII is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it may be required to reduce the scope 
of its operations and this could have a material adverse effect on VII's activities and may affect 
VII's ability to continue as a going concern. 

6.10 Economic factors  

The operating and financial performance of VII is influenced by a variety of general economic 
and business conditions, including levels of consumer spending, oil prices, inflation, interest 
rates and exchange rates, supply and demand, industrial disruption, access to debt and capital 
markets and government fiscal, monetary and regulatory policies.  A prolonged deterioration 
in general economic conditions, including an increase in interest rates or a decrease in 
consumer and business demand, could be expected to have an adverse impact on VII's 
operating and financial performance and financial position. 

Changes in general economic conditions may result from many factors including government 
policy, international economic conditions, significant acts of terrorism, hostilities or war or 
natural disasters. 

VII's future possible revenues and securities prices can be affected by these factors, which are 
beyond the control of VII. 

6.11 Commodity prices 

Commodity prices inherently fluctuate and are affected by numerous factors beyond the 
control of VII.  The demand for and price of materials is highly dependent on a variety of 
factors, including international supply and demand, the level of consumer product demand, 
weather conditions, the price and availability of alternative resources, the level of production 
costs in major commodity-producing regions, actions taken by governments and international 
cartels and global and economic and political developments.  Moreover, commodity prices are 
also affected by factors such as expectations regarding inflation, interest rates and global and 
regional demand for, and supply of, a commodity.  Fluctuations in material prices may have a 
material adverse effect on VII's business, financial conditions and results of operations. 
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6.12 Share market conditions 

The market price of VII Shares and SSE Shares may fall as well as rise and may be subject to 
varied and unpredictable influences on the market for equities in general materials stocks in 
particular.  The past performance of VII is not necessarily an indication as to future 
performance of VII as the trading price of VII Shares can go up or down.  Neither VII nor the 
VII Directors warrant the future performance of VII or any return on an investment in VII. 

6.13 Competition 

VII will compete with other companies, including major materials companies.  Some of these 
companies have greater financial and other resources than VII and, as a result, may be in a 
better position to compete for future business opportunities.  There can be no assurance that 
VII can compete effectively with these companies.  Increased competition in VII's operations 
could result in price reductions, under-utilisation of personnel or infrastructure, reduced 
operating margins and/or loss of market share.  Any of these occurrences may adversely affect 
VII's financial performance and position. 

6.14 Regulatory 

Changes in relevant taxes, legal and administration regimes, accounting practice and 
government policies in Australia, Vietnam, Singapore and overseas may adversely affect the 
operational and financial performance of VII. 

Any change to the current rate of company income tax in jurisdictions where VII operates will 
impact on VII Shareholder returns.  Any change to the current rates of income tax applying to 
individuals and trusts will similarly impact on VII Shareholder returns. 

6.15 Reliance on key personnel 

A number of key personnel are important to attaining the business goals of VII.  One or more 
of these key employees could leave their employment, and this may adversely affect the ability 
of VII to conduct its business and, accordingly, affect the financial performance of VII. 

6.16 Environmental 

VII's future activities will be subject to the environmental risks inherent in the materials 
industry.  VII will be subject to environmental laws and regulations in connection with 
operations it may pursue in the materials industry.  Further, VII may require approval from the 
relevant authorities before it can undertake activities that are likely to impact the environment.  
Failure to obtain such approvals will prevent VII from undertaking its desired activities.  VII is 
unable to predict the effect of additional environmental laws and regulations that may be 
adopted in the future, including whether any such laws or regulations would materially 
increase VII's cost of doing business or affect its operations in any area. 

VII intends to conduct its activities in an environmentally responsible manner and in 
accordance with all applicable laws.  However, VII may be the subject of accidents or 
unforeseen circumstances that could subject VII to extensive liability. 

6.17 Risks relating to shares in a company incorporated in Singapore 

SSE is incorporated under the laws of Singapore and is subject to the Singapore Companies 
Act.  The Corporations Act may provide shareholders of Australian incorporated companies 
with certain rights and protections of which there may be no corresponding rights or 
protections under the Singapore Companies Act.  As such, if you own SSE Shares, you may or 
may not be accorded the same level of shareholder rights and protections that a shareholder of 
an Australian incorporated company would be accorded under the Corporations Act. 
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Upon SSE becoming a public and unlisted company, the Singapore Companies Act will not 
impose an obligation on SSE to disclose material information.  Consequently, many of the 
regular reporting and disclosure obligations required of VII as an ASX listed company may not 
apply to SSE.   

Some of the reporting and disclosure obligations that will not apply to SSE as a public and 
unlisted company include, for instance, reporting on the acquisition or disposal of shares or 
other assets which do not require shareholders’ approval and entry into loan agreements.  
Nonetheless, SSE is required to comply with certain statutory filing requirements with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority under the Singapore Companies Act, for 
instance, annual returns, a change of directorship and a change in issued share capital.  Such 
information will be accessible by SSE's shareholders post implementation of the Scheme.  

A comparison of some of the relevant material provisions of Australian company law and 
Singaporean company law as they relate to VII and SSE respectively is set out in Section 10 of 
this Scheme Booklet.  Each of the summaries and comparisons is not exhaustive and is not 
intended to be and does not constitute legal advice and any person who wishes to be advised 
on the differences between the Corporations Act and the Singapore Companies Act and/or the 
laws of any jurisdiction with which you are not familiar is recommended to seek independent 
legal advice.   

6.18 SSE is subject to the Singapore Code on Take-Overs and Mergers 

As an unlisted public company with more than 50 shareholders and net tangible assets of more 
than S$5,000,000, SSE will be subject to the Singapore Take-Over Code.  The Singapore 
Take-Over Code contains certain provisions that may possibly delay, deter or prevent a future 
take-over or change in control of SSE.  Under the Singapore Take-Over Code, except with the 
consent of the Securities Industry Council of Singapore, any legal person acquiring an interest, 
whether by a series of transactions over a period of time, either on an individual basis or in 
conjunction with other parties acting in concert, in 30% or more of the voting SSE Shares, is 
required to extend a take-over offer for the remaining voting SSE Shares in accordance with 
the Singapore Take-Over Code.   

Except with the consent of the Securities Industry Council of Singapore, such a take-over offer 
is also required to be made if a legal person holding between 30% and 50% (both inclusive) of 
the voting SSE Shares, either on an individual basis or in conjunction with other parties acting 
in concert, acquires additional voting SSE Shares representing more than 1% of the voting SSE 
Shares in any six-month period. 

Whilst the Singapore Take-Over Code seeks to ensure an equality of treatment among 
shareholders, its provisions could substantially impede the ability of SSE Shareholders to 
benefit from a change of control and, as a result, the ability to realise any benefits from a 
potential change of control.  

As the proposed Scheme will result in Corbyns holding at least 81.75% of the issued share 
capital in SSE upon the implementation of the Scheme, Corbyns will not be required to extend 
a take-over offer for the remaining issued share capital of SSE in accordance with the 
Singapore Take-Over Code.  Please see Section 10.2 under the heading "Takeovers" for 
information on Singapore's compulsory acquisition laws. 
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7. Scheme Consideration and Ineligible Foreign Shareholders  

7.1 Overview 

This Section provides additional information regarding the Scheme Consideration, including 
for VII Shareholders, information about the calculation and payment of the Scheme 
Consideration and information for VII Shareholders outside Australia (including Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholders). 

7.2 Scheme Consideration  

Under the terms of the Scheme, Scheme Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders) will receive 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on the Record Date.   

If the number of Scheme Shares held by a Scheme Shareholder is such that the aggregate 
entitlement of that Scheme Shareholder to SSE Shares is not a whole number, then the 
entitlement in each case must be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number, with 
fractions of 0.5 being rounded up.   

The Scheme Consideration has been calculated on the basis of there being approximately 6.8 
VII Shares on issue for every 1 SSE Share on issue as at the date of this Scheme Booklet.  If 
there is a shortfall of SSE Shares on issue as at the Record Date, pursuant to the Scheme 
Implementation Agreement, SSE must, by no later than 5.00 pm (Perth time) on the date which 
is 20 Business Days after the Second Court Date, allot and issue the requisite number of SSE 
Shares to VII to enable SSE to provide or cause to be provided the Scheme Consideration to 
Scheme Shareholders on the Implementation Date. 

7.3 Ineligible Foreign Shareholders 

A VII Shareholder will be an Ineligible Foreign Shareholder if their address as shown in the 
Register is a place outside of Australia and its external territories, Singapore, Belgium, 
Malaysia, the Republic of Philippines or Vietnam.   

Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will not receive SSE Shares under the Scheme.  Instead, the 
SSE Shares that would have otherwise been transferred to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders 
under the Scheme will be transferred to the Sale Nominee for the purpose of selling those SSE 
Shares in accordance with the process outlined below. 

For the purposes of this Section 7.3, the SSE Shares that would have otherwise been 
transferred to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders will be referred to as IFS Shares. 

The terms of the offer of IFS Shares by the Sale Nominee are as follows: 

 If at the Record Date, VII Shares are held by Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, VII 
will procure that, as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event not more than 
15 Business Days after the Implementation Date, the Sale Nominee uses its best 
endeavours to sell the IFS Shares at A$1.09 per IFS Share1, in such a manner and 
on such terms as the Sale Nominee determines. 

                                                      

1 The price of the IFS Shares (A$1.09 per IFS Share) has been calculated as the average of: 

 VII's weighted average share trading price over a 12 month period to 28 November 2013 (being A$0.11 cents 
(rounded up)); and 

 the net current assets per share as at 30 September 2013 (being A$0.21 cents (rounded down)), multiplied by the 
Scheme Consideration ratio of 6.8 (that is 0.16 x 6.8 = A$1.09 per share). 
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 In the event that the IFS Shares remain unsold by the Sale Nominee at the end of 
the IFS Offer Period, VII will procure that Corbyns will, as soon as reasonably 
practicable, purchase all of the remaining IFS Shares at A$1.09 per IFS Share. 

 Promptly after the last sale of the IFS Shares, VII will procure that the Sale 
Nominee pays to each Ineligible Foreign Shareholder the proportion of the Proceeds 
to which each Ineligible Foreign Shareholder is entitled in accordance with the 
current notification made by each Ineligible Foreign Shareholder for payment of 
any VII dividends by deposit to a nominated bank account or, where there is no 
such notification, by sending or procuring the despatch to each Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholder by prepaid post to the Registered Address of the Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholder on the Record Date, a cheque in the name of the Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholder for the relevant amount (denominated in Australian dollars). 

Prior to the date of this Scheme Booklet, Corbyns entered into a deed poll under which it 
committed to purchase any IFS Shares not sold by the Sale Nominee at the end of the IFS 
Offer Period (Corbyns Deed Poll).  Under the terms of the Corbyns Deed Poll, Corbyns must 
no later than 2 Business Days before the Implementation Date, deposit into an escrow account 
(held in the name of Corbyns and approved by VII), in immediately available funds the 
minimum cash amount (in Australian dollars) required to purchase all of the IFS Shares until 
the Sale Nominee finalises the sale of the IFS Shares.  

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, there are 5 VII Shareholders who are considered 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, who collectively hold a total of 0.06% of all VII Shares.  In 
the event that the IFS Shares remain unsold by the Sale Nominee at the end of the IFS Offer 
Period and Corbyns purchases all of the IFS Shares in accordance with the Corbyns Deed Poll, 
Corbyns will hold a maximum of 81.81% of the issued share capital in SSE. 

Full details of this process are contained in clause 5.6 of the Scheme (which is set out as 
Annexure C to this Scheme Booklet.  
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8. Implementation of the Scheme  

All dates referred to in this Section 8 are indicative only.  The actual dates on which events are 
referred to in this Section 8 occur will depend upon the time at which the Conditions Precedent 
to the Scheme are satisfied or, if applicable, waived.  The Conditions Precedent are 
summarised in Section 8.9(a).  VII has the right to vary all dates subject to the approval of 
such variation by SSE, the Court and the ASX where required.  Any variation to the dates 
referred to in this Section 8 will be announced to the ASX and published on VII's website.   

8.1 Scheme Meeting 

In accordance with an order of the Federal Court of Australia on 19 December 2013, VII 
Shareholders will be asked to approve the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting to be held at the 
Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West Perth, Western 
Australia on 4 February 2014 commencing at 10.00 am (Perth time).  The Notice of Scheme 
Meeting is set out in Annexure E. 

At the Scheme Meeting, VII Shareholders will be asked to consider and, if thought fit, to pass 
a resolution approving the Scheme.  For the Scheme to be approved by VII Shareholders, votes 
"in favour" of the Scheme must be received: 

 from a majority in number of VII Shareholders who vote at the Scheme Meeting (in 
person or by proxy) (the Headcount Test); and 

 in respect of at least 75% of the total number of VII Shares voted on the resolution 
to approve the Scheme.   

If the Scheme is not approved by VII Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting by reason only of 
the non-satisfaction of the Headcount Test, VII may apply to the Court for the Court to 
exercise its discretion to disregard the Headcount Test and make orders approving the Scheme.   

8.2 Second Court Date 

If the Scheme is approved by the Requisite Majority of VII Shareholders, and all other 
Conditions Precedent to the Scheme (other than approval by the Court) and any other 
conditions to be imposed by the Court under section 411(6) of the Corporations Act have been 
satisfied or waived, VII will apply to the Court for orders approving the Scheme following the 
Scheme Meeting (on or around 4 February 2014). 

The Court has discretion whether or not to approve the Scheme under section 411(4)(b) of the 
Corporations Act.   

The Corporations Act and the relevant Court rules provide a procedure for VII Shareholders to 
oppose the approval by the Court of the Scheme.  Any VII Shareholder who wishes to oppose 
the approval of the Scheme at the Second Court Date may do so by filing with the Court and 
serving on VII a notice of appearance in the prescribed form together with an affidavit on 
which the VII Shareholders will seek to rely at the Second Court Date.  The Second Court 
Date is currently scheduled to occur on 6 February 2014.  Any change to this date will be 
announced through the ASX and published on VII's website.   



 

 56

8.3 Effective Date 

If the Court approves the Scheme, VII will lodge with ASIC an office copy of the Court order 
approving the Scheme.  VII intends to lodge this with ASIC on the Business Day following 
receipt of the orders, expected to be 7 February 2014.  The Scheme comes into effect on the 
date on which VII lodges the Court order approving the Scheme with ASIC.  This date is 
referred to in this Scheme Booklet as the Effective Date. 

If the Scheme has not become Effective by 31 May 2014 or such later date as VII and SSE 
agree in writing, the Scheme Implementation Agreement will lapse and be of no further force 
or effect.   

8.4 Record Date 

VII Shareholders will be entitled to receive the Scheme Consideration if they are registered as 
the holders of VII Shares on the Record Date.  The Record Date is currently expected to be 
5.00 pm (Perth time) on 14 February 2014. 

8.5 Conversion of SSE from a private to a public company 

Under the Scheme Implementation Agreement, implementation of the Scheme is conditional 
on SSE providing to VII, by no later than 5.00 pm (Perth time) on the date which is 20 
Business Days after the Second Court Date, a certificate issued by the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority confirming SSE has been converted into a public company in 
accordance with the Singapore Companies Act.   

The Implementation Date will occur 2 Business Days after SSE has provided to VII the 
conversion certificate referred to above.  The Implementation Date must occur by 11 March 
2014 unless agreed otherwise by VII and SSE.   

8.6 Transfer of VII Shares and SSE Shares 

On the Implementation Date, subject to the provision of the Scheme Consideration, all VII 
Shares held by Scheme Shareholders will be transferred to SSE without any further action 
required by Scheme Shareholders.  VII will enter the name of SSE into the Register in respect 
of the VII Shares.  VII will then become a wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE.  SSE will ensure 
that each SSE Share transferred as Scheme Consideration is duly transferred and is fully paid, 
non-assessable and free from any mortgage, lien, encumbrance or other security interest.   

As from the time at which the Scheme Consideration is provided, all share certificates and 
holding statements for Scheme Shares will cease to have any effect other than as evidence of 
entitlement to Scheme Consideration.   

8.7 Warranty by Scheme Shareholders about their VII Shares 

Under the Scheme each Scheme Shareholder is deemed to have warranted to VII, in its own 
right and for the benefit of SSE, that all their Scheme Shares (including any rights and 
entitlements attaching to those shares) will, at the date of the transfer of them to SSE, be fully 
paid and free from all Encumbrances and interests of third parties of any kind, whether legal or 
otherwise, and restrictions on transfer of any kind, and that they have full power and capacity 
to sell and to transfer their Scheme Shares to SSE under the Scheme.  If the warranty is 
breached, Scheme Shareholders may be liable to pay to SSE any amounts paid by SSE to 
acquire clear title to their Scheme Shares. 
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8.8 Suspension of trading in VII Shares 

It is expected that suspension of trading in VII Shares on the ASX will occur from close of 
trading on the Effective Date.  This is expected to occur on 7 February 2014. 

On a date after the Implementation Date to be determined by SSE, VII will apply for 
termination of the official quotation of VII Shares on the ASX and to have itself removed from 
the official list of the ASX. 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, VII is listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Unofficial Regulated Market).  It is anticipated that VII will be delisted from the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange (Unofficial Regulated Market) after implementation of the Scheme. 

8.9 Key terms of Scheme Implementation Agreement 

A summary of the key terms of the Scheme Implementation Agreement is set out below. 

(a) Conditions Precedent 

The Scheme is conditional on the following: 

 the Independent Expert's Report is obtained by VII which concludes the Scheme is 
in the best interests of VII Shareholders; 

 the Scheme is approved by the Requisite Majorities of VII Shareholders at the 
Scheme Meeting; 

 the Court approves the Scheme in accordance with section 411(4)(b) of the 
Corporations Act; and 

 before 8.00 am on the Second Court Date, ASIC has issued or provided such 
consents, waivers or approvals or done such other things as are reasonably 
necessary to implement the Scheme. 

Full details of the Conditions Precedent and the provisions relating to the satisfaction or waiver 
of the Conditions Precedent are set out in section 3 of the Scheme Implementation Agreement.   

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, VII and SSE are not aware of any reason why the 
relevant Conditions Precedent will not be satisfied by 8.00 am on the Second Court Date.   

(b) Termination by VII and SSE 

The Scheme Implementation Agreement may be terminated by written notice to the other party 
given prior to the Effective Date if: 

 the other party is in material breach of any clause, including a warranty, of the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement which is incapable of being remedied, or if the 
breach is capable of being remedied, continues to exist for more than 10 Business 
Days; 

 the Court or other regulatory authority has issued a final and non-appealable order, 
decree or ruling or taken other action which permanently restrains or prohibits the 
Scheme; or 

 any Condition Precedent has not been satisfied or waived in accordance with the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement.   
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(c) Conversion of SSE from a private to a public company 

Implementation of the Scheme is conditional on SSE providing to VII, by no later than 5.00 
pm (Perth time) on the date which is 20 Business Days after the Second Court Date, a 
certificate issued by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority confirming that SSE 
has been converted into a public company in accordance with the Singapore Companies Act.   

8.10 Deed Poll 

SSE has entered into the Deed Poll in favour of the Scheme Shareholders under which it has 
undertaken to pay to each Scheme Shareholder the Scheme Consideration in accordance with 
the terms of the Scheme. 

If the Scheme becomes Effective: 

(a) VII Shareholders will be deemed to have authorised VII to do and execute all acts, 
matters, things and documents on the part of each VII Shareholder necessary to 
implement the Scheme, including (without limitation) executing, as agent and 
attorney of each VII Shareholder, a share transfer or transfers in relation to their VII 
Shares; and  

(b) VII undertakes in favour of each VII Shareholder to enforce the Deed Poll against 
SSE on behalf of and as agent and attorney for the VII Shareholders. 

The Deed Poll is set out in Annexure D of this Scheme Booklet. 

8.11 Effect of the Scheme on creditors 

The Scheme, if implemented, will not materially prejudice VII's ability to pay its creditors as it 
involves the exchange of VII Shares for SSE Shares and will not change VII's underlying 
assets.  No new liabilities (other than transaction costs) are expected to be incurred by VII as a 
consequence of the implementation of the Scheme.   
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9. Tax implications of the Scheme 

9.1 Certain Australian tax considerations 

The following is a general overview of the Australian tax implications for VII 
Shareholders who participate in the Scheme and subsequently hold and/or dispose of 
SSE Shares received in the Scheme.  Due to the general and limited nature of the 
comments, reliance should not be placed on this overview and VII Shareholders should 
instead seek professional tax advice taking into account their own particular facts and 
circumstances. 

This overview does not constitute financial product advice as defined in the Corporations Act.  
This overview is confined to Australian taxation issues and is only one of the matters you need 
to consider when making a decision about your investments.  You should consider taking 
advice from a licensed adviser, before making a decision about your investments. 

Please note, the tax comments set out below are necessarily general and limited in nature, are 
based on a number of simplifying assumptions, and do not take into consideration the specific 
circumstances of each VII Shareholder.  For example, the comments set out below are based on 
the assumptions that the Scheme occurs as planned, that all VII Shares were acquired by VII 
Shareholders after 21 September 1999 and are held on capital account.  That is, the tax 
comments do not consider the tax implications arising in respect of any VII Shareholders who 
are engaged in a business of trading or investment, those who acquired their VII Shares for the 
purpose of resale at a profit or otherwise hold their VII Shares on revenue account or as trading 
stock, or those which are banks, insurance companies, tax exempt entities, superannuation 
funds or persons who acquired their shares in respect of their employment with VII (or an 
associated company), who may be subject to special or different tax consequences particular to 
their circumstances, nor VII Shareholders who are subject to Division 230 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997 (Cth). 

VII Shareholders who are not resident in Australia for tax purposes should also take into 
account the tax implications of the Scheme under the tax law of their country of residence, as 
well as under Australian tax law. 

This tax overview is based on the tax laws and administrative practice in Australia as in effect 
at the date of this Scheme Booklet, including any regulations made under those laws, but is not 
intended to be an authoritative or complete statement of such tax laws applicable to the 
particular circumstances of every VII Shareholder.  It is possible that relevant tax law changes 
may be made subsequently which impact the tax implications of the Scheme. 

Whether or not you intend to vote in favour of the Scheme, you should particularly note 
the requirements relating to Australian CGT roll-over relief set out below. 

As mentioned above, reliance should not be placed on this overview and VII 
Shareholders should instead seek professional tax advice taking into account their own 
particular facts and circumstances. 

9.2 Non-Australian tax resident VII Shareholders 

(a) Capital Gains on disposal of VII Shares to SSE 

If the VII Shares are not considered to be Taxable Australian Property (TAP) when 
disposed, non-Australian tax resident VII Shareholders should not be subject to 
Australian CGT in relation to any gains or losses arising from the disposal of their 
VII Shares under the Scheme. 
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In broad terms, VII Shares may be TAP if a shareholder, either alone or together 
with its associates, holds 10% or more of the shares in VII at the time of disposal or 
throughout a 12 month period during the two years before the disposal, and the 
majority (by value) of VII's underlying assets consist of real property situated in 
Australia. 

VII has advised that as at the date of this Scheme Booklet, it will not directly or 
indirectly own any material real property situated in Australia (including, but not 
limited to, any Australian mining, quarrying and prospecting rights).  Specifically, 
such assets will not represent more than 50% of the value of the assets of VII at the 
Effective Date.   

Non-resident VII Shareholders who hold their VII Shares through an entity which 
has a permanent establishment in Australia will be subject to Australian CGT on the 
transfer of their VII Shares in the same way as Australian residents as outlined 
below.  This is the case regardless of the amount of VII Shares that such a VII 
Shareholder owns.   

(b) Assessability of future dividend income received from SSE Shares 

Non-Australian tax resident VII Shareholders should not be subject to Australian 
income tax on dividends received from SSE Shares unless such dividends are paid 
out of profits derived by SSE from Australian sources, and subject to the tax 
residency of such shareholders.  We recommend that VII Shareholders seek their 
own independent tax advice in respect to the liability to tax in the jurisdiction in 
which they are resident.   

(c) CGT on future disposal of SSE Shares 

Non-Australian tax resident VII Shareholders should not be subject to Australian 
CGT in relation to any gains (or losses) from the future disposal of SSE Shares 
unless the SSE Shares are TAP or are an asset used by the taxpayer at any time in 
carrying on business in Australia through a permanent establishment. 

9.3 Australian tax resident VII Shareholders 

The following section is applicable to Australian tax resident VII Shareholders holding VII 
Shares on capital account.   

(a) Capital Gains on disposal of VII Shares to SSE 

The disposal of VII Shares to SSE pursuant to the Scheme will give rise to a CGT 
event for VII Shareholders that are Australian tax residents at the time of disposal. 

VII Shareholders will prima facie derive a capital gain on the disposal of their VII 
Shares to the extent the market value of the capital proceeds received (i.e. the SSE 
Shares) exceeds the CGT cost base of their VII Shares.  Conversely, VII 
Shareholders will incur a capital loss on the disposal of their VII Shares to the 
extent the market value of the capital proceeds received (i.e. the SSE Shares) is less 
than the CGT reduced cost base of their VII Shares held. 

The CGT cost base of the VII Shares held by each VII Shareholder will generally 
include the consideration paid to acquire the shares plus certain related costs of 
acquisition, including any incidental costs of acquisition such as brokerage fees and 
stamp duty.  The reduced cost base of shares is determined similarly, though there 
are some limitations on including certain related costs.   
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Each VII Shareholder should seek separate tax advice to confirm the cost base or 
reduced cost base of their VII Shares and hence to determine the extent of any 
capital gain or loss arising on the disposal of the VII Shares to SSE.   

CGT roll-over relief on disposal of VII Shares  

1. Availability  

VII Shareholders who make a capital gain on the disposal of their VII Shares may 
be eligible for scrip for scrip roll-over relief where the VII Shareholder meets all the 
following conditions:  

 the VII Shares are held on capital account and apart from the roll-over, 
the VII Shareholder would make a capital gain from a CGT event 
happening;  

 the VII Shareholder and SSE jointly choose to obtain the roll-over; and  

 the VII Shareholder informs SSE in writing of the cost base of its 
original VII Shares.   

2. Choosing scrip for scrip roll-over relief 

Roll-over relief is optional but must be jointly chosen by SSE and the VII 
Shareholder.   

VII Shareholders must choose whether or not they obtain roll-over relief by the time 
they lodge their income tax return for the year ending 30 June 2014 or approved 
substituted accounting period (the 2014 income year).  No specific notice seeking to 
claim the roll-over needs to be lodged with the Australian Taxation Office.  Rather, 
the way in which the VII Shareholder prepares its income tax return will be 
sufficient evidence in making this choice.   

SSE will choose to obtain roll-over relief for the benefit of the VII Shareholders to 
the extent that the choice is made by VII Shareholders pursuant to Part A of the 
Roll-over Election Form accompanying this Scheme Booklet.   

3. Informing SSE of the cost base of the VII Shares  

In addition to choosing to obtain roll-over relief noted in 2 above, there is a 
requirement under Australian tax legislation for VII Shareholders to inform SSE of 
the cost base of their original interest in VII where, broadly, two conditions are 
satisfied.  The first condition is where the same VII Shareholders hold between 
them at least 80% of the shares in VII just before implementation of the Scheme 
and hold at least 80% of the shares in SSE just after the Scheme is implemented.  
The second condition is that there is a concentrated ownership in VII where up to 
20 individuals own between them, directly or indirectly, interests carrying fixed 
entitlements to at least 75% of VII's income, capital and voting rights.   

Based on the shareholding composition in VII (as at the date of this Scheme 
Booklet) and the terms of the Scheme, the above conditions will be satisfied.  In this 
regard, VII Shareholders are required to inform SSE of their cost base in their 
original interest in VII to obtain the roll-over.  This can be done by completing Part 
B of the Roll-over Election Form accompanying this Scheme Booklet.   

Please note that roll-over relief is not available if the VII Shareholder does not 
notify SSE of their cost base in their original interest in VII.   



 

 62

4. Effect of choosing roll-over relief 

Where a choice to obtain roll-over relief is made under 2 above and the VII 
Shareholder's cost base of their original interest in VII is provided to SSE under 3 
above, the capital gain which would otherwise be realised on the transfer of VII 
Shares under the Scheme is deferred for income tax purposes (until the subsequent 
disposal of the SSE Shares is received under the Scheme).   

The cost base of the SSE Shares received under the Scheme will be equal to the cost 
base of the VII Shareholder's original VII Shares.   

The acquisition date of the SSE Shares is deemed to be the date the VII 
Shareholders originally acquired their VII Shares.  This will be relevant for any 
future disposal of the SSE Shares by those VII Shareholders. 

A VII Shareholder who makes a capital loss on the disposal of their VII Shares to 
SSE cannot choose CGT roll-over relief (that is, the VII Shareholder cannot elect to 
defer the capital loss they incur as a result of the Scheme). 

CGT roll-over relief on disposal of VII Shares not applicable or not chosen 

If a VII Shareholder is unable to obtain CGT roll-over relief or does not choose for 
CGT roll-over relief to apply, any capital gain derived from the disposal of their VII 
Shares is assessable in Australia, subject to the recoupment of any current and/or 
prior year capital losses, and the application of any applicable CGT 
discounts/exemptions.   

In these circumstances, the amount of any taxable capital gain will be based on the 
cost base of the VII Shares and the market value of the SSE Shares acquired, as 
determined on the Effective Date. 

VII Shareholders who are individuals, superannuation funds or trusts may be 
entitled to a CGT discount where those VII Shares had been held by the VII 
Shareholder for more than 12 months.  The CGT discount for individuals and trusts 
is 50%, and for superannuation funds is 33.33%. 

Furthermore, where roll-over relief is not applied, the SSE Shares will be taken to 
have been acquired for an amount equal to the market value of the VII Shares 
exchanged on the Effective Date.  This will be relevant for any future application of 
CGT to the SSE Shares. 

(b) Assessability of future dividend income received from SSE Shares 

Dividends received by Australian VII Shareholders that are in relation to their SSE 
Shares will be assessable to those VII Shareholders, including any foreign 
withholding taxes withheld from those dividends. 

Where dividends are subject to any foreign withholding taxes, those taxes may be 
creditable as a foreign income tax offset (FITO) against the VII Shareholder's 
Australian tax liability.  However, the amount of the FITO will be limited to the 
greater of A$1,000 and the Australian tax payable on the VII Shareholder's 
assessable foreign income for the income year (less allowable deductions). 

As SSE will be a foreign resident company, any future dividends paid by SSE will 
not have franking credits attached.  As a consequence, this may result in a higher 
effective tax rate for Australian resident shareholders.   
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Notwithstanding the above, if the VII Shareholder is an Australian resident 
company and it holds more than a 10% interest in SSE, any dividends received by 
the shareholder should not be subject to tax in Australia. 

(c) Future disposal of SSE Shares 

Any future disposal of SSE Shares will trigger the application of Australian CGT on 
any capital gain or loss that arises.  In determining the capital gain (or loss) the 
proceeds would prima facie equal the consideration received by the shareholder on 
the sale of its SSE shares.  The cost base (or reduced cost base) will depend on 
whether or not the VII Shareholder elected to apply a CGT roll-over relief.   

That is, if CGT roll-over relief has been elected, the calculation of any capital gain 
or loss on any future disposal of SSE Shares will be based on the historical cost 
base to the VII Shareholder of their original VII Shares which were disposed of on 
the Effective Date.   

Alternatively, if CGT roll-over relief was not elected then any future capital gain or 
loss would be determined based on a cost base for the SSE Shares equal to the 
market value of those shares on the Effective Date.   

In the absence of any CGT relief, any capital gain derived from the disposal of the 
SSE Shares is assessable in Australia subject to the recoupment of any current 
and/or prior year capital losses, and the application of any applicable CGT 
discounts/exemptions.  VII Shareholders who are either individuals, superannuation 
funds or trusts may be entitled to a CGT discount where those SSE Shares had been 
held by the VII Shareholder for more than 12 months.  The CGT discount for 
individuals and trusts is 50%, and for superannuation funds is 33.33%. 

For VII Shareholders who are individuals, superannuation funds or trusts, and who 
elected to apply the CGT roll-over relief on the disposal of their VII Shares, the 12 
month holding period in respect of the SSE Shares would be deemed to commence 
at the date of acquisition of the original VII Shares which were disposed of on the 
Effective Date. 

Conversely, for those VII Shareholders who do not elect for CGT roll-over relief to 
apply on the disposal of their VII Shares, the 12 month holding period would 
commence at the Effective Date. 

If the VII Shareholder is a company that has held a direct voting percentage of 10% 
or more in SSE throughout a 12 month period during the two years before the 
disposal it may be able to reduce the capital gain or loss, in certain circumstances, 
where SSE carries on an active business. 

If a capital gain is subject to any foreign taxes, those taxes may be creditable as a 
FITO against the VII Shareholder's Australian tax liability (subject to the operation 
of Australia's double tax agreements).  However, the amount of the FITO will be 
limited to the greater of A$1,000 and the Australian tax payable on the 
shareholder's assessable foreign income for the income year (less allowable 
deductions). 
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Australian resident shareholders who have an interest in a foreign entity (i.e. SSE) 
may be subject to the controlled foreign company rules (which are currently under 
review by the Australian Government).  VII Shareholders should seek their own 
independent advice in these circumstances.  Based on the shareholding composition 
in VII (as at the date of this Scheme Booklet), 81.75% of the VII Shares and the 
replacement SSE Shares are owned by a single non-resident shareholder (Corbyns).  
Accordingly, it is unlikely these rules will apply to any original Australian resident 
VII Shareholders. 

9.4 Other tax implications 

(a) Goods and Services Tax  

No Australian GST should be payable by VII Shareholders in relation to the 
disposal of VII Shares or on the receipt of SSE Shares.  VII Shareholders may not 
be entitled to full input tax credits for GST paid on the acquisition of goods and 
services relating to the transfer of the VII Shares.  This will depend on the VII 
Shareholder's personal circumstances.   

(b) Stamp duty 

No Australian stamp duty should be payable by VII Shareholders in relation to the 
disposal of VII Shares or on the receipt of SSE Shares. 

9.5 Certain Singapore tax considerations 

The following is a summary of certain Singapore stamp duty and GST implications pertaining 
to the acquisition, ownership and disposal of SSE Shares.  This summary is based on current 
tax laws in Singapore and is subject to changes in such laws, or in the interpretation thereof.  
Changes in tax laws may be effected retrospectively.  Furthermore, while this summary is 
believed to be correct, no assurance can be given that courts or fiscal authorities responsible 
will agree with the interpretations taken herein.  The statements made herein do not purport to 
be a comprehensive nor exhaustive description of all tax considerations that may be relevant to 
a decision to purchase, hold or dispose of the SSE Shares and do not address the tax treatment 
of investors subject to specific rules. 

Please be informed that the comments in respect of tax set out below are necessarily general 
and limited in nature.  They are based on a number of simplifying assumptions, and do not take 
into consideration the specific circumstances of each VII Shareholder that will acquire SSE 
Shares under the Scheme.  For example, the comments set out below are based on the 
assumptions that the Scheme occurs as planned and that all SSE Shares that are acquired by 
VII Shareholders are held on capital account.  That is, the comments in respect of tax do not 
consider the tax implications arising in respect of any VII Shareholders who are engaged in a 
business of trading or investment, those who will acquire their SSE Shares under the Scheme 
for the purpose of resale at a profit or otherwise will hold their SSE Shares on revenue account 
or as trading stock, or those which are banks, insurance companies, tax exempt entities, 
superannuation funds or persons who acquire their shares in respect of their employment with 
VII or SSE. 

VII Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers regarding the Singapore and foreign 
income tax, stamp duty, estate duty and other tax consequences of purchasing, holding or 
disposing of SSE Shares.  The statements below are made on the basis that SSE is a tax 
resident in Singapore for Singapore income tax purposes.   
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(a) Dividend distributions 

With effect from 1 January 2003, Singapore has adopted a one-tier corporate tax 
system under which tax paid by a resident company on its chargeable income is a 
final tax.  All dividends paid are tax exempt in the hands of its shareholders.  There 
is no withholding tax on dividend payments to all shareholders. 

Accordingly, on the basis that SSE is tax resident in Singapore, dividends received 
in respect of the SSE Shares are exempt from Singapore tax, regardless of whether 
the shareholder is a company or an individual and whether or not the shareholder is 
a Singapore tax resident.  Non-Singapore shareholders are advised to consult their 
own tax advisers in respect of the tax laws of their respective countries of residence 
and the applicability of any double taxation agreement that their country of 
residence may have with Singapore.   

(b) Gains on disposal of VII Shares and SSE Shares 

Singapore currently does not impose tax on capital gains.  However, there are 
currently no specific laws or regulations that address the characterisation of capital 
gains and hence gains arising from the disposal of the VII Shares and/or SSE Shares 
may be construed to be of an income nature and subject to tax especially if they 
arise from activities which the Singapore Comptroller of GST regards as the 
carrying on of a trade or business in Singapore.  VII Shareholders who hold their 
shares for the purpose of resale or profit should seek their own independent advice. 

In addition, VII Shareholders who apply, or who are required to apply, the 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standard 39 Financial Instruments - Recognition and 
Measurement (FRS 39) for the purposes of Singapore income tax may be required 
to recognise gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) in 
accordance with the provisions of FRS 39 (as modified by the applicable provisions 
of Singapore income tax law) even though no sale or disposal of the VII Shares 
and/or SSE Shares is made.  VII Shareholders who may be subject to such tax 
treatment should consult their own accounting and tax advisers regarding the 
Singapore income tax consequences of their acquisition, holding and disposal of 
VII Shares and/or SSE Shares. 

(c) Stamp Duty 

Where an instrument of transfer is executed in respect of the SSE Shares, stamp 
duty may be payable on such instrument of transfer at the rate of S$0.20 for every 
S$100 or any part thereof, computed on the consideration for or market value of the 
shares, whichever is higher.  The purchaser is liable for stamp duty, unless there is 
an agreement to the contrary.  No stamp duty is payable if no instrument of transfer 
is executed or the instrument of transfer is executed outside Singapore.  However, 
stamp duty may be payable if the instrument of transfer which is executed outside 
Singapore is received in Singapore. 

Any stamp duty which may be payable in respect of the transfer of SSE Shares to 
VII Shareholders as proposed in accordance with the Scheme will be paid by VII. 
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(d) Goods and Services Tax  

The issue, sale or transfer of ownership of shares is considered a supply of exempt 
services for Singapore GST purposes. 

Hence, the sale of SSE Shares by a GST-registered investor resident in Singapore or 
to another person resident in Singapore is an exempt supply and would not be 
subject to GST.  Any GST incurred by a GST-registered investor in making such 
exempt supplies may generally not be recovered from the Singapore Comptroller of 
GST.  If the SSE Shares are sold by a GST-registered person who is a member of 
the Association of Banks in Singapore, the input tax is recoverable subject to 
meeting certain conditions stipulated by the Singapore Comptroller of GST. 

Where SSE Shares are supplied by a GST-registered investor to a person belonging 
outside Singapore and who is outside Singapore at the time the sale is executed, the 
sale is generally a taxable sale subject to GST at zero-rate.  Any GST incurred by a 
GST-registered investor in the making of this taxable supply in the course of 
furtherance of a business carried on by them may generally be recovered from the 
Singapore Comptroller of GST, subject to conditions governing input tax claims. 

Services consisting of arranging, broking, underwriting or advising on the issue, 
allotment or transfer of ownership of SSE Shares rendered by a GST-registered 
person to an investor belonging in Singapore for GST purposes in connection with 
the investor's purchase, sale or holding of SSE Shares will be subject to GST at the 
standard rate, which is 7% as at the date of this Scheme Booklet.  Similar services 
rendered to an investor belonging outside Singapore are subject to GST at zero-rate, 
provided that the investor is resident outside of Singapore when the services are 
performed and the services provided do not directly benefit any person who is a 
resident of Singapore. 
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10. Comparison of relevant Australian and Singaporean laws  

10.1 Rights attaching to SSE Shares 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, the conversion of SSE from a private company to a 
public company and the adoption of the SSE Articles that will apply to SSE once it has been 
converted to a public company have not been completed.  Completion of these matters will 
occur upon the approval of the Scheme by the Requisite Majorities of VII Shareholders and 
approval of the Federal Court of Australia.   

If the Scheme is implemented, the rights of VII Shareholders who receive SSE Shares will, in 
respect of those SSE Shares, be governed principally by applicable corporate and securities 
laws and regulations in Singapore and the rights set out in the SSE Articles.   

The following is a summary of the principal rights attaching to SSE Shares.  This summary 
does not purport to be exhaustive or to constitute a definitive statement of the rights and 
liabilities of shareholders of SSE, which can involve complex questions of law arising from the 
interaction of the SSE Articles and Singapore law requirements. 

The full terms of the SSE Shares are contained in the SSE Articles.  A summary of the more 
significant rights is set out below, which include: 

(a) the right to call shareholders' meetings;  

(b) the right to vote in certain transactions involving SSE which require shareholders' 
approval; 

(c) the right to approve the dividend as recommended by the directors in a general 
meeting; 

(d) the right to vote in a variation of class rights; 

(e) the right to be provided with the last audited profit and loss account, balance sheet 
and consolidated accounts of SSE; and 

(f) the right to vote in a proposed amendment to SSE's Articles. 

Please refer to Section 10.2 below for more details on the rights attaching to the SSE Shares.   

10.2 Comparison of Australian and Singapore company rules 

A comparison of some of the material provisions of Australian company law and Singaporean 
company law as they relate to VII and SSE respectively is set out below, together with a 
description of certain securities laws and the ASX Listing Rules where applicable. 

References to "Australian law" where they appear in this Section are references to the 
Corporations Act, ASX Listing Rules, ASX Settlement Operating Rules and Australian 
common law, as applicable.  References to "Singaporean law" are references to the Singapore 
Companies Act. 

The comparison below is not an exhaustive statement of all relevant laws, rules, regulations 
and policies and is intended as a general guide only.  VII Shareholders should consult with 
their own legal adviser if they require further information. 
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Requirement VII SSE 

Meetings of shareholders 

Calling 
meetings 

Under Australian law, the annual general 
meeting of VII is required to be held 
within five months after the end of its 
financial year. 

A general meeting of VII Shareholders 
may be called from time to time by the 
VII Board, individual directors or by VII 
Shareholders in the circumstances set out 
below: 

(a) when requested to do so by VII 
Shareholders holding at least 5% of 
the votes that may be cast at the 
meeting or at least 100 VII 
Shareholders who are entitled to vote 
at the meeting, directors must call a 
general meeting within 21 days after 
the request is given to VII, and the 
meeting must be held not later than 
two months after the request is given; 
and  

(b) alternatively, VII Shareholders 
holding at least 5% of the votes that 
may be cast at the meeting may 
themselves call, and arrange to hold, a 
general meeting. 

A general meeting of SSE 
Shareholders may be called by two 
or more members holding not less 
than 10% of the total number of 
issued shares of the company 
(excluding treasury shares) or, by 
not less than 5% in number of the 
members of the company or such 
lesser number as is provided by the 
SSE Articles.   

 

Notice of 
meetings 

As VII is quoted on the ASX, notice of a 
general meeting of VII must be given at 
least 28 days before the date of the 
meeting.  VII is required to give written 
notice individually to each VII 
Shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting 
and to each VII Director.  In addition, 
VII's auditor must be given written notice 
of a meeting. 

The quorum for a meeting under the VII 
Constitution is two VII Shareholders 
present in person, by proxy, attorney or 
corporate representative.  However, if 
within 30 minutes after the time appointed 
for a meeting a quorum is not present, the 
meeting: 

(a) where called by, or upon the 
requisition of, shareholders, is 
dissolved; and 

(b) in any other case, is adjourned to 
either the same day in the next week 
at the same time and place or such 
other date, time and place the 
directors specify.   

A meeting of a company or of a 
class of members, other than a 
meeting for the passing of a special 
resolution, shall be called by notice 
in writing of not less than 14 days 
or such longer period as is 
provided in the articles. To pass a 
special resolution, not less than 14 
days' written notice in the case of a 
private company or 21 days' 
written notice in the case of a 
public company of each meeting 
must be given to every member 
entitled to attend and speak at the 
meetings. A shorter notice period 
is allowed if agreed to by a 
majority in number of the members 
having a right to attend and vote at 
the meeting, being a majority 
which together holds not less than 
95% of the total voting rights of all 
the members having a right to vote 
at that meeting. 
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Requirement VII SSE 

At an adjourned meeting, if no quorum is 
present within 30 minutes after the time 
appointed for an adjourned meeting, the 
meeting is dissolved. 

Shareholder list  Under Australian law, VII is required to 
maintain a register of shareholders in 
accordance with the Corporations Act but 
is not required to prepare a list of 
shareholders entitled to receive notice of 
the meeting.  Any person registered as a 
shareholder is entitled to vote at a general 
meeting.  VII may determine a record date 
for the meeting (which must not be more 
than 48 hours before the meeting) in 
which case only those VII Shareholders 
registered as at the end of the record date 
may vote. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, SSE must keep a register of 
members.  Where a company has 
more than 50 members, an index of 
members must also be maintained 
unless the register itself is in such a 
form as to constitute an index.  The 
index will be kept together with the 
register of members.  The register 
of members is open for inspection 
by any member free of charge and 
a member is entitled to be supplied 
a copy of the register of members 
on request.   

Voting 
requirements 

Unless the Corporations Act or the VII 
Constitution requires a special resolution, 
resolutions are passed by a simple 
majority of votes cast on the resolution.  
Under the Corporations Act, a special 
resolution may be passed by VII if not less 
than 28 days' notice of a general meeting 
is given, specifying the intention to 
propose the special resolution and stating 
the resolution.  A special resolution must 
be passed by at least 75% of the votes cast 
by shareholders entitled to vote. 

The Corporations Act requires certain 
matters to be resolved by the shareholders 
by special resolution, including: 

(a) the change of name of the company; 

(b) a selective reduction of capital or 
selective share buy-back; 

(c) the giving by the company of 
financial assistance in connection with 
an acquisition of shares in the 
company; 

(d) the conversion of the company from 
one type or form to another; and 

(e) a decision to wind up the company 
voluntarily. 

Under the Corporations Act, a special 
resolution is also required to modify or 
repeal the VII Constitution. 

Unless the Singapore Companies 
Act requires a special resolution, 
resolutions are passed by a simple 
majority of those present and 
voting. Under the Singapore 
Companies Act, a special 
resolution may be passed if at least 
a 75% majority of votes of such 
members being entitled to vote is 
obtained after not less than 14 
days' written notice in the case of a 
private company, or in the case of 
a public company, not less than 21 
days' written notice has been given. 
A shorter notice period is allowed 
if agreed to by a majority in 
number of the members having a 
right to attend and vote at the 
meeting, being a majority which 
together holds not less than 95% of 
the total voting rights of all the 
members having a right to vote at 
that meeting. 
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 The VII Constitution also stipulates 
certain matters to be resolved by special 
resolution including the variation of class 
rights attaching to shares and the exercise 
of certain powers by a liquidator on a 
winding up.   

Each VII Share (subject to any specific 
terms of issue) confers a right to vote at 
all general meetings.  On a show of hands, 
each VII Shareholder present in person, or 
by proxy, attorney or corporate 
representative, has one vote.  If a poll is 
held, VII Shareholders present in person 
or by their proxy, attorney or corporate 
representative will have one vote for every 
VII Share held. 

The VII Constitution provides that a poll 
may be demanded by the chairman of the 
general meeting, at least five VII  
Shareholders entitled to vote on the 
resolution, or VII Shareholders holding at 
least 5% of the votes that may be cast on 
the resolution on a poll. 

A proxy's appointment must be signed and 
sent to VII so as to be received at least 48 
hours before a meeting. 

 

Transactions 
requiring 
shareholder 
approval 

There are a number of decisions 
concerning an Australian company that 
require shareholder approval under the 
Corporations Act.  The business of a 
company in a general meeting will 
normally be disposed of by ordinary 
resolution unless the Corporations Act or 
a company's constitution provides 
otherwise.  An ordinary resolution may be 
passed by a majority of the votes cast.  
Some of the matters on which an ordinary 
resolution is sufficient include: 

(a) the election or re-election of directors; 

(b) the appointment of an auditor;  

(c) the acceptance of reports at the annual 
general meeting; 

(d) an increase or reduction in the number 
of directors;  

(e) an increase or decrease in the number 
of shares in a company (provided it 
does not involve returning capital to 
the company); 

(f) cancellation of forfeited shares; 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, some of the transactions 
which require shareholder approval 
which can be passed by ordinary 
resolution are as follows: 

(a) alteration of share capital;  

(b) the appointment of an auditor;  

(c) the appointment or re-
appointment of directors over 
70 years of age in a public 
company; 

(d) disposal of the whole or 
substantially the whole of the 
company's undertaking or 
property; and 

(e) issue of shares by directors. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, some of the transactions 
which require shareholder approval 
which can be passed by special 
resolution are as follows: 

(a) the alteration of a company's 
articles of association; 
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(g) transactions involving related parties; 
and 

(h) approval of an equal reduction of 
capital.   

In contrast, the Corporations Act imposes 
more onerous requirements on some 
decisions which must only be passed by 
special resolution.  Some of the matters on 
which a special resolution is required are 
to: 

(a) alter the constitution of a company; 

(b) change the name of a company; 

(c) convert the company from one type of 
company into another; 

(d) authorise the variation or abrogation 
of rights attached to a class of shares; 

(e) authorise the company to provide 
financial assistance to a person who 
desires to acquire shares in the 
company; 

(f) authorise the company to be wound 
up voluntarily; and 

(g) reduce the share capital selectively.   

Further, the ASX Listing Rules imposes 
shareholder approval requirements on a 
number of corporate actions including: 

(a) subject to certain exceptions, issuing 
more than 15% of the company's 
issued capital in any 12 month period; 

(b) transactions involving persons of 
influence; and 

(c) significant transactions, including the 
change in the scale or nature of the 
company's activities. 

A number of these shareholder approval 
requirements are discussed in more detail 
in this Section 10. 

(b) the alteration of objects 
contained in the memorandum; 

(c) the change of name;  

(d) change in the nature of the 
company from public to 
private company, or from 
private to public company; and 

(e) resolving that a company be 
wound up voluntarily. 

Generally, the majority of 
transactions to be approved by 
shareholders in general meetings 
under the SSE Articles are 
repetitions of the transactions 
which are required to be approved 
by shareholders in general 
meetings under the Singapore 
Companies Act.   

In addition to the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act, some of 
the transactions requiring 
shareholder approval which can be 
passed by ordinary resolution are 
as follows:  

(a) increase or reduction of the 
number of directors and the 
determination of their 
retirement by rotation;  

(b) removal of directors before the 
expiration of their period of 
office and appointment of their 
replacement director;  

(c) determination of directors' 
remuneration;  

(d) fixing of shareholding 
qualification for directors; and 

(e) capitalisation of profits on 
directors' recommendation. 

Under the SSE Articles, some of 
the transactions requiring 
shareholder approval which can be 
passed by special resolution are as 
follows:  

(a) the variation of class rights 
requires a special resolution to 
be passed by the shareholders 
of such class of shares; and 
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Requirement VII SSE 

  (b) approval of a liquidator's 
proposal to divide the 
company's assets among the 
members.   

Directors 

Directors' 
management of 
the business of 
the company 

Under the VII Constitution, the business 
of VII is to be managed by or under the 
direction of the VII Directors.  The 
directors may exercise all the powers of 
VII except any powers that the 
Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules 
or the VII Constitution require VII to 
exercise in a general meeting. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, the business of SSE is to be 
managed by or under the direction 
of the SSE Directors.  The 
directors may exercise all the 
powers of SSE except in matters 
where action by SSE in a general 
meeting is required under the 
Singapore Companies Act or under 
the SSE Articles.   

Number and 
election of 
directors 

Under the VII Constitution, VII must have 
at least three and not more than eight 
directors.  The Corporations Act provides 
that at least two of the directors must 
ordinarily reside in Australia.   

At each annual general meeting, one-third 
of directors (rounded down to the nearest 
whole number) must retire from office.  
The director or directors to retire are those 
who have held their office longest since 
their last appointment and, as between 
those who have held their office for the 
same period of time, as determined by lot 
unless they otherwise agree.  A retiring 
director is eligible for re-election.  Up to 
one director appointed to the office of 
managing director may be exempt from 
retirement by rotation. 

Casual vacancies may be filled by the VII 
Board, and the VII Board has the power to 
appoint additional directors, but so that 
the total number of directors does not at 
any time exceed eight. 

Under the SSE Articles, SSE must 
have at least two directors.  Under 
the Singapore Companies Act, 
every company must have at least 
one director who is ordinarily 
resident in Singapore.   

For a public company, the 
appointment of directors at a 
general meeting must generally be 
voted on individually.  In addition, 
no person of or over the age of 70 
years shall be appointed as director 
of a public company or of a 
subsidiary of a public company, 
unless he or she has been 
appointed, re-appointed or 
authorised to continue in office as 
a director by an ordinary resolution 
passed at an annual general 
meeting of the company until the 
next annual general meeting. 

At each annual general meeting, 
one-third of directors (rounded 
down to the nearest whole number) 
must retire from office.  The 
director or directors to retire are 
those who have held their office 
longest since their last appointment 
and, as between those who have 
held their office for the same 
period of time, as determined by 
lot unless they otherwise agree.   
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Requirement VII SSE 

  Unless it is expressly resolved at 
the meeting not to fill a vacated 
office or unless a resolution for the 
re-election of the a retiring director 
is put to the meeting and lost, the 
retiring director can offer himself 
for re-election. 

Casual vacancies may be filled by 
the SSE Board, and the SSE Board 
has the power to appoint additional 
directors, but so that the total 
number of directors does not at any 
time exceed the maximum number 
(if any) fixed by the SSE Articles.   

Removal of 
directors 

VII Shareholders may (without cause) 
remove a director before their period of 
office ends by passing a resolution to do 
so at a general meeting.  The resolution 
must be passed by a majority of the votes 
cast by shareholders present and voting.   

VII Directors cannot themselves remove a 
director from his or her office or require a 
director to vacate his or her office. 

A director of a public company 
may be removed before the 
expiration of his or her period of 
office by an ordinary resolution 
(which requires special notice to be 
given).  Where the director so 
removed was appointed to 
represent the interests of any 
particular class of shareholders, the 
resolution to remove him will not 
take effect until his or her 
successor has been appointed.   

Remuneration 
of directors and 
officers 

Under the ASX Listing Rules and the VII 
Constitution, the maximum amount to be 
paid to VII Directors for their services as 
directors (other than the salary of an 
executive director) is not to exceed the 
amount approved by shareholders in 
general meeting. 

The Corporations Act provides that VII 
Shareholders are entitled to participate in 
a non-binding vote, to be held at the 
annual general meeting, on the adoption 
of the remuneration report of VII.  The 
remuneration report is included in the 
directors' report and is required to contain 
a discussion of the VII Board's policy in 
relation to remuneration of key 
management personnel of the company. 

Under the Corporations Act, if at the 
annual general meeting, more than 25% of 
eligible shareholders vote against the 
adoption of the remuneration report, VII 
will receive a "first strike".   

Under the SSE Articles, the 
remuneration of the directors shall 
be determined by SSE in annual 
general meeting.   

Under the Singapore Companies  
Act, a company shall not provide 
emoluments or improve 
emoluments for a director in 
respect of his or her office unless 
the provision has been approved by 
a resolution that is not related to 
other matters, and any resolution 
passed in breach of this will be 
void. 

For these purposes, the term 
“emoluments” in relation to a 
director includes fees and 
percentages, expenses allowances 
in so far as those sums are charged 
to income tax in Singapore, 
contributions paid under a pension 
scheme, and any benefits received 
otherwise than in cash in respect of 
his or her services as a director.   
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 At the following annual general meeting, 
if more than 25% of the eligible 
shareholders again vote against the 
adoption of the remuneration report, VII 
will receive a "second strike".  Where VII 
receives two consecutive votes against the 
adoption of the remuneration report, the 
company must immediately put to the 
annual general meeting a resolution to 
hold a meeting to spill the VII Board.  If 
the resolution is passed by a majority of 
shareholders eligible to vote at the annual 
general meeting, then all VII Board 
positions (except for the managing 
director) are declared vacant and become 
open for election.  VII is then required to 
hold a special general meeting within 90 
days of the spill resolution. 

 

Retirement and 
termination 
benefits 

Formerly, the Corporations Act allowed a 
company to pay benefits to directors and 
officers on their retirement or termination 
of up to seven times the director's or 
officer's total annual remuneration.  
Benefits above that limit could only be 
paid on shareholder approval. 

Under reforms effected by the 
Corporations Amendment (Improving 
Accountability on Termination Payments) 
Act 2009 (Cth), retirement or termination 
benefits that can be paid to company 
directors, senior executives and key 
management personnel without 
shareholder approval have been 
significantly reduced.  The threshold 
above which shareholder approval is 
required is the equivalent of one year's 
base salary.  The Corporations Act 
provides a mechanism for calculating that 
threshold, including by averaging salary 
over the past three years.   

The changes affect only benefits under 
contracts of employment that are executed 
on or after the commencement date of the 
Corporations Amendment (Improving 
Accountability on Termination Payments) 
Act 2009 (Cth) (24 November 2009), or 
where a contract is varied or extended on 
or after that date. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, a company must not make 
payment to a director as 
compensation for loss of office as 
an officer of the company or of its 
subsidiaries or as consideration for 
or in connection with his or her 
retirement from any such office, 
unless particulars with respect to 
the proposed payment have been 
disclosed to the shareholders of the 
company and such proposal has 
been approved by the company in 
general meeting. 

Where there is a breach of this 
provision, the director who 
receives the payment holds the 
money in trust for the company.   
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 In addition, the ASX Listing Rules 
provide that VII must ensure that no 
officer of the company may be entitled to 
termination benefits (or any increase in 
them) if a change occurs in the 
shareholding or control of VII.  Further 
VII Shareholder approval is required if the 
value of the termination benefits that may 
become payable to all officers together 
exceeds 5% in aggregate of VII's equity 
interests. 

 

Fiduciary and 
other duties of 
directors and 
officers 

Under Australian common law and the 
Corporations Act, the directors and 
officers of VII are subject to duties to: 

(a) act in good faith in the best interests 
of VII; 

(b) act for a proper purpose; 

(c) not fetter their discretion (in the case 
of directors only); 

(d) exercise their powers and discharge 
their duties with care, skill and 
diligence; 

(e) avoid conflicts of interest; 

(f) not improperly use their position or 
information obtained by virtue of that 
position to gain an advantage for 
themselves or someone else or cause 
detriment to VII; and 

(g) not misappropriate company property. 

Every director by virtue of his or 
her office occupies a fiduciary 
position with respect to the 
company.  Duties are imposed 
upon any person who becomes a 
director of a company and breaches 
of these duties may lead to 
criminal or civil liabilities.   

A director's duties are governed by 
statute and common law.  Such 
duties include (without limitation) 
duties of care and skill and duties 
to act in good faith in the best 
interests of the company, as well as 
the statutory duty under the 
Singapore Companies Act to act 
honestly and to use reasonable 
diligence in the discharge of the 
duties of his or her office at all 
times.   

Release from 
liability and 
indemnification 
of directors and 
officers 

VII cannot: 

(a) exempt an officer or former officer 
from liability to VII incurred as an 
officer; 

(b) indemnify an officer or former officer 
against a liability owed to it or a 
Related Body Corporate; or 

(c) indemnify an officer or former officer 
against the cost of legal proceedings, 
where such proceedings result in them 
being found to have a liability to it or 
a Related Body Corporate or being 
found guilty in criminal proceedings. 

However, VII may indemnify an officer 
against a liability owed to someone other 
than VII or a Related Body Corporate 
(and also the cost of any related legal 
proceedings), provided the liability does 
not arise out of conduct involving a lack 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, any provision (whether in the 
articles or in any contract with a 
company or otherwise) 
indemnifying a director, any 
officer or auditor of the company 
against any liability for negligence, 
default, breach of duty or breach of 
trust is void.   

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act and the SSE Articles, SSE can 
indemnify such officer or auditor 
against any liability incurred by 
him in defending any proceedings 
(whether civil or criminal) in 
which judgment is given in his or 
her favour or in which he or she is 
acquitted; or in connection with 
any application in which relief is 
granted to him by the court.   
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of good faith or the liability is not a 
penalty or compensation order made 
under the Corporations Act.  For the 
purposes of these provisions, an "officer" 
includes a director, secretary or senior 
manager of VII. 

The VII Constitution provides that, to the 
extent permitted by law, VII must 
indemnify each person who is, or has 
been, a director or secretary against a 
liability (incurred in that capacity) or legal 
costs incurred in defending an action 
against such a liability.  Further, to the 
extent permitted by law, VII may: 

(a) make a payment (by advance, loan or 
otherwise) in respect of legal costs; 
and 

(b) pay or agree to pay a premium under 
an insurance contract in respect of 
such matters. 

In addition, members of a company 
may by agreement, release a 
director from his or her fiduciary 
duty, or ratify an act of the 
directors which would otherwise 
be a breach of their fiduciary duty.  

Directors' 
declarations of 
interest  

The Corporations Act generally requires a 
VII Director who has a material personal 
interest in a matter that relates to the 
affairs of VII to give the other directors 
notice of that interest.  That director must 
not be present at a directors' meeting 
where the matter is being considered or 
vote on the matter unless the other 
directors or ASIC approve, or the matter is 
not one which requires disclosure under 
the Corporations Act.  Under the 
Corporations Act, failure of a director to 
disclose a material personal interest, or 
voting despite a material personal interest, 
does not affect the validity of any act, 
transaction or resolution.  VII Directors, 
when entering into transactions with VII, 
are subject to the common law and 
statutory duties to avoid conflicts of 
interest. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, where a director of a company 
is directly or indirectly interested 
in a transaction or proposed 
transaction with that company, 
such director must, as soon as 
practicably after the relevant facts 
have come to his or her knowledge, 
declare the nature of his or her 
interest at a meeting of directors of 
the company.  For these purposes, 
an interest of a member of a 
director's family (this includes his 
or her spouse, natural, step or 
adopted children) is treated as an 
interest of that director. 

In addition, every director of a 
company who holds any office or 
possesses any property whereby 
whether directly or indirectly 
duties or interests might be created 
in conflict with his or her duties or 
interests as director shall declare at 
a meeting of directors of the 
company the fact and the nature, 
character and extent of the conflict.  
For this purpose, an interest of a 
member of a director's family shall 
be treated as an interest of the 
director.   
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Rights attaching to shares  

Source and 
payment of 
dividends 

Under the VII Constitution, VII may pay 
dividends only out of profits.  In addition, 
under the Corporations Act VII must not 
pay a dividend unless VII's assets exceed 
its liabilities immediately before the 
dividend is declared and the excess is 
sufficient for the payment of the dividend, 
the payment of the dividend is fair and 
reasonable to the VII Shareholders as a 
whole, and the payment of the dividend 
does not materially prejudice VII's ability 
to pay its creditors.  Under the VII 
Constitution, the directors may determine 
that a dividend is payable and fix the 
amount, the time for determining 
entitlements to the dividend, the time for 
payment and the method of payment. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, no dividends are payable 
except out of profits.    

Under the SSE Articles, SSE may 
pay dividends only out of profits.  
SSE in general meeting may 
declare dividends.  In addition, the 
directors may from time to time 
pay to the member interim 
dividends if it appears to the 
directors to be justified taking into 
account SSE's profits.   

Variation of 
class rights 

Under the VII Constitution, rights 
attaching to a class of shares may only be 
varied or cancelled with the sanction of a 
special resolution of VII Shareholders and 
either: 

(a) by special resolution passed at a 
meeting of the shareholders holding 
shares in the class; or 

(b) with the written consent of VII 
Shareholders with at least 75% of the 
votes in the class. 

Under the SSE Articles, the 
variation of class rights requires a 
special resolution to be passed by 
the shareholders of such class of 
shares. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, even if the procedure for 
modification of rights clause is 
complied with, dissatisfied holders 
of not less in aggregate than 50% 
of the issued shares of that class 
may apply to the Singapore courts 
to have the variation or abrogation 
cancelled in accordance with the 
Singapore Companies Act. 

The Singapore courts may, if 
satisfied that the variation or 
abrogation would unfairly 
prejudice the shareholders of the 
class represented by the applicant, 
disallow the variation or 
abrogation, and shall if not so 
satisfied, confirm it.   

Capital raising 

Issue of new 
shares 

Subject to specified exceptions (for 
example in relation to pro-rata issues), the 
ASX Listing Rules apply to restrict VII 
from issuing, or agreeing to issue, more 
equity securities than the number 
calculated as follows unless VII has 
shareholder approval: 

The power to issue shares in a 
company is usually vested with the 
directors of that company subject 
to any restrictions in the articles of 
association of that company.   
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 15% of the total of: 

(a) the number of fully paid ordinary 
shares on issue 12 months before the 
date of the issue or agreement; plus  

(b) the number of fully paid ordinary 
shares issued in the 12 months under a 
specified exception; plus 

(c) the number of partly paid ordinary 
shares that became fully paid in the 12 
months; plus 

(d) the number of fully paid ordinary 
shares issued in the 12 months with 
shareholder approval for these 
purposes; less 

(e) the number of fully paid ordinary 
shares cancelled in the 12 months, 

less the number of equity securities issued 
or agreed to be issued in the 12 months 
before the date of issue or agreement to 
issue, but not under a specified exception 
or with shareholder approval for these 
purposes. 

A company with a market capitalisation of 
less than A$300,000,000 can potentially 
issue another 10% without shareholder 
approval subject to certain conditions. 

Subject to certain exceptions, ASX Listing 
Rules 10.11 and 10.14 require the 
approval of VII Shareholders by ordinary 
resolution in order for VII to issue shares 
or options to VII Directors. 

Under the VII Constitution, VII Directors 
may issue shares on terms determined by 
the directors at such times as they think 
fit.  This power is, however, subject to the 
Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules, 
and any special rights previously 
conferred on the holders of any existing 
class of shares. 

However, under the Singapore 
Companies Act, notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in the 
memorandum or articles of 
association of a company, prior 
approval of the company at a 
general meeting is required to 
authorise the directors to exercise 
any power of the company to issue 
shares, or the share issue is void 
under the Singapore Companies 
Act.   

Such approval need not be specific 
but may be general and, once 
given, will only continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting or the 
expiration of the period within 
which the next annual general 
meeting is required by law to be 
held, whichever is the earlier, 
provided that such approval has not 
been previously revoked or varied 
by the company in a general 
meeting.   

Disclosure requirements 

Disclosure of 
material 
information  

Chapter 3 of the ASX Listing Rules and 
Chapter 6CA of the Corporations Act sets 
out provisions relating to the timely 
disclosure of information.  Subject to a 
number of exceptions, once a company 
becomes aware of information which a 
reasonable person would expect to have a 
material effect on the value of the 

As a public and unlisted company, 
the Singapore Companies Act does 
not impose an obligation on SSE to 
disclose material information.   
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company's securities, the company must 
immediately disclose that information.   

Disclosure of 
financial 
information and 
accounting and 
auditing 
standards  

The Corporations Act requires VII to 
prepare and have audited annual and half-
year financial reports and directors' 
reports.  The financial report must comply 
with the applicable accounting standards.  
The Corporations Act sets out specific 
matters to be included in the directors' 
report. 

In addition, ASX listed companies are 
required to submit certain reports at 
regular intervals.  These are: 

(a) half-year reports; 

(b) preliminary final reports; 

(c) annual reports; and 

(d) quarterly activities and cashflow 
reports (mining companies only). 

The specific information requirements of 
these reports are prescribed by the ASX 
Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, every company must keep 
such accounting and other records 
as are necessary to explain the 
transactions and financial position 
of the company and to allow for a 
profit and loss account and a 
balance sheet to be prepared.  As 
SSE will become a public company 
(if the Scheme is approved by the 
Requisite Majorities of VII 
Shareholders and the Court), SSE 
and its subsidiaries must devise 
and maintain a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to 
provide a reasonable assurance that 
the assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or 
disposition and that any 
transactions are properly 
authorised and recorded.   

In addition, members must be sent 
copies of the last audited profit and 
loss account, balance sheet and 
consolidated accounts (as SSE is a 
holding company) accompanied by 
a copy of the auditor's report, not 
less than 14 days before the 
general meeting at which such 
accounts to be presented or not less 
than 28 days if, in the case of a 
private company, where the 
holding of an annual general 
meeting is dispensed with.   

Disclosure of 
substantial 
holdings  

The Corporations Act requires 
shareholders to provide information to VII 
in circumstances where the shareholder 
begins to have, ceases to have a 
substantial holding in VII (a voting 
interest of 5% or more), or where the 
shareholder's substantial holding changes 
by at least 1%.  The shareholder is also 
required to give this information to ASIC. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, a substantial shareholder (a 
voting interest of 5% or more) 
must give notice in writing to SSE 
of his or her name, address and full 
particulars of the shares in which 
he or she has an interest, stating the 
nature of the interest.   

Where there is any change in the 
percentage level of interests of a 
substantial shareholder or if the 
member ceases to be a substantial 
shareholder, notice in writing must 
be given to the company.   
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Such notices must be given to the 
company within two business days 
of a person becoming a substantial 
shareholder, changing the 
percentage level of his or her 
interest or cessation as a 
shareholder.  

Relationship between the company and its members 

Transactions 
involving 
directors, 
officers and 
other related 
parties 

The Corporations Act prohibits a public 
company such as VII from giving a 
related party a financial benefit unless it: 

(a) obtains the approval of shareholders 
and gives the benefit within 15 
months after approval; or 

(b) the financial benefit is exempt. 

A related party is defined to include any 
entity which controls the public company, 
directors of the public company, directors 
of any entity which controls the public 
company and, in each case, spouses and 
certain relatives of such persons.  Exempt 
financial benefits include certain 
indemnities, insurance premiums and 
payments for legal costs which are not 
otherwise prohibited by the Corporations 
Act, reasonable remuneration and benefits 
given on arm's-length terms. 

The ASX Listing Rules prohibit VII from 
acquiring a substantial asset (an asset the 
value or consideration for which is 5% or 
more of VII's equity interests) from, or 
disposing of a substantial asset to, certain 
related parties of the company, unless it 
obtains the approval of shareholders.  The 
related parties for these purposes include a 
director, a person who has or has had in 
the prior six month period an interest in 
10% or more of the shares in the company 
and, in each case, any of their associates.  
The provisions apply even where the 
transaction may be on arm's-length terms.  

The ASX Listing Rules also prohibit VII 
from issuing or agreeing to issue equity 
securities to a director unless it obtains the 
approval of shareholders or the issue is 
exempt.  Exempt issues include issues 
made pro-rata to all shareholders, under 
an underwriting agreement, under a 
dividend or distribution plan or under an 
approved employee incentive plan. 

A company is generally prohibited 
from giving financial assistance to 
any person directly or indirectly for 
the purpose of, or in connection 
with, the acquisition of that 
company's shares or shares in its 
holding company. 

Financial assistance includes the 
making of a loan, the giving of a 
guarantee, the provision of 
security, and the release of a debt 
or obligation.  Certain transactions 
are specifically provided by the 
Singapore Companies Act not to be 
prohibited.  These include the 
payment of a dividend in good 
faith and in the ordinary course of 
commercial dealing, the payment 
by a company pursuant to a 
reduction of capital in accordance 
with the Singapore Companies Act, 
the giving by a company in good 
faith and in the ordinary course of 
commercial dealing of any 
representation, warranty or 
indemnity in relation to an offer to 
the public of, or an invitation to the 
public to subscribe for or purchase 
shares or units of shares in the 
company, and the entering into by 
the company, in good faith and in 
the ordinary course of commercial 
dealing, of an agreement with a 
subscriber for shares in the 
company permitting the subscriber 
to make payments for the shares by 
instalments.   

In addition, under the Singapore 
Companies Act, a company can 
give financial assistance in certain 
circumstances, including but not 
limited to:  
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(a) where the amount of financial 
assistance does not exceed 
10% of the aggregate of the 
total paid-up capital and 
reserves of the company as 
disclosed in the most recent 
financial statements of the 
company and the company 
receives fair value in 
connection with the financial 
assistance; and  

(b) where the financial assistance 
is approved unanimously by 
the shareholders of the 
company, if certain conditions 
and procedures under the 
Singapore Companies Act are 
complied with.  Where the 
company is a subsidiary of a 
listed corporation or a 
subsidiary whose ultimate 
holding company is 
incorporated in Singapore, the 
listed corporation or the 
ultimate holding company, as 
the case may be, is also 
required to pass a special 
resolution to approve the 
giving of the financial 
assistance.   

Protection of 
minority 
shareholders/ 
oppression 
remedy 

Under the Corporations Act, any VII 
Shareholder can bring an action in cases 
of alleged conduct which is contrary to the 
interests of shareholders as a whole, or 
oppressive to, unfairly prejudicial to, or 
unfairly discriminatory against, any 
shareholder(s), whether in their capacity 
as a shareholder or in any other capacity.  
Former shareholders can also bring an 
action if it relates to the circumstances in 
which they ceased to be a VII 
Shareholder. 

A statutory derivative action may also be 
instituted on behalf of the company by a 
VII Shareholder, former shareholder or 
person entitled to be registered as a 
shareholder.  In all cases, leave of the 
court is required.  Such leave will be 
granted if the court is satisfied that: 

 

 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, a member or a holder of a 
debenture of a company may apply 
to the Singapore courts for an order 
under Section 216 of the Singapore 
Companies Act to remedy 
situations where: 

(a) a company's affairs are being 
conducted or the powers of the 
company's directors are being 
exercised in a manner 
oppressive to, or in disregard 
of the interests of one or more 
of the members, shareholders 
or holders of debentures of the 
company, including the 
applicant; or 

(b) a company has done an act, or 
threatens to do an act, or the 
members or holders of 
debentures have passed some 
resolution, or propose to pass 
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(a) it is probable that VII will not itself 
bring the proceedings or properly take 
responsibility for them or for the steps 
in them; 

(b) the applicant is acting in good faith; 

(c) it is in the best interests of VII that the 
applicant be granted leave; 

(d) if the applicant is applying for leave to 
bring proceedings, there is a serious 
question to be tried; and 

(e) either at least 14 days before making 
the application, the applicant gave 
written notice to VII of the intention 
to apply for leave and the reasons for 
applying, or it is otherwise 
appropriate to grant leave. 

some resolution, which 
unfairly discriminates against, 
or is otherwise prejudicial to, 
one or more of the company's 
members or holders of 
debentures, including the 
applicant. 

Singapore courts have wide 
discretion as to the relief they may 
grant under such application, 
including, inter alia, directing or 
prohibiting any act or cancelling or 
varying any transaction or 
resolution, providing that the 
company be wound up, or 
authorising civil proceedings to be 
brought in the name of or on behalf 
of the company by such person or 
persons and on such terms as the 
court directs.   

In addition, a member of a 
company who is seeking relief for 
damage done to the company may 
bring a common law derivative 
action in certain circumstances 
against the persons who have done 
wrong to the company.  Section 
216A of the Singapore Companies 
Act prescribes a procedure to bring 
a statutory derivative action.  The 
statutory procedure is available to, 
inter alia, a member of a company 
not listed on the SGX-ST, any 
other person who, in the discretion 
of the court, is a proper person to 
make an application under Section 
216A of the Singapore Companies 
Act. 

Right of 
shareholders to 
bring or 
intervene in 
legal 
proceedings 

Under the Corporations Act, a shareholder 
may bring legal proceedings against a 
wrongdoer on behalf of himself or herself 
and all fellow shareholders who are not 
among the wrongdoers in the company's 
name in respect of wrongs done to the 
company.  Usually, the decision to take 
action on the company's behalf lies with 
the directors, as they generally have the 
responsibility of managing the company.   

Where a member feels that a 
wrong has been done to the 
company and which is not being 
addressed, he can either (i) 
commence an action himself 
against the wrongdoer, or (ii) apply 
to court under section 216A of the 
Singapore Companies Act for 
leave to bring action in the 
company's name.   
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 However, in some cases it is necessary 
that the shareholders be given the right to 
commence action on the company's 
behalf, usually because some or all of the 
board are themselves responsible for the 
wrong that has been committed. 

A shareholder can only bring legal 
proceedings if the court has granted the 
shareholder leave to bring, or intervene in, 
the legal proceedings. 

Generally, under the common law, 
a member can only commence an 
action against the wrongdoer for 
wrongs done against the company 
in the following instances: 

(a) ultra vires act; 

(b) fraud on the minority; 

(c) special majorities (when 
something is done by a simple 
majority where a special 
majority is required by the 
Singapore Companies Act or 
the SSE Articles); 

(d) personal rights; and 

where the justice of the case 
requires.   

Right to inspect 
register of 
shareholders 

The register of shareholders of an 
Australian company, such as VII, is 
usually kept at the registered office or 
principal place of business in Australia or 
is kept and maintained by a professional 
share registrar.  The register must be 
available for inspection to shareholders 
free of charge at all times when the 
registered office is required to be open to 
the public.  If a person asks VII for a copy 
of the register (or any part of the register) 
and pays the requested fee (up to a 
prescribed amount), VII must give that 
person the copy within seven days of the 
date on which VII receives such payment. 

Under the VII Constitution, the directors 
may authorise a shareholder to inspect the 
books of VII.  A VII Shareholder, other 
than an VII  Director, does not have the 
right to inspect any other document of 
VII, other than the minute books for the 
meetings of its shareholders, except as 
provided by law or authorised by the 
directors.   

Under the Corporations Act, a shareholder 
may seek to obtain a court order to obtain 
access to the corporate books.  The 
applicant must be acting in good faith and 
be making the inspection for a proper 
purpose. 

Under the Singapore Companies 
Act, a member has a statutory right 
to inspect the register of members 
maintained by SSE free of charge.  
Inspection of the register of 
members is open to public on 
payment of S$1.00 or such less 
sum as the company requires.   
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Amendments to 
constituent 
documents 

Any amendment to the VII Constitution 
must be approved by a special resolution 
passed by VII Shareholders present and 
voting on the resolution. 

Unless otherwise provided in the 
Singapore Companies Act, SSE's 
Articles may be altered by way of 
special resolution, except that any 
entrenching provision in the 
memorandum and any provision 
contained in the memorandum 
before 1 April 2004 which could 
not be altered before that date may 
be removed or altered only if all 
members of SSE agree.   

Takeovers 

Takeover 
requirements 

Australian law places restrictions on a 
person acquiring interests in the voting 
shares of a listed company such as VII 
where, as a result of the acquisition, that 
person's or someone else's voting power in 
the company increases from 20% or below 
to more than 20%, or from a starting point 
that is above 20% and below 90%.  
Generally, such acquisitions cannot be 
made unless the person does not acquire 
more than 3% of the voting shares in the 
company in any six month period, the 
acquisition is made with shareholder 
approval or the acquisition is made under 
a takeover bid (or pursuant to a scheme of 
arrangement) made in accordance with 
Australian law.  Takeover bids must treat 
all shareholders alike and must not 
involve any collateral benefits.  Various 
restrictions about conditional offers exist 
and there are also substantial restrictions 
concerning the withdrawal and suspension 
of offers.  

If, by the end of the offer period, the 
bidder and its Associates have: 

(a) obtained a Relevant Interest in 90% of 
the class of securities bid for; and 

(b) acquired at least 75% of the securities 
that the bidder offered to acquire 
under the bid, 

the bidder can compulsorily acquire the 
outstanding securities in that class. 

This right of compulsory acquisition can 
be exercised by the bidder during or 
within one month after the end of the offer 
period.  Provided that notice of the 
compulsory acquisition is given to both 
ASIC and the ASX, the bidder is then 

The Singapore Take-Over Code 
applies to unlisted public 
companies with more than 50 
shareholders and net tangible 
assets of S$5,000,000 or more. 

Under the Singapore Take-Over 
Code, any person acquiring an 
interest, either on his or her own or 
together with parties acting in 
concert with him, in 30% or more 
of the voting shares must extend a 
takeover offer for the remaining 
voting shares in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore 
Take-Over Code.  In addition, a 
mandatory takeover offer is also 
required to be made if a person 
holding, either on his or her own or 
together with parties acting in 
concert with him, between 30% 
and 50% of the voting rights 
acquires additional voting shares 
representing more than 1% of the 
voting shares in any 6 month 
period. 

Under the Singapore Take-Over 
Code, a mandatory offer made with 
consideration other than cash must 
be accompanied by a cash 
alternative at not less than the 
highest price paid by the offeror or 
any person acting in concert within 
the preceding 6 months.   

Under the laws of Singapore, the 
right of compulsory acquisition of 
minority shareholdings is 
contained in section 215 of the 
Singapore Companies Act and is 
only exercisable following an 
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entitled to acquire the outstanding 
securities for the same price offered under 
the bid. 

Dissenting shareholders may contest the 
compulsory acquisition by court 
application, although the court may only 
stop the acquisition if it is satisfied the 
acquisition would not be at fair value. 

amalgamation or merger of 
companies pursuant to a takeover 
offer.  

Before an offeror can exercise a 
compulsory acquisition right under 
section 215 of the Singapore 
Companies Act, it must obtain an 
acceptance level of 90% of the 
total number of shares (excluding 
any shares held, or deemed to be 
held, by the offeror or its related 
corporations at the time of the 
offer). 

Provided that a notice of the 
compulsory acquisition is sent to 
shareholders within two months of 
reaching the 90% threshold, the 
offeror will be permitted to 
compulsorily acquire the remaining 
shares.  

Dissenting shareholders can apply 
to the court within one month of 
receiving notice of the compulsory 
acquisition to have it stopped. 
Although, the court will only 
prevent the proposed acquisition 
from proceeding if the applicant 
can demonstrate that the 
acquisition is unfair or not bona 
fide. 

Takeover 
defence 
mechanisms 

Under Australian takeovers legislation and 
policy, boards of target companies are 
limited in the defensive mechanisms that 
they can put in place to discourage or 
defeat a takeover bid as such mechanisms 
may not always be in the best interests of 
the target company.  Such tactics may also 
give rise to a declaration of unacceptable 
circumstances by the Australian 
Takeovers Panel. 

Under the Singapore Take-Over 
Code, if the board of directors of 
the offeree has reason to believe 
that an offer made in good faith, 
the directors must not take any 
action without the shareholders' 
approval at a general meeting, on 
the affairs of the offeree that will 
frustrate the offer or that will result 
in the shareholders being denied an 
opportunity to decide on the merits 
of the offer.   
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General 
compulsory 
acquisition 
power 

In addition to the compulsory acquisition 
process after a takeover bid, there is a 
general compulsory acquisition power. 

Under the general compulsory acquisition 
power:  

(a) a person holding 90% of the shares in 
a class can buy out outstanding 
shareholders in that class (whether the 
90% holding was reached by way of 
takeover bid or otherwise); and 

(b) a person having voting power of 90% 
in a company and holding 90% by 
value of all shares of the company that 
are either shares or convertible into 
shares can compulsorily acquire all 
outstanding shares in the company 
that are shares or convertible into 
shares. 

The general compulsory acquisition power 
must be exercised within 6 months after 
the person becomes a 90% holder.  

Under the general compulsory acquisition 
laws, the following procedures must be 
followed to give minority shareholders 
additional protection: 

(a) the 90% holder must have a "full 
beneficial interest" rather than a 
Relevant Interest to meet the 90% 
threshold; 

(b) the acquisition must be for a cash sum 
only; 

(c) an expert's report is required stating 
whether the offer is at fair value; and 

(d) shareholders can apply to the court to 
stop the acquisition but the court may 
only stop the acquisition if it is 
satisfied the acquisition would not be 
at fair value. 

There is no equivalent provision of 
the Australian general compulsory 
acquisition laws in Singapore. 

Under the laws of Singapore, the 
right of compulsory acquisition of 
minority shareholdings is only 
exercisable following an 
amalgamation or merger of 
companies pursuant to a takeover 
offer.  
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Winding-up Under Australian law, an insolvent 
company may be wound up by a 
liquidator appointed by the court, by the 
company in general meeting or by 
creditors.  Directors cannot use their 
powers after a liquidator has been 
appointed.  If there are funds left over 
after payment of the costs of the 
liquidation, and payments to other priority 
creditors, including employees, the 
liquidator will pay these to unsecured 
creditors as a dividend.  The shareholders 
rank behind the creditors and are, 
therefore, unlikely to receive any dividend 
in an insolvent liquidation. 

Under Australian law, shareholders of a 
solvent company may, by special 
resolution, decide to voluntarily wind up 
the company if the directors are able to 
form the view that the company will be 
able to pay its debts in full within 12 
months after the commencement of the 
winding-up.  A meeting at which a 
decision is made to wind up a solvent 
company requires at least 75% of votes 
cast by the shareholders present and 
voting. 

The VII Constitution provides that on 
winding-up, the liquidator may, with 
sanction of a special resolution of 
shareholders, distribute among 
shareholders the whole or any part of the 
property of VII. 

The winding up of a company may 
be done in the following ways: 

(a) members' voluntary winding 
up; 

(b) creditors' voluntary winding 
up; 

(c) court compulsory winding up; 
and 

(d) an order made pursuant to 
Section 216 of the Singapore 
Companies Act for the winding 
up of the company. 

The type of winding up depends, 
inter alia, on whether the company 
is solvent or insolvent. 
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11. Additional information  

11.1 Interests of SSE Directors  

Other than as set out in Section 11.6 of this Scheme Booklet, as at the date of this Scheme 
Booklet, SSE and its Associates do not hold any VII Shares and do not otherwise have a 
relevant interest in any VII Shares. 

11.2 Dealings in the previous four months 

Other than as set out in this Scheme Booklet, neither SSE nor its Associates have provided (or 
agreed to provide) consideration for any VII Shares under a purchase or agreement to purchase 
during the four months before the date of this Scheme Booklet.   

11.3 Benefits during the previous four months 

Other than as set out in this Scheme Booklet, neither VII nor any of its Associates, during the 
period of four months before the date of this Scheme Booklet, gave, or offered or agreed to 
give, a benefit to another person where the benefit was likely to induce the other person, or an 
Associate of the other person, to: 

 vote in favour of the Scheme; or 

 dispose of VII Shares, 

and where the benefit is not being offered to all VII Shareholders. 

11.4 Capital structure of VII 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, VII has 142,277,423 ordinary shares on issue.   

11.5 Notifiable interests 

As at the date of this Scheme Booklet, the substantial shareholders of VII are as set out in the 
table below. 

Name  Number of VII Shares Percentage of VII Shares on 
issue 

Corbyns International 
Limited  

116,308,510 81.75% 

Land & General Berhad  13,002,000 9.14% 

 

11.6 Marketable securities held or controlled by VII Directors 

No marketable securities of VII are held or controlled by VII Directors and no such persons 
are otherwise entitled to such securities as at the date of this Scheme Booklet, other than as 
listed below. 
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Name and position VII Shares Percentage of outstanding VII 
Shares, calculated on a non-
diluted basis 

Van Hung Lam (Henry) 116,308,510 (1) 81.75% 

Alan Alexander Young  (2) - 

Roger (Sing-Leong) 
Kwok  

- - 

Andrew David Walker - - 

(1) Van Hung Lam (Henry) is a director of Corbyns and holds 100% of the issued share capital in Corbyns which 
holds 116,308,510 shares in VII. 

(2) Alan Alexander Young is a director of Corbyns which holds 116,308,510 shares in VII.   

Van Hung Lam (Henry) holds 100% of the issued capital in Corbyns, which, in turn, holds 
81.75% of VII's share capital.  Whilst supportive of the Scheme, Van Hung Lam (Henry) has 
decided that he will not vote any VII Shares that he controls through Corbyns on the Scheme at 
the Scheme Meeting, given Corbyns' position as VII's ultimate holding company.   

The Independent Directors do not control VII Shares and therefore are not entitled to vote at 
the Scheme Meeting.   

Other than as disclosed in Section 11.7 or elsewhere in this Scheme Booklet, the VII Directors 
will not receive any direct or indirect benefits from voting in favour of the Scheme other than 
the Scheme Consideration to which they are entitled.   

No marketable securities of SSE or any of its Subsidiaries are held by or on behalf of VII 
Directors and officers listed above as at the date of this Scheme Booklet. 

11.7 Agreements or arrangements with VII Directors 

Other than disclosed in this Scheme Booklet, there are no agreements made between any VII 
Director or any other person in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the 
Scheme.   

11.8 Payments or other benefits to VII Directors and VII executive officers 

Other than as disclosed in this Scheme Booklet, no payment or other benefit will be given or 
made to any director, secretary or executive officer of VII or a Related Body Corporate of VII 
for loss of, as compensation or consideration for, or otherwise in connection with, their 
retirement from office in VII or in a Related Body Corporate, if the Scheme becomes effective.   

11.9 Interests of VII Directors in contracts entered into by SSE 

No VII Director has any interest in any contract entered into by SSE or its Related Bodies 
Corporate. 
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11.10 Consents and disclaimers 

Consent to be named 

The following parties have given and have not, before the date of this Scheme Booklet, 
withdrawn their written consent to be named in this Scheme Booklet in the form and context in 
which they are named: 

(a) Clayton Utz as legal adviser to VII in respect of the law applying in Australia; 

(b) Drew & Napier LLC as legal adviser to SSE in respect of the law applying in 
Singapore; 

(c) Security Transfer Registrars Pty Limited as the VII Share Registry; and 

(d) Ernst & Young as VII's Australian auditors and taxation advisers. 

Disclaimers of responsibility  

Each party named in Section 11.10 of this Scheme Booklet: 

(a) has not authorised or caused the issue of this Scheme Booklet; 

(b) does not make, or purport to make, any statement in this Scheme Booklet or any 
statement on which a statement in this Scheme Booklet is based other than those 
statements which have been included in this Scheme Booklet with the consent of 
that person; and 

(c) to the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaims and takes no 
responsibility for any part of this Scheme Booklet, other than a reference to their 
name and any statements or report which have been included in this Scheme 
Booklet with the consent of that person. 

The SSE Information set out in Section 5 of this Scheme Booklet has been prepared by, and is 
the responsibility of, SSE.  VII does not assume responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness of the SSE Information. 

Consent to be named and to the inclusion of information 

BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd has given, and has not withdrawn before lodgement of 
this Scheme Booklet with ASIC, its written consent to:  

 be named as the independent expert in the form and context in which it is named; 

 the inclusion of the Independent Expert's Report as Annexure A of this Scheme 
Booklet; and 

 the inclusion in this Scheme Booklet of statements made by the Independent Expert, 
or said to be based on the Independent Expert's Report, and to all references to 
those statements, in the form and context in which they are respectively included. 

SSE has given, and has not withdrawn before lodgement of this Scheme Booklet with ASIC, 
its written consent to: 

 be named in this Scheme Booklet in the form and context in which it is named; and 

 the inclusion in this Scheme Booklet of the SSE Information in the form and 
context in which it appears. 
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11.11 Fees 

Each of the persons named in Section 11.10 as performing a function in a professional, 
advisory or other capacity in connection with the preparation or distribution of this Scheme 
Booklet, will be entitled to receive professional fees charged in accordance with their normal 
basis of charging.   

The fee for professional services paid or payable to the Independent Expert (in respect of the 
Independent Expert's Report) is A$24,050.  The fee for professional services paid or payable to 
Clayton Utz to the date of this Scheme Booklet (including for advice on the internal 
restructure, Scheme process, documentation and court related aspects of the Scheme) is 
approximately A$737,800.   

11.12 Right to inspect and obtain copies of the VII Share Register 

A VII Shareholder has the right to inspect the Register, which contains the name and address 
of each VII Shareholder and certain other prescribed details relating to VII Shares, without 
charge.  A VII Shareholder also has the right to request a copy of the register, upon payment of 
a fee (if any) up to a prescribed amount. 

11.13 Regulatory conditions and relief 

ASX  

For the purposes of the Scheme, ASX has confirmed that VII is not required to comply with 
ASX Listing Rule 10.1 so that VII is not required to seek shareholder approval for the transfer 
of any SSE Shares under the Scheme to any of VII's substantial holders or related parties. 

ASIC  

VII has obtained from ASIC relief from section 259C(1) of the Corporations Act to enable the 
transfer of VII Shares by VII Shareholders to SSE. 

Paragraph 8302(h) of Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the Corporations Regulations requires the 
Scheme Booklet to set out whether, within the knowledge of the VII Directors, the financial 
position of VII has materially changed since the date of the last balance sheet laid before a VII 
annual general meeting or sent to VII Shareholders in accordance with section 314 or 317 of 
the Corporations Act. 

ASIC has granted VII relief from this requirement on the basis that: 

 VII has complied with Division 2 of Part 2M.3 of the Corporations Act in respect of 
the half-year ended 30 June 2013; 

 VII has lodged all relevant documents in accordance with the Corporations Act for 
the year ended 31 December 2012; 

 the Scheme Booklet states VII will give a copy of the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2012, half-year ended 30 June 2013 and nine months 
ended 30 September 2013 free of charge, to anyone who asks for them before the 
Scheme is approved by the Court; 

 VII discloses all material changes to its financial position occurring after 30 
September 2013; and  

 the Scheme Booklet sent to VII Shareholders will be substantially in the form given 
to ASIC. 
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11.14 Other information material to the making of a decision in relation to the 
Scheme 

Except as set out in this Scheme Booklet, there is no other information material to the making 
of a decision by a VII Shareholder on whether or not to vote in favour of the Scheme, being 
information that is within the knowledge of any VII Director, or any director of any Related 
Body Corporate of VII, which has not previously been disclosed to VII Shareholders. 

11.15 Supplementary information 

VII will issue a supplementary document to this Scheme Booklet if it becomes aware of any of 
the following between the date of lodgement of this Scheme Booklet for registration by ASIC 
and the Effective Date: 

 a material statement in this Scheme Booklet is false or misleading; 

 a material omission from this Scheme Booklet; 

 a significant change affecting a matter included in this Scheme Booklet; or 

 a significant new matter has arisen and it would have been required to be included 
in this Scheme Booklet if it had arisen before the date of lodgement of this Scheme 
Booklet for registration by ASIC. 

Depending on the nature and timing of the changed circumstances and subject to obtaining any 
relevant approvals, VII may circulate and publish any supplementary document by: 

 approaching the Court for a direction as to what is appropriate in the circumstances; 

 placing an advertisement in a prominently published newspaper which is circulated 
generally throughout Australia; 

 posting the supplementary document on VII's website and the ASX; or 

 making a public announcement by way of press release. 
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12. Definitions 

In this Scheme Booklet: 

Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority means the body corporate established and 
incorporated under section 3 of the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Act, 
Chapter 2A with its functions and powers granted under the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority Act to act as the national regulator of business entities and public 
accountants in Singapore.  

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.   

Associate has the meaning given in section 12 of the Corporations Act. 

ASX means ASX Limited ACN 008 624 691 or the financial products market, the Australian 
Securities Exchange, as the situation requires.  

ASX Listing Rules means the official listing rules of the ASX, as amended from time to time. 

Austnam means Austnam Joint Stock Corporation, a joint stock company incorporated under 
the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Investment License number 358 CPH/GP 
dated 15 June 2005 issued by the Ministry of Planning and Investment. 

Australian Accounting Standards means the Australian equivalent to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Australian Steel Billet Company means Australian Steel Billet Company Ltd with an 
Investment Certificate number 021043000058 issued by the Hai Phong People's Committee.  

Ausviet Industrial Investments means Ausviet Industrial Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd, a 
company incorporated in Singapore with registered company number 199606020H. 

Business Day is any day that is both a Business Day within the meaning of the ASX Listing 
Rules and a day that banks in Perth, Western Australia are open for business. 

CGT means Australian Capital Gains Tax. 

Conditions Precedent means the conditions precedent to the Scheme set out in clause 3 of the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement. 

Corbyns means Corbyns International Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin 
Islands with registered number 1374080. 

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Corporations Regulations means the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth). 

Court means the Federal Court of Australia. 

Deed Poll means the deed poll executed by SSE in favour of the Scheme Shareholders, in the 
form set out in Annexure D of this Scheme Booklet.   

Director means a director of VII. 

Effective means, when used in relation to the Scheme, the coming into effect, pursuant to 
section 411(10) of the Corporations Act, of the order of the Court made under section 
411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act in relation to that Scheme. 
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Effective Date means the date on which the Scheme becomes Effective. 

Encumbrance means a mortgage, hypothec, charge, pledge, lien, encumbrance, security 
interest, title retention, preferential right, trust arrangement, contractual right of set-off, or any 
other security agreement or arrangement in favour of any person, whether registered or 
unregistered. 

GST means Australian goods and services tax or Singaporean goods and services tax as the 
context requires.  

IFS Shares means the SSE Shares that would have otherwise been transferred to Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholders under the terms of the Scheme. 

IFS Offer Period means the offer period which has a duration of 15 Business Days and 
commences on the Business Day immediately after the Implementation Date. 

Implementation Date means the date which is 2 Business Days after SSE provides to VII a 
certificate issued by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority confirming that SSE 
has been converted into a public company in accordance with the Singapore Companies Act. 

Independent Director means Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok, Andrew David Walker and Alan 
Alexander Young but does not include Van Hung Lam (Henry). 

Independent Expert means BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd. 

Independent Expert's Report means the report from the Independent Expert in respect of the 
Scheme, a copy of which is set out in Annexure A of this Scheme Booklet. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholder means a VII Shareholder whose address as shown in the 
Register on the Record Date is a place outside Australia and its external territories, Singapore, 
Belgium, Malaysia, the Republic of Philippines and Vietnam, unless SSE and VII are satisfied, 
acting reasonably, that the laws of that VII Shareholder's country of residence (as shown in the 
Register) permits the transfer of SSE Shares to that VII Shareholder, either unconditionally or 
after compliance with conditions which SSE in its sole discretion regards as acceptable. 

Notice of Scheme Meeting means the notice of meeting relating to the Scheme Meeting, 
which is set out in Annexure E of this Scheme Booklet.   

Parnham Overseas means Parnham Overseas Ltd, a company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands with registered company number 95036. 

Proceeds means the proceeds of the IFS Shares sold by the Sale Nominee in respect of 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, in Australian dollars, less any applicable brokerage, stamp 
duty and other selling costs, taxes and charges. 

Proxy Form means the proxy form for the Scheme Meeting accompanying this Scheme 
Booklet. 

Record Date means 5.00 pm (Perth time) on the fifth Business Day following the Effective 
Date or such other time and date agreed in writing between SSE and VII. 

Register means the share register of VII kept pursuant to the Corporations Act. 

Registered Address means, in relation to a VII Shareholder, the address of that VII 
Shareholder as shown in the Register as at the Record Date. 

Related Body Corporate of a corporation means a related body corporate of that corporation 
within the meaning of section 50 of the Corporations Act. 
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Relevant Interest has the meaning given in section 608 of the Corporations Act. 

Requisite Majorities means, in relation to the Scheme Meeting: 

(a) unless the Court orders otherwise, a majority in number (more than 50%) of VII 
Shareholders present and voting at the Scheme Meeting (in person, by proxy, by 
attorney or, in the case of corporate VII Shareholders, by a corporate 
representative); and 

(b) at least 75% of the total number of votes cast on the resolution at the Scheme 
Meeting by VII Shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution (in person, by proxy, 
by attorney or, in the case of corporate VII Shareholders, by a corporate 
representative). 

Roll-over Election Form means the roll-over election form accompanying this Scheme 
Booklet. 

Sale Nominee means the person nominated by VII to sell the IFS Shares that are attributable 
to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders under the terms of the Scheme. 

Scheme Booklet means this scheme booklet, including the annexures. 

Scheme Consideration means the SSE Shares to be transferred to the Scheme Shareholders 
for the transfer of their VII Shares, being 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held on the 
Record Date. 

Scheme Implementation Agreement means the scheme implementation agreement entered 
into between VII and SSE on 29 November 2013. 

Scheme means the scheme of arrangement pursuant to Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act 
proposed between VII and the VII Shareholders, the form of which is set out in Annexure C of 
this Scheme Booklet subject to any alterations or conditions made or required by the Court 
under section 411(6) of the Corporations Act and approved in writing by VII.   

Scheme Meeting means the meeting of VII Shareholders ordered by the Court to be convened 
pursuant to section 411(1) of the Corporations Act to consider and, if thought fit, to approve 
the Scheme. 

Scheme Share means each VII Share on issue on the Record Date. 

Scheme Shareholder means each person who is registered in the Share Registry as a holder of 
a Scheme Share.   

Second Court Date means the first day of hearing of an application made to the Court for an 
order pursuant to section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act approving the Scheme or, if the 
hearing of such application is adjourned for any reason, means the first day of the adjourned 
hearing. 

Securities Industry Council of Singapore means the advisory body established under section 
138 of the Singapore Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289, to administer and enforce the 
Singapore Take-Over Code. 

Share Registry means Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd.   

Singapore Companies Act means the Singapore Companies Act, Cap 50. 

Singapore Take-Over Code means the Singapore Code on Take-Overs and Mergers. 
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SSE Articles means the articles of association which will be adopted by SSE as a public 
company. 

SSE Board means the board of directors of SSE.   

SSE Director means a director of SSE. 

SSE Information means the information with respect to SSE in Section 5 of this Scheme 
Booklet prepared and provided by SSE and/or its advisers.   

SSE means Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd, a private unlisted company incorporated in 
and registered under the laws of Singapore with registered company number 199604844C, 
which will be converted into a public unlisted company as a condition of the implementation 
of the Scheme.  

SSE Share means an issued unlisted fully paid ordinary share in the capital of SSE. 

SSE Shareholder means each person who is registered in the SSE share register as the holder 
of SSE Shares. 

SSESTEEL means SSESTEEL Ltd, a foreign-owned company incorporated under the 
Enterprise Law and Investment Law 2005 of Vietnam pursuant to the Investment Certificate 
number 021043000053 on 19 October 2007. 

Subsidiary means a subsidiary within the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act. 

Total Building Systems means Total Building Systems Limited, a limited liability company 
incorporated under the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Investment Certificate 
number 011023000084 on 27 April 2012 issued by the Ha Noi People's Committee. 

Vietnam Projects means Vietnam Projects (Singapore) Pte Ltd, a company incorporated in 
Singapore with registered company number 199608644W. 

VII Board means the board of directors of VII.   

VII Constitution means the constitution of VII. 

VII Director means a director of VII. 

VII Group means VII and its Related Bodies Corporate. 

VII or Company means Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited. 

VII Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of VII. 

VII Shareholder means each person who is registered in the Register as the holder of VII 
Shares. 

Vinausteel means Vinausteel Limited, a joint venture company incorporated under the Law on 
Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Investment License No. 898/GP dated 28 June 1994, and 
various amendments issued by the Ministry of Planning and Investment. 

VRC Weldmesh means VRC Weldmesh (Vietnam) Limited, a limited liability company 
incorporated under the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the Investment Certificate 
number 411043000342 on 16 September 2010 issued by the Ministry of Planning and 
Investment. 
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Date Volume traded 

19-Nov-13 4,500 

17-Sep-13 3,844 

26-Aug-13 10,000 

19-Aug-13 38,997 

7-Aug-13 35,714 

5-Aug-13 6,800 

30-Jul-13 88,900 

19-Jul-13 9,800 

3-Jul-13 11,200 

27-Jun-13 2,300 

26-Jun-13 4,500 

12-Apr-13 1,200 

28-Mar-13 1,000 

27-Dec-12 33,276 

7-Dec-12 30,000 

30-Nov-12 30,000 

27-Nov-12 300 

26-Nov-12 7,142 

21-Nov-12 36,000 

15-Nov-12 19,990 

13-Nov-12 49,381 

2-Nov-12 20,000 

31-Oct-12 1,999 

18-Oct-12 414,285 

16-Oct-12 6,000 

5-Oct-12 5,976 

2-Oct-12 23,024 

1-Oct-12 49,300 

12-Sep-12 10,500 

10-Sep-12 6,676 

10-Aug-12 1 

23-Jul-12 12,500 

2-Jul-12 7,300 

29-Jun-12 1,793 

14-Mar-12 2,325 
 
Source: Bloomberg 

 

A further analysis of the volume of trading in VII shares for the 24 months to 22 November 2013 is set out 
below, including presentation of this information as a percentage of total issued capital. 
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 Trading days Cumulative volume As a % of 

   traded  Issued capital 

1  trading day - 0.00% 

10  trading days 4,500 0.00% 

30  trading days 4,500 0.00% 

60  trading days 8,344 0.01% 

90  trading days 188,755 0.13% 

180  trading days 218,755 0.15% 

1 Year 319,473 0.22% 

2 Years 986,523 0.69% 

VII’s  shares  display  a  very  low  level  of  liquidity,  with  less  than  0.3%  of  the  Company’s  current  issued  
capital being traded in the last 12 months period.  This does not represent a ‘deep’ market which should 
be characterised by a liquid stock actively traded.  

In addition, VII’s shares are not widely held, with 99.59% of VII’s shares held by the top 20 shareholders 
and only 99 shareholders in total. This also suggests a lack of liquidity/ marketability for VII’s shares. 

Overall we consider that while, in principle, there is a loss of liquidity/ marketability associated with 
foregoing VII’s  ASX listing, in reality the shares have not been actively traded in a liquid market so the 
actual liquidity/ marketability lost is minimal. 

If the Proposal is approved and the Scheme proceeds, trading of SSE shares will still be possible but will be 
achieved  in  accordance  with  SSE’s  articles  requiring  a  more  involved  procedure  as  summarised  in  the  
Scheme Booklet.    

9.2. Change of jurisdiction from Australia to Singapore 

On implementation of the Scheme, shareholders will become shareholders in SSE which is incorporated in 
Singapore rather than shareholders in an Australian company.  Shareholders may be unfamiliar with the 
rights  and  obligations  applying  to  SSE  and  to  a  shareholder  in  a  Singapore  company.   Section  10  of  the  
Scheme Booklet sets out a comparison of some of the material provisions of Australian company law and 
Singaporean company law. 

9.3. Ineligible foreign shareholders 

Depending on the address recorded on VII’s share register, certain VII shareholders may be considered as 
Ineligible  Foreign  Shareholders  and  are  dealt  with  under  the  mechanisms  set  out  in  section  7.3  of  the  
Scheme Booklet. 

9.4. Taxation implications 

The taxation implications will vary between shareholders depending on each shareholder’s individual 
circumstances.  Section 9 of the Scheme booklet sets out a general guide to the tax implications. 
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10. Other key factors relevant to assessing the Proposal 

10.1. Alternative proposals 

We are unaware of any alternative proposal that might offer the Shareholders of VII a more advantageous 
outcome than that resulting from the Proposal. 

10.2. Consequences of not approving the Scheme 

Consequences 

If the Scheme is not approved: 

 VII shareholders will retain their VII shares 

 VII will continue to operate as an ASX listed entity 

 VII will continue to be the parent company for the VII group 

 There will be no change in the underlying operations of the VII group. 

Potential decline in share price 

There have been no trades in VII shares since September 2013 so it is not possible to conclude as to the 
reaction of the market to the Proposal. 
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11. Conclusion 
We have considered the terms of the Proposal as outlined in the body of this report and have concluded 
that the advantages of the Proposal outweigh the disadvantages and accordingly the Proposal is in the 
best interests of Shareholders. 

 

12. Sources of information 
This report has been based on the following information: 

 

 Draft Notice of Scheme Meeting and Explanatory Statement on or about 25 November 2013; 

 Audited financial statements of VII for the year ended 31 December 2012 

 Unaudited financial statements of VII for the six months ended 30 June 2013 

 Share registry information 

 Information in the public domain 

 Discussions with Directors and Management of VII. 

 

13. Independence 
BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  is  entitled  to  receive  a  fee  of  $24,050  (excluding  GST  and  
reimbursement of out of pocket expenses).  The fee is not contingent on the conclusion, content or future 
use of this Report.  Except for this fee, BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd has not received and will not 
receive any pecuniary or other benefit whether direct or indirect in connection with the preparation of 
this report. 

BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd has been indemnified by Vietnam Industrial  Investments Limited in 
respect of any claim arising from BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd's reliance on information provided 
by the Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited, including the non provision of material information, in 
relation to the preparation of this report. 

Prior to accepting this engagement BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd has considered its independence 
with respect to Vietnam Industrial  Investments Limited and any of its  associates with reference to ASIC 
Regulatory Guide 112 “Independence of Experts”.  In BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd’s opinion it is 
independent of Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited and its associates. 

Neither the two signatories to this  report nor BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd have had, within the 
past two years, any professional relationship with Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited or its associates, 
other than in connection with the preparation of this report. 

A  draft  of  this  report  was  provided  to  Vietnam  Industrial  Investments  Limited  and  its  advisors  for  
confirmation of the factual accuracy of its contents.  No significant changes were made to this report as a 
result of this review. 

BDO is the brand name for the BDO International network and for each of the BDO Member firms. 

BDO (Australia) Ltd, an Australian company limited by guarantee, is a member of BDO International 
Limited,  a  UK  company  limited  by  guarantee,  and  forms  part  of  the  international  BDO  network  of  



 

  20 

Independent Member Firms.  BDO in Australia, is a national association of separate entities (each of which 
has appointed BDO (Australia) Limited ACN 050 110 275 to represent it in BDO International). 

 

14. Qualifications 
BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  has  extensive  experience  in  the  provision  of  corporate  finance  
advice, particularly in respect of takeovers, mergers and acquisitions. 

BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd holds an Australian Financial Services Licence issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investment Commission for giving expert reports pursuant to the Listing rules of the ASX 
and the Corporations Act. 

The  persons  specifically  involved  in  preparing  and  reviewing  this  report  were  Adam  Myers  and  Sherif  
Andrawes of BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd.  They have significant experience in the preparation of 
independent expert reports, valuations and mergers and acquisitions advice across a wide range of 
industries in Australia and were supported by other BDO staff. 

Adam Myers is a member of the Australian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Adam’s career spans 15 
years in the Audit and Assurance and Corporate Finance areas.  Adam has considerable experience in the 
preparation of independent expert reports and valuations in general for companies in a wide number of 
industry sectors. 

Sherif Andrawes is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and a Member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.  He has over twenty five years experience working in 
the audit and corporate finance fields with BDO and its predecessor firms in London and Perth.  He has 
been responsible for over 200 public company independent expert’s reports under the Corporations Act or 
ASX Listing Rules. These experts’ reports cover a wide range of industries in Australia with a focus on 
companies in the natural resources sector.  Sherif Andrawes is the Chairman of BDO in Western Australia, 
Corporate Finance Practice Group Leader of BDO in Western Australia and the Natural Resources Leader 
for BDO in Australia. 

 

15. Disclaimers and consents 
 

This report has been prepared at the request of VII for inclusion in the Explanatory Memorandum which 
will  be  sent  to  all  VII  Shareholders.   VII  engaged  BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  to  prepare  an  
independent expert's report to consider the Proposal to reorganise its corporate structure. 

BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd hereby consents to this report accompanying the above Explanatory 
Memorandum.   Apart  from  such  use,  neither  the  whole  nor  any  part  of  this  report,  nor  any  reference  
thereto may be included in or with, or attached to any document, circular resolution, statement or letter 
without the prior written consent of BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd. 

BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  takes  no  responsibility  for  the  contents  of  the  Explanatory  
Memorandum other than this report. 

BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  has  not  independently  verified  the  information  and  explanations  
supplied to us, nor has it conducted anything in the nature of an audit or review of VII in accordance with 
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standards issued by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.  However, we have no reason to believe 
that  any  of  the  information  or  explanations  so  supplied  are  false  or  that  material  information  has  been  
withheld.  It  is  not the role of BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd acting as an independent expert to 
perform any due diligence procedures on behalf of the Company. BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd 
provides no warranty as to the adequacy, effectiveness or completeness of the due diligence process.  

The opinion of BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd is based on the market, economic and other conditions 
prevailing at the date of this report.  Such conditions can change significantly over short periods of time. 

With respect to taxation implications it is recommended that individual Shareholders obtain their own 
taxation advice, in respect of the Proposal, tailored to their own particular circumstances. Furthermore, 
the advice provided in this report does not constitute legal or taxation advice to the Shareholders of VII, 
or any other party. 

The statements and opinions included in this report are given in good faith and in the belief that they are 
not false, misleading or incomplete. 

The  terms  of  this  engagement  are  such  that  BDO  Corporate  Finance  (WA)  Pty  Ltd  has  no  obligation  to  
update this report for events occurring subsequent to the date of this report. 

 

 

 

Yours faithfully 

BDO CORPORATE FINANCE (WA) PTY LTD 

 

 

 

 

Adam Myers 

Director 

 

 

Sherif Andrawes 

Director 
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Appendix 1 – Glossary of Terms 

Reference Definition 

The Act The Corporations Act  

APES 225 Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board professional standard APES 225 

‘Valuation Services’ 

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission 

ASX Australian Securities Exchange 

BDO  BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd 

The Company Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited 

Our Report This Independent Expert’s Report prepared by BDO  

Proposal The proposed delisting and restructure of VII 

RG111 Content of expert reports (March 2011) 

RG112 Independence of experts (March 2011)  

Shareholders Shareholders of VII 

SSE Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 

VII Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited 

VWAP Volume Weighted Average Price 
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Level 27 QV.1  250 St Georges Terrace  Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box P1214  Perth  WA  6844 
T +61 8 9426 8000  F +61 8 9481 3095 
 

www.claytonutz.com 
 

 



 

  ii 

 

Contents 

1.  Definitions and interpretations .................................................................................. 1 

1.1  Definitions ...................................................................................................... 1 
1.2  Interpretation .................................................................................................. 4 
1.3  Best and reasonable endeavours .................................................................. 5 
1.4  Business Day ................................................................................................. 5 

2.  Agreement to propose and implement Scheme ....................................................... 5 

2.1  VII to propose Scheme and SSE to assist ..................................................... 5 
2.2  Agreement to implement the Scheme ........................................................... 5 
2.3  Timetable ....................................................................................................... 5 

3.  Conditions to Scheme ................................................................................................. 6 

3.1  Conditions ...................................................................................................... 6 
3.2  Best endeavours ............................................................................................ 6 
3.3  Notice in relation to satisfaction of Conditions ............................................... 7 
3.4  Waiver of Conditions ...................................................................................... 7 
3.5  Failure of Conditions ...................................................................................... 7 
3.6  Independent Expert's report ........................................................................... 7 
3.7  Certificate ....................................................................................................... 7 

4.  Implementation of Scheme ......................................................................................... 7 

4.1  VII's obligations in respect of the Scheme ..................................................... 7 
4.2  SSE's obligations in respect of the Scheme .................................................. 9 
4.3  Scheme Consideration ................................................................................ 10 
4.4  Ineligible Foreign Shareholders ................................................................... 10 
4.5  Fractional entitlements ................................................................................. 11 
4.6  Announcement of Scheme .......................................................................... 11 
4.7  Appointment of SSE directors ...................................................................... 11 

5.  Representations and Warranties ............................................................................. 11 

5.1  Mutual representations and warranties ........................................................ 11 
5.2  SSE representation and warranty ................................................................ 11 
5.3  Notifications ................................................................................................. 11 
5.4  Survival of representations and warranties .................................................. 12 

6.  Termination ................................................................................................................ 12 

6.1  Termination by VII or SSE ........................................................................... 12 
6.2  End Date ...................................................................................................... 12 
6.3  Effect of termination ..................................................................................... 12 

7.  Confidentiality ............................................................................................................ 12 

7.1  No announcement or other disclosure of transaction .................................. 12 
7.2  Permitted disclosure .................................................................................... 13 
7.3  Survival of obligations .................................................................................. 13 

8.  Notices ........................................................................................................................ 14 

8.1  How notice to be given ................................................................................ 14 
8.2  When notice taken to be received ............................................................... 14 

9.  GST ............................................................................................................................. 15 

9.1  Interpretation ................................................................................................ 15 



 

  iii 

9.2  Reimbursements and similar payments ....................................................... 15 
9.3  GST payable ................................................................................................ 15 
9.4  No Merger .................................................................................................... 16 

10.  General ....................................................................................................................... 16 

10.1  Amendments ................................................................................................ 16 
10.2  Waiver .......................................................................................................... 16 
10.3  Further acts and documents ........................................................................ 16 
10.4  Consents ...................................................................................................... 16 
10.5  Costs ............................................................................................................ 16 
10.6  Counterparts ................................................................................................ 16 
10.7  Entire agreement ......................................................................................... 16 
10.8  No assignment ............................................................................................. 17 
10.9  Severability .................................................................................................. 17 

11.  Governing law and jurisdiction ................................................................................ 17 

11.1  Governing law .............................................................................................. 17 
11.2  Jurisdiction ................................................................................................... 17 

Schedule 1 : Timetable ............................................................................................................. 18 

Annexure A : Scheme 

Annexure B : Deed Poll 

 



 

  1 

Scheme Implementation Agreement  dated 29 November 2013 

Parties Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited ACN 063 656 333 of Unit 5A, 1 
Station Street, Subiaco WA 6008, Australia (VII) 

 Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 199604844C of 10 Anson Road, #15-
07, International Plaza, Singapore 079903 (SSE) 

Background 

A. VII is a public company registered in Western Australia and admitted to the official list of the 
ASX.  As at the date of this agreement, VII has 142,277,423 VII Shares on issue.  VII does not 
have any options or other convertible securities on issue. 

B. SSE is a private, unlisted company incorporated in and registered under the laws of Singapore.  
SSE is a wholly owned Subsidiary of VII.  As at the date of this agreement, SSE has 
20,885,351 SSE Shares on issue.  SSE does not have any options or other convertible 
securities on issue.    

C. The VII Directors have resolved to propose to VII Shareholders a restructure of the VII Group 
by way of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act whereby VII will 
become a wholly owned Subsidiary of SSE, SSE will become the parent company for the VII 
Group, and VII will be delisted from the ASX.  

D. VII and SSE have agreed in good faith to implement the Scheme upon the terms and 
conditions in this agreement.  

Operative provisions 

1. Definitions and interpretations 

1.1 Definitions 

In this agreement: 

Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority means the body corporate established and 
incorporated under section 3 of the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Act, 
Chapter 2A with its functions and powers granted under the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority Act to act as the national regulator of business entities and public 
accountants in Singapore. 

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

ASX means ASX Limited ACN 008 624 691 or the Australian Securities Exchange, as 
appropriate. 

ASX Listing Rules means the official listing rules of ASX. 

Business Day is any day that is both a Business Day within the meaning given in the ASX 
Listing Rules and a day that banks in Perth, Western Australia and Singapore are open for 
business. 

Condition means a condition to the Scheme set out in clause 3.1.  

Conversion Certificate means a certificate issued by the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority confirming SSE has been converted into a public company in accordance 
with the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore. 
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Corporations Act means the Australian Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Corporations Regulations means the Australian Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth). 

Court means the Federal Court of Australia or such other court of competent jurisdiction as 
VII and SSE agree in writing.  

Deed Poll means a deed poll to be executed by SSE in favour of Scheme Shareholders, 
substantially in the form set out in Annexure B or in such other form as VII and SSE agree in 
writing. 

Effective means, when used in relation to the Scheme, the coming into effect, pursuant to 
section 411(10) of the Corporations Act, of the order of the Court made under section 
411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act in relation to the Scheme. 

Effective Date means the date on which the Scheme becomes Effective. 

End Date means 31 May 2014 or such later date agreed by the parties in writing.   

First Court Date means the first day of hearing of an application made to the Court for orders 
pursuant to section 411(1) of the Corporations Act convening the Scheme Meeting or, if the 
hearing of such application is adjourned for any reason, means the first day of the adjourned 
hearing. 

Implementation Date means the date which is 2 Business Days after the Conversion 
Certificate is issued in accordance with clause 4.2(h)(i). 

Independent Expert means the independent expert to be engaged by VII to express an 
opinion on whether the Scheme is in the best interests of VII Shareholders. 

Independent Expert's Report means the report from the Independent Expert for inclusion in 
the Scheme Booklet, and any updates to such report that the Independent Expert issues. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholder means a VII Shareholder whose address as shown on the VII 
Share Register on the Record Date is a place outside Australia and its external territories, 
Singapore, Belgium, Malaysia, the Republic of Philippines and Vietnam, unless SSE and VII 
are satisfied, acting reasonably, that the laws of that VII Shareholder's country of residence (as 
shown on the VII Share Register) permit the transfer of SSE Shares to that VII Shareholder, 
either unconditionally or after compliance with conditions which SSE in its sole discretion 
regards as acceptable. 

Proceeds means the proceeds of the SSE Shares sold by the Sale Nominee in respect of 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, in Australian dollars, less any applicable brokerage, stamp 
duty and other selling costs, taxes and charges. 

Record Date means 5.00 pm on the date which is 5 Business Days after the Effective Date. 

Regulatory Authority means: 

(a) any government, semi-government or local authority and any department, minister 
or agency of any government; and 

(b) any other authority, agency, commission, administrative, fiscal or judicial body 
(including the Court), tribunal or similar entity having powers or jurisdiction under 
any law or regulation or the listing rules of any recognised stock or securities 
exchange, including without limitation the ASX. 
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Regulatory Guides means all regulatory guides published by ASIC and in force at the date of 
this agreement.  

Related Body Corporate has the meaning given in section 9 of the Corporations Act. 

Representative means, in respect of a party: 

(a) its Related Bodies Corporate; and 

(b) each director, officer, employee, advisor, agent or representative of that party and 
its Related Bodies Corporate. 

Sale Nominee has the meaning given in clause 4.4(a). 

Scheme means the scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act between VII 
and the Scheme Shareholders, substantially in the form set out in Annexure A or in such other 
form as VII and SSE agree in writing, pursuant to which all Scheme Shares will be transferred 
to SSE on the Implementation Date. 

Scheme Booklet means, in respect of the Scheme, the information booklet to be approved by 
the Court and despatched to VII Shareholders, which must: 

(a) include the Scheme, an explanatory statement complying with the requirements of 
the Corporations Act and notice(s) of meeting and proxy form(s); and 

(b) comply with the Corporations Act, Corporations Regulations, ASIC Regulatory 
Guide 60 and the ASX Listing Rules.  

Scheme Consideration means 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held by a Scheme 
Shareholder as at the Record Date.  

Scheme Meeting means the meeting of VII Shareholders to be convened by the Court in 
relation to the Scheme pursuant to section 411(1) of the Corporations Act. 

Scheme Share means each VII Share on issue on the Record Date. 

Scheme Shareholder means each person who is registered in the VII Share Register as a 
holder of a Scheme Share as at the Record Date. 

Second Court Date means the first day of hearing of an application made to the Court for an 
order pursuant to section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act approving the Scheme or, if the 
hearing of such application is adjourned for any reason, means the first day of the adjourned 
hearing. 

SSE Board means the board of directors of SSE.  

SSE Information means all information regarding SSE and its Related Bodies Corporate and 
the Scheme Consideration that is required by all applicable Australian laws, the ASX Listing 
Rules and the Regulatory Guides to be included in the Scheme Booklet (and any other 
information regarding SSE or SSE Shares that VII or any of its Representatives reasonably 
requests) including all the information that would be required: 

(a) under section 636(1)(c), (g), (h), (i), (k), (l) and (m) of the Corporations Act to be 
included in SSE's bidder's statement if SSE were offering the Scheme Consideration 
as consideration under a takeover bid; and 

(b) to ensure the Scheme Booklet complies with the requirements of section 411(3) of 
the Corporations Act.  
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SSE Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of SSE. 

Subsidiary has the meaning given in section 9 of the Corporations Act. 

Timetable means the indicative timetable in relation to the Scheme set out in Schedule 1, or 
such other indicative timetable as may be agreed in writing by the parties. 

VII Director means a director of VII. 

VII Group means VII and each of its Subsidiaries. 

VII Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of VII. 

VII Shareholder means a person who is registered as a holder of VII Shares. 

VII Share Register means the register of members of VII maintained by or on behalf of VII in 
accordance with section 168(1) of the Corporations Act. 

1.2 Interpretation 

In this agreement headings and words in bold are for convenience only and do not affect the 
interpretation of this agreement and, unless the contrary intention appears: 

(a) a word importing the singular includes the plural and vice versa, and a word of any 
gender includes the corresponding words of any other gender; 

(b) the word including or any other form of that word is not a word of limitation; 

(c) if a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or 
grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning; 

(d) a reference to a person includes an individual, the estate of an individual, a 
corporation, an authority, an association or a joint venture (whether incorporated or 
unincorporated), a partnership and a trust; 

(e) a reference to a party includes a reference to that party's executors, administrators, 
successors and permitted assigns, including persons taking by way of novation and, 
in the case of a trustee, includes any substituted or additional trustee; 

(f) a reference to a document (including this agreement) is to that document as varied, 
novated, ratified or replaced from time to time; 

(g) a reference to a party, clause, schedule, exhibit, attachment or annexure is a 
reference to a party, clause, schedule, exhibit, attachment or annexure to or of this 
agreement, and a reference to this agreement includes all schedules, exhibits, 
attachments and annexures to it; 

(h) a reference to a statute includes any regulations or other instruments made under it  
and a reference to a statute or any regulation or other instrument made under it or a 
provision of any such statute, regulation or instrument includes consolidations, 
amendments, re-enactments and replacements; 

(i) a reference to a liability incurred by any person includes any liability of that person 
arising from or in connection with any obligation (including indemnities and all 
other obligations owed as principal or guarantor) whether liquidated or not, whether 
present, prospective or contingent and whether owed, incurred or imposed by or to 
or on account of or for the account of that person alone, severally or jointly or 
jointly and severally with any other person; 
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(j) a reference to a loss incurred by any person includes any loss, liability, damage, 
cost, charge, expense which the person pays, incurs or is liable for and any other 
diminution of value of any description which the person suffers, including all 
liabilities on account of taxes or duties, all interest, penalties, fines and other 
amounts payable to third parties and all legal expenses (on a full indemnity basis 
without necessity of taxation) and other expenses in connection with investigating 
or defending any claim, action, demand or proceeding, whether or not resulting in 
any liability, and all amounts paid in settlement of any such claims; 

(k) a reference to a date or time is a reference to that date or time in Perth, Western 
Australia; 

(l) a reference to A$ or dollar is to Australian currency; and 

(m) this agreement must not be construed adversely to a party just because that party 
prepared it or caused it to be prepared. 

1.3 Best and reasonable endeavours 

Any provision of this agreement which requires a party to use best endeavours or reasonable 
endeavours or to take all steps reasonably necessary to procure that something is performed or 
occurs does not include any obligation: 

(a) to pay any money or to provide any financial compensation, valuable consideration 
or any other incentive to or for the benefit of any person; or 

(b) to commence any legal action or proceeding against any person, to procure that that 
thing is done or happens, except for payment of any applicable fee for the 
lodgement or filing of any relevant application with any Regulatory Authority or 
any other amount required to be paid to a Regulatory Authority in order to 
complete the transactions contemplated in this agreement, 

except where that provision expressly specifies otherwise. 

1.4 Business Day 

Except where otherwise expressly provided, where under this agreement the day on which any 
act, matter or thing is to be done is a day other than a Business Day, such act, matter or thing 
shall be done on the immediately following Business Day. 

2. Agreement to propose and implement Scheme 

2.1 VII to propose Scheme and SSE to assist 

VII agrees to propose and (subject to it becoming Effective) implement the Scheme on and 
subject to the terms and conditions of this agreement.  SSE agrees to assist VII to propose the 
Scheme on and subject to the terms and conditions of this agreement.  

2.2 Agreement to implement the Scheme 

Subject to it becoming Effective, the parties agree to implement the Scheme generally on the 
terms and conditions set out in this agreement.  

2.3 Timetable 

Each party agrees to use its best endeavours to complete its obligations under this agreement 
substantially in accordance with the Timetable. 
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3. Conditions to Scheme 

3.1 Conditions 

The Scheme will not become Effective until each of the following Conditions have been 
fulfilled or waived in accordance with clause 3.4: 

(a) (Independent Expert's Report) before the date on which the Scheme Booklet is 
lodged with ASIC the Independent Expert issues the Independent Expert's Report, 
which concludes that the Scheme is in the best interests of the VII Shareholders, 
and the Independent Expert does not change or withdraw its opinion prior to 8.00 
am on the Second Court Date; 

(b) (VII Shareholder approval) VII Shareholders approve the Scheme by the 
majorities required under section 411(4)(a) of the Corporations Act in relation to 
the Scheme Meeting convened by the Court; 

(c) (Court approval) the Court approves the Scheme in accordance with section 
411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act; 

(d) (ASIC approvals) before 8.00 am on the Second Court Date, ASIC has issued or 
provided such consents, waivers or approvals or done such other things as are 
reasonably necessary to implement the Scheme; 

(e) (No restraints) no Regulatory Authority has: 

(i) undertaken a judicial proceeding seeking to enjoin, restrain or otherwise 
prohibit or impose adverse conditions on the Scheme which remain in 
effect as at 8.00 am on the Second Court Date; 

(ii) issued an order, decree or ruling prohibiting or imposing adverse 
conditions on or otherwise preventing completion of the Scheme which 
remains in effect as at 8:00 am on the Second Court Date; or 

(iii) declined to issue an order, decree, ruling, notification or communication 
by 8.00 am on the Second Court Date that is required for the Scheme to 
be implemented in accordance with this agreement. 

3.2 Best endeavours 

Subject to clause 3.5 each of VII and SSE will use its best endeavours to: 

(a) procure that each of the Conditions are satisfied as soon as practicable after the date 
of executing this agreement to the extent it is within their respective control or 
continues to be satisfied at all times until the last time it is to be satisfied (as the 
case may require); and 

(b) not take any action or refrain from taking any action that will or is likely to hinder 
or prevent the satisfaction of the Conditions without the prior consent of the other 
party, except to the extent that such action is required to be done or procured to, or 
is otherwise permitted by, or is required by law.  
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3.3 Notice in relation to satisfaction of Conditions 

Each party must: 

(a) keep the other promptly and reasonably informed of the steps it has taken and of its 
material progress towards satisfaction of the Conditions; and 

(b) in relation to any Condition notify the other party in writing upon becoming aware 
of: 

(i) the satisfaction of that Condition, in which case the notifying party must 
also provide reasonable evidence the Condition has been satisfied; and 

(ii) any fact or circumstance which results in that Condition becoming 
incapable of satisfaction or may result in that Condition not being 
satisfied in accordance with its terms.  

3.4 Waiver of Conditions 

The Conditions are for the benefit of each party and any breach or non-fulfilment of those 
Conditions may only be waived with the written consent of both parties.  The Conditions in 
clauses 3.1(b), 3.1(c) and 3.1(d) are not capable of waiver. 

3.5 Failure of Conditions 

If any of the Conditions are not satisfied or waived by the date specified in this agreement for 
its satisfaction, then either party may terminate this agreement and this agreement will be of no 
further force or effect, but that termination will not affect any right or claim of any party of this 
agreement which has arisen before termination. 

3.6 Independent Expert's report 

Notwithstanding clause 3.2 or any other provision of this agreement, VII will be under no 
obligation to apply for orders from the Court convening the Scheme Meeting, or take any other 
steps to obtain the approval of VII Shareholders, if the Independent Expert's Report concludes 
that the Scheme is not in the best interests of VII Shareholders.  

3.7 Certificate 

VII (and, if necessary for the Scheme to proceed, SSE) must provide to the Court at the Second 
Court Date a certificate confirming that all Conditions (other than the Condition referred to in 
clause 3.1(c)) have been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms of this agreement. 

4. Implementation of Scheme  

4.1 VII's obligations in respect of the Scheme  

VII must take all steps reasonably necessary to propose and implement the Scheme as soon as 
is reasonably practicable after the date of this agreement and so as to complete the transaction 
substantially in accordance with the Timetable (unless otherwise agreed by the parties acting 
reasonably and in good faith), and in particular VII must: 

(a) (Scheme Booklet) prepare the Scheme Booklet in accordance with the 
requirements of all applicable laws, the Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules 
and the Regulatory Guides, provide a draft to SSE and provide SSE with a 
reasonable opportunity to provide suggested amendments to that draft prior to the 
provision of a draft to ASIC under clause 4.1(c) and if such suggested amendments 
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relate to the SSE Information, VII must consider in good faith such suggested 
amendments unless such suggested amendments would render the Scheme Booklet 
misleading or deceptive; 

(b) (Independent Expert) promptly appoint the Independent Expert and provide all 
assistance and information reasonably requested by the Independent Expert in 
connection with the preparation of the Independent Expert's Report for inclusion in 
the Scheme Booklet; 

(c) (ASIC review) as soon as reasonably practicable but no later than 14 days before 
the First Court Date provide an advanced draft of the Scheme Booklet to ASIC for 
its review and approval for the purposes of section 411(2) of the Corporations Act, 
and to SSE; 

(d) (Section 411(17)(b) statement) apply to ASIC for the production of statements in 
writing pursuant to section 411(17)(b) of the Corporations Act stating that ASIC 
has no objection to the Scheme; 

(e) (First Court Date) provided that the confirmation referred to in clause 4.2(d)(i) 
has been received, lodge all documents with the Court and take all other reasonable 
steps to ensure that an application is heard by the Court for an order under section 
411(1) of the Corporations Act directing VII to convene the Scheme Meeting; 

(f) (Register Scheme Booklet) request ASIC to register the explanatory statement 
included in the Scheme Booklet in relation to the Scheme in accordance with 
section 412(6) of the Corporations Act; 

(g) (Compliance with Court orders) take all steps necessary to comply with the 
orders of the Court including, as required, despatching the Scheme Booklet to the 
VII Shareholders, and convening and holding the Scheme Meeting; 

(h) (Scheme Meeting) seek approval of the resolution submitted to the VII 
Shareholders at the Scheme Meeting;  

(i) (Court approval application) if the resolution submitted to the VII Shareholders 
at the Scheme Meeting in relation to the Scheme is passed by the majorities 
required under section 411(4)(a) of the Corporations Act, apply to the Court for 
orders approving the Scheme; 

(j) (Implementation of Scheme) if the Scheme is approved by the Court: 

(i) promptly lodge with ASIC an office copy of the orders approving the 
Scheme in accordance with section 411(10) of the Corporations Act; 

(ii) close the VII Share Register on the Record Date and determine 
entitlements to the Scheme Consideration in accordance with the Scheme 
and provide such information to SSE (or its share registry) in such form 
as SSE may reasonably require to facilitate the payment of the Scheme 
Consideration; 

(iii) promptly register all transfers of Scheme Shares to SSE in accordance 
with the Scheme; 

(iv) take all reasonable steps to maintain VII 's listing on ASX up to and 
including the Implementation Date, including making appropriate 
applications to ASX;  
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(v) promptly do all other things contemplated by or necessary to give effect 
to the Scheme and the orders of the Court approving the Scheme; and 

(k) (Keep informed) from the First Court Date until the Implementation Date, 
promptly inform SSE if it becomes aware that the Scheme Booklet contains a 
statement which is misleading or deceptive in a material respect or contains a 
material omission. 

4.2 SSE's obligations in respect of the Scheme  

SSE must take all steps reasonably necessary to assist VII to implement the Scheme as soon as 
is reasonably practicable and so as to complete the transaction substantially in accordance with 
the Timetable, and in particular SSE must: 

(a) (SSE Information) provide to VII the SSE Information requested by VII in a form 
specified by VII as appropriate for inclusion in the Scheme Booklet (including, 
subject to clauses 4.1(a) and 4.2(d), consenting to the form and context in which the 
SSE Information appears in the Scheme Booklet in reasonable time to allow VII to 
prepare the final form of the Scheme Booklet in accordance with this agreement); 

(b) (Independent Expert) promptly provide all assistance and information reasonably 
requested by the Independent Expert to enable it to prepare the Independent 
Expert's Report; 

(c) (Review Scheme Booklet) as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt from VII 
of a draft of the Scheme Booklet in accordance with clause 4.1(a), provide any 
suggested changes to the SSE Information in that draft; 

(d) (Approval of SSE Information) as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt 
from VII of the draft of the Scheme Booklet provided in accordance with clause 
4.1(c), either: 

(i) confirm in writing to VII that the SSE Information in the form and 
context in which it appears in the Scheme Booklet is not misleading or 
deceptive in any material respect and does not contain any material 
omission; or 

(ii) provide to VII the changes required to ensure that the SSE Information 
in the form and context in which it appears in the Scheme Booklet is not 
misleading or deceptive and does not contain any material omission; 

(e) (Keep informed) provide to VII all such further or new information of which SSE 
becomes aware after the First Court Date until the Implementation Date that is 
required to ensure that the SSE Information in the form and context in which it 
appears in the Scheme Booklet is not misleading or deceptive in any material 
respect and does not contain any material omission; 

(f) (Deed Poll) prior to the First Court Date, enter into the Deed Poll and deliver an 
executed version to VII; 

(g) (Second Court Date) undertake (if requested by the Court) to do all such things 
and take all such steps within its power as may be reasonably necessary in order to 
ensure the fulfilment of its obligations under this agreement and the Scheme;  
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(h) (Implementation of the Scheme) if the Scheme becomes Effective: 

(i) by no later than 5.00 pm on the date which is 20 Business Days after the 
Second Court Date, provide to VII the Conversion Certificate;  

(ii) by no later than 5.00 pm on the date which is 20 Business Days after the 
Second Court Date, allot and issue the requisite number of SSE Shares 
(on terms such that each SSE Share will rank equally in all respects with 
each existing SSE Share) to VII to enable SSE to provide or cause to be 
provided the Scheme Consideration to Scheme Shareholders on the 
Implementation Date; 

(iii) provide or cause to be provided the Scheme Consideration on the 
Implementation Date in accordance with the Scheme; and 

(iv) accept a transfer of all Scheme Shares in accordance with the Scheme. 

4.3 Scheme Consideration 

(a) SSE agrees (and covenants in favour of VII) that in consideration for the transfer to 
SSE of Scheme Shares held by Scheme Shareholders under the terms of the 
Scheme, SSE will, subject to the Scheme becoming Effective and clause 4.4, 
provide or cause to be provided the Scheme Consideration to Scheme Shareholders 
(for each Scheme Share held on the Record Date) on the Implementation Date. 

(b) Subject to the Scheme becoming Effective, SSE must ensure that each SSE Share 
will be fully paid and free from any mortgage, charge, lien, encumbrance or other 
security interest. 

4.4 Ineligible Foreign Shareholders 

(a) SSE will be under no obligation under the Scheme to provide or cause to be 
provided any SSE Shares to any Ineligible Foreign Shareholder, and instead SSE 
will transfer or cause to be transferred the SSE Shares to which the Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholder would otherwise have been entitled to a VII appointed 
nominee (Sale Nominee). 

(b) VII will procure that, as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event not more 
than 15 Business Days after the Implementation Date, the Sale Nominee uses its 
best endeavours to sell the SSE Shares transferred to the Sale Nominee pursuant to 
clause 4.4(a) in accordance with the process set out in clause 5.6 of the Scheme.  

(c) In the event that SSE Shares remain unsold by the Sale Nominee in accordance 
with clause 4.4(b), VII will procure that Corbyns International Limited (registered 
number 1374080) will, as soon as reasonably practicable, purchase all of the 
remaining SSE Shares from the Sale Nominee. 

(d) Promptly after the last sale of SSE Shares in accordance with clause 4.4(b) or 
clause 4.4(c) (as applicable), VII will procure that the Sale Nominee pay to each 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholder the proportion of the Proceeds to which the 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholder is entitled. 
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4.5 Fractional entitlements 

If the number of Scheme Shares held by a Scheme Shareholder is such that the aggregate 
entitlement of that Scheme Shareholder to SSE Shares is not a whole number, then the 
entitlement in each case must be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number, with 
fractions of 0.5 being rounded up. 

4.6 Announcement of Scheme 

Immediately after the execution of this agreement, VII must issue a public announcement on 
the ASX regarding the Scheme. 

4.7 Appointment of SSE directors 

As soon as practicable after the Second Court Date, SSE will take all necessary actions to 
cause the appointment of Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok and Andrew David Walker to the SSE 
Board.  

5. Representations and Warranties  

5.1 Mutual representations and warranties 

Each party represents and warrants to the other as at the date of execution of this agreement 
and the Second Court Date that: 

(a) it is a validly existing corporation registered under the laws of its place of 
incorporation; 

(b) the execution and delivery of this agreement by it has been properly authorised by 
all necessary corporate action and it has full corporate power and lawful authority 
to execute and deliver this agreement and to perform or cause to be performed its 
obligations under this agreement; and 

(c) (subject to laws generally affecting creditors' rights and the principles of equity) 
this agreement constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations on it and this 
agreement does not result in a breach or default under any agreement or deed or 
any writ, order or injunction, rule or regulation to which it or any of its Subsidiaries 
is a party or to which they are bound. 

5.2 SSE representation and warranty 

SSE represents and warrants to VII as at the date of execution of this agreement and the 
Second Court Date that all transactions contemplated in this agreement do not amount to an 
offer of securities under the Securities and Futures Act, (Chapter 289) of Singapore and do not 
have any substantial and foreseeable effect in Singapore, and that the extra-territorial provision 
under section 339 of the Securities and Futures Act, (Chapter 289) of Singapore is not 
applicable.  

5.3 Notifications 

Each party will promptly advise the other in writing if it becomes aware of any fact, matter or 
circumstance which constitutes or may constitute a breach of any of the representations or 
warranties given by it under this clause 5. 
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5.4 Survival of representations and warranties 

Each representation and warranty in clauses 5.1 and 5.2: 

(a) is severable; 

(b) will survive the termination of this agreement; and 

(c) is given with the intent that liability thereunder will not be confined to breaches 
which are discovered prior to the date of termination of this agreement.  

6. Termination 

6.1 Termination by VII or SSE 

Unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing, either VII or SSE may terminate this 
agreement by giving written notice to the other party at any time prior to the Effective Date if: 

(a) the other party is in material breach of any clause, including a warranty, of this 
agreement which is incapable of being remedied, or if the breach is capable of 
being remedied, continues to exist for more than 10 Business Days; 

(b) the Court or other Regulatory Authority has issued a final and non-appealable 
order, decree or ruling or taken other action which permanently restrains or 
prohibits the Scheme; or 

(c) any Condition has not been satisfied or waived in accordance with this agreement.  

6.2 End Date 

This agreement will terminate and be of no further force or effect if the Implementation Date 
has not occurred on or before the End Date. 

6.3 Effect of termination 

In the event of termination of this agreement by either VII or SSE pursuant to this clause 6, 
this agreement will become void and have no effect, other than: 

(a) this clause 6 and clauses 1, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 which shall survive termination; 
and 

(b) in respect of any liability for an antecedent breach of this agreement. 

7. Confidentiality  

7.1 No announcement or other disclosure of transaction 

Except as permitted by clause 7.2, the parties must keep confidential, and must procure that 
each of their respective Representatives keeps confidential, all negotiations between the parties 
in relation to the subject matter of this agreement and all other information given to it under, or 
in connection with, this agreement or the Scheme. 



 

  13 

7.2 Permitted disclosure 

Clause 7.1 does not prevent a person from disclosing matters referred to therein: 

(a) if disclosure is required to be made by applicable law, by a Regulatory Authority or 
by the rules of a recognised stock or securities exchange and the party whose 
obligation it is to keep matters confidential or procure that those matters are kept 
confidential: 

(i) has not through any voluntary act or omission (other than the execution 
of this agreement and the performance by the parties of their obligations 
under it) caused the disclosure obligation to arise; and 

(ii) has before disclosure is made notified each other party of the 
requirement to disclose and, where the relevant law or rules permit and 
where practicable to do so, given each other party a reasonable 
opportunity to comment on the requirement for and proposed content of 
the proposed disclosure; 

(b) if disclosure is made by way of a written announcement the terms of which have 
been agreed in writing by the parties prior to the making of the announcement of 
the Scheme; 

(c) if disclosure is reasonably required to enable a party to perform its obligations or 
enforce its rights under this agreement; 

(d) under corresponding obligations of confidence as imposed by this clause, to a 
Related Body Corporate of the party, and the officers and employees of such 
persons to the extent the person considers that the disclosure is necessary or 
desirable for the purposes of the Scheme and disclosure is only made to that extent; 

(e) to any professional adviser of a party who has been retained to advise in relation to 
the Scheme or to the auditor of a party; 

(f) with the prior written approval of each party other than the party whose obligation 
it is to keep those matters confidential or procure that those matters are kept 
confidential; or 

(g) where the matter has come into the public domain or the lawful possession of the 
party otherwise than as a result of a breach by the party of this agreement. 

7.3 Survival of obligations 

The rights and obligations of the parties under this clause 7 survive termination of this 
agreement. 
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8. Notices 

8.1 How notice to be given 

Each communication (including each notice, consent, approval, request and demand) under or 
in connection with this agreement: 

(a) must be in writing; 

(b) must be addressed as follows (or as otherwise notified by that party to each other 
party from time to time): 

(i) if to VII: 

Address: Unit 5A, 1 Station Street 
Subiaco WA 6008 
AUSTRALIA 

Fax number:  +61 (8) 9388 9155 

For the attention of: Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok 
 

(ii) if to SSE: 

Address: Km 9, Vat Cach, Quan Toan 
Hong Bang TP 
Hai Phong  
VIETNAM 

Fax number:  +84 (31) 3850828 

For the attention of: Alan Alexander Young 

(c) must be signed by the party making it or (on that party's behalf) by the solicitor for, 
or any attorney, director, secretary or authorised agent of, that party; and 

(d) must be delivered by hand or posted by prepaid post to the address, or sent by fax 
to the fax number of the addressee, in accordance with clause 8.1(b). 

8.2 When notice taken to be received 

Each communication (including each notice, consent, approval, request and demand) under or 
in connection with this agreement is taken to be received by the addressee: 

(a) (in the case of prepaid post sent to an address in the same country) on the third day 
after the date of posting; 

(b) (in the case of prepaid post sent to an address in another country) on the fifth day 
after the date of posting by airmail; 

(c) (in the case of fax) at the time in the place to which it is sent equivalent to the time 
shown on the transmission confirmation report produced by the fax machine from 
which it was sent; and 

(d) (in the case of delivery by hand) on delivery, 
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but if communications are received or taken to be received after 5.00 pm in the place of receipt 
or on a non-Business Day, they are taken to be received at 9.00 am on the next Business Day 
and take effect from that time unless a later time is specified. 

9. GST  

9.1 Interpretation 

(a) Except where the context suggests otherwise, and subject to clause 9.1(b), terms 
used in this clause 9 have the meaning given to those terms by the A New Tax 
System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (as amended from time to time). 

(b) "Input tax credit" has the meaning given by the A New Tax System (Goods and 
Services Tax) Act 1999 and a reference to an input tax credit entitlement of an 
entity includes an input tax credit for an acquisition made by that entity but to 
which another member of the same GST group is entitled. 

(c) Any part of a supply that is treated as a separate supply for GST purposes 
(including attributing GST payable to tax periods) will be treated as a separate 
supply for the purposes of this clause. 

(d) Any consideration that is specified to be inclusive of GST must not be taken into 
account in calculating the GST payable in relation to a supply for the purposes of 
this clause. 

9.2 Reimbursements and similar payments 

Any payment or reimbursement required to be made under this agreement is calculated by 
reference to a cost, expense, or other amount paid or incurred and will be limited to the total 
cost, expense or amount less the amount of any input tax credit to which an entity is entitled 
for the acquisition to which the cost, expense or amount relates. 

9.3 GST payable  

(a) If GST is payable in relation to a taxable supply made under or in connection with 
this agreement, then any party (Recipient) that is required to provide consideration 
to another party (Supplier) for that supply must, subject to clause 9.3(b), pay an 
additional amount to the Supplier equal to the amount of that GST at the same time 
as other consideration is to be provided for that supply. 

(b) No payment of any amount pursuant to clause 9.3(a) is required until the Supplier 
has provided a valid tax invoice to the Recipient. 

(c) Where additional amounts are payable between parties to this agreement pursuant 
to clause 9.3(a), amounts so payable, to the extent they are equivalent in amount, 
shall be set off against each other as if paid and each party shall be obliged only to 
provide the tax invoice referred to in clause 9.3(b) no later than the time at which 
any consideration is to be first provided for that supply. 

(d) If the GST payable in relation to a supply made under or in connection with this 
agreement varies from the additional amount paid by the Recipient under clause 
9.3(a) then the Supplier must promptly issue an adjustment note to the Recipient 
and will provide a corresponding refund or credit to, or will be entitled to receive 
the amount of that variation from, the Recipient. Any payment, credit or refund 
under this paragraph is deemed to be a payment, credit or refund of the additional 
amount payable under clause 9.3(a). 
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9.4 No Merger 

This clause shall not merge on completion of this agreement. 

10. General 

10.1 Amendments 

This agreement may only be varied by a document signed by or on behalf of each party. 

10.2 Waiver 

(a) Failure to exercise or enforce, or a delay in exercising or enforcing, or the partial 
exercise or enforcement of, a right, power or remedy provided by law or under this 
agreement by a party does not preclude, or operate as a waiver of, the exercise or 
enforcement, or further exercise or enforcement, of that or any other right, power or 
remedy provided by law or under this agreement. 

(b) A waiver or consent given by a party under this agreement is only effective and 
binding on that party if it is given or confirmed in writing by that party. 

(c) No waiver of a breach of a term of this agreement operates as a waiver of another 
breach of that term or of a breach of any other term of this agreement. 

10.3 Further acts and documents 

Each party must promptly do all further acts and execute and deliver all further documents (in 
a form and content reasonably satisfactory to that party) required by law or reasonably 
requested by the other party to give effect to this agreement. 

10.4 Consents 

A consent required under this agreement from a party may not be unreasonably withheld, 
unless this agreement expressly provides otherwise. 

10.5 Costs 

Except as otherwise provided in this agreement, VII will pay all costs and expenses in 
connection with negotiating, preparing, executing and performing this agreement. 

10.6 Counterparts 

(a) This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties 
on separate counterparts.   

(b) Each counterpart constitutes an original of this agreement, and all together 
constitute one agreement. 

10.7 Entire agreement 

This agreement embodies the entire understanding of VII and SSE and constitutes the entire 
terms agreed by VII and SSE in relation to the subject matter of this agreement and together 
supersede any prior written or other agreement between VII and SSE in relation to that subject 
matter. 



 

  17 

10.8 No assignment  

A party cannot assign, novate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this 
agreement without the prior consent of each other party. 

10.9 Severability  

If any provision of this agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable, then such provision 
shall (so far as it is invalid or unenforceable) be given no effect and shall be deemed not to be 
included in this agreement but without invalidating any of the remaining provisions of this 
agreement. 

11. Governing law and jurisdiction 

11.1 Governing law 

This agreement is governed by and must be construed according to the law applying in the 
state of Western Australia. 

11.2 Jurisdiction 

Each party irrevocably: 

(a) submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the state of Western 
Australia, and the courts competent to determine appeals from those courts, with 
respect to any proceedings that may be brought at any time relating to this 
agreement; and 

(b) waives any objection it may now or in the future have to the venue of any 
proceedings, and any claim it may now or in the future have that any proceedings 
have been brought in an inconvenient forum, if that venue falls within 
clause 11.2(a). 
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Schedule 1 : 
Timetable 

Event Indicative Date 

Lodge Scheme Booklet with ASIC 29 November 2013 

First Court Date 19 December 2013 

Complete printing and despatch of Scheme Booklet 3 January 2014 

Scheme Meeting 4 February 2014 

Second Court Date 6 February 2014 

Lodge Court order with ASIC (Effective Date) 7 February 2014 

Record Date 14 February 2014 

Conversion of SSE to a public company in Singapore  By 7 March 2014 

Implementation Date By 11 March 2014 
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Scheme of Arrangement made under section 411 of the Corporations Act 

Parties Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited (ACN 063 656 333) of Unit 5A, 1 
Station Street, Subiaco WA 6008 (VII) 

Each Scheme Shareholder 

Recitals 

A. VII is a public company registered in the state of Western Australia and admitted to the official 
list of the ASX.  

B. Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd (SSE) is a private, unlisted company incorporated in and 
registered under the laws of Singapore.  SSE is a wholly owned Subsidiary of VII.   

C. VII and SSE have entered into a scheme implementation agreement dated 29 November 2013 
(Scheme Implementation Agreement) pursuant to which each of VII and SSE has agreed to 
take certain steps to give effect to the Scheme. 

D. If the Scheme becomes Effective, then: 

(a) all of the Scheme Shares will be transferred to SSE and the Scheme Consideration 
will be provided to the Scheme Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of 
the Scheme; and 

(b) on the Implementation Date, VII will enter the name and address of SSE in the VII 
Share Register as the holder of all of the Scheme Shares. 

E. SSE has entered into the Deed Poll for the purpose of covenanting in favour of Scheme 
Shareholders to perform the obligations contemplated of it under the Scheme. 

1. Definitions and interpretation 

1.1 Definitions 

In this Scheme, unless the contrary intention appears or the context requires otherwise: 

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

ASX means ASX Limited ACN 008 624 691 or the Australian Securities Exchange, as 
appropriate.  

ASX Listing Rules means the official listing rules of ASX.  

Business Day is any day that is both a Business Day within the meaning given in the ASX 
Listing Rules and a day that banks in Perth, Western Australia and Singapore are open for 
business. 

Condition means a condition to the Scheme set out in clause 2.1. 

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Court means the Federal Court of Australia or such other court of competent jurisdiction as 
VII and SSE agree in writing. 

Deed Poll means the deed poll to be executed by SSE in favour of the Scheme Shareholders 
prior to the First Court Date. 
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Effective means the coming into effect, pursuant to section 411(10) of the Corporations Act, 
of the order of the Court made under section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act in relation to 
the Scheme. 

Effective Date means the date on which the Scheme becomes Effective. 

Encumbrance means a mortgage, hypothec, charge, pledge, lien, encumbrance, security 
interest, title retention, preferential right, trust arrangement, contractual right of set-off, or any 
other security agreement or arrangement in favour of any person, whether registered or 
unregistered, including any Security Interest. 

End Date has the meaning given in the Scheme Implementation Agreement. 

Implementation Date has the meaning given in the Scheme Implementation Agreement. 

Ineligible Foreign Shareholder means a VII Shareholder whose address as shown in the VII 
Share Register on the Record Date is a place outside Australia and its external territories, 
Singapore, Belgium, Malaysia, the Republic of Philippines and Vietnam unless SSE and VII 
are satisfied, acting reasonably, that the laws of that VII Shareholder's country of residence (as 
shown in the VII Share Register) permit the transfer of SSE Shares to that VII Shareholder, 
either unconditionally or after compliance with conditions which SSE in its sole discretion 
regards as acceptable. 

Proceeds means the proceeds of the SSE Shares sold by the Sale Nominee in respect of 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, in Australian dollars, less any applicable brokerage, stamp 
duty and other selling costs, taxes and charges. 

Record Date means 5.00 pm on the date which is 5 Business Days after the Effective Date.  

Registered Address means, in relation to a VII Shareholder, the address of that VII 
Shareholder shown in the VII Share Register as at the Record Date. 

Sale Nominee means the person appointed by VII to sell the SSE Shares that are attributable 
to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders under the terms of the Scheme.  

Scheme means the scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act between VII 
and Scheme Shareholders as set out in this document, subject to any alterations or conditions 
made or required by the Court pursuant to section 411(6) of the Corporations Act and 
approved in writing by SSE and VII. 

Scheme Consideration means 1 SSE Share for every 6.8 VII Shares held by a Scheme 
Shareholder as at the Record Date.   

Scheme Implementation Agreement has the meaning given in Recital C. 

Scheme Meeting means the meeting of VII Shareholders ordered by the Court in relation to 
the Scheme convened under section 411(1) of the Corporations Act. 

Scheme Share means each VII Share on issue as at the Record Date. 

Scheme Shareholder means each person registered in the VII Share Register as the holder of 
Scheme Shares as at the Record Date. 

Scheme Transfer means one or more proper instruments of transfer in respect of the Scheme 
Shares for the purposes of section 1071B of the Corporations Act, which may be or include a 
master transfer of all or part of the Scheme Shares. 

Second Court Date means the first day of hearing of an application made to the Court for an 
order pursuant to section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act approving the Scheme or, if the 
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hearing of such application is adjourned for any reason, means the first day of the adjourned 
hearing. 

Security Interest has the meaning given in section 12 of the Personal Property Securities Act 
2009 (Cth). 

SSE Articles means the articles of association which will be adopted by SSE as a public 
company. 

SSE Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of SSE.  

VII Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of VII. 

VII Shareholder means a person who is registered in the VII Share Register as a holder of VII 
Shares. 

VII Share Register means the register of members of VII maintained by or on behalf of VII in 
accordance with section 168(1) of the Corporations Act. 

1.2 Interpretation 

In this Scheme headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation and, unless 
the contrary intention appears: 

(a) a word importing the singular includes the plural and vice versa, and a word of any 
gender includes the corresponding words of any other gender; 

(b) the word including or any other form of that word is not a word of limitation; 

(c) if a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or 
grammatical form of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning; 

(d) a reference to a person includes an individual, the estate of an individual, a 
corporation, an authority, an association or parties in a joint venture, a partnership 
and a trust; 

(e) a reference to a party includes a reference to that party's executors, administrators, 
successors and permitted assigns, including persons taking by way of novation and, 
in the case of a trustee, includes any substituted or additional trustee; 

(f) a reference to a document (including this agreement) is to that document as varied, 
novated, ratified or replaced from time to time; 

(g) a reference to a party, clause, schedule, exhibit, attachment, or annexure is a 
reference to a party, clause, schedule, exhibit, attachment, or annexure to or of this 
agreement, and a reference to this agreement includes all schedules, exhibits, 
attachments, and annexures to it; 

(h) a reference to an agency or body if that agency or body ceases to exist or is 
reconstituted, renamed or replaced or has its powers or function removed (obsolete 
body), means the agency or body which performs most closely the functions of the 
obsolete body; 

(i) a reference to a statute includes any regulations or other instruments made under it 
(delegated legislation) and a reference to a statute or delegated legislation or a 
provision of either includes consolidations, amendments, re-enactments and 
replacements; 

(j) a reference to A$ or Australian dollar is to Australian currency;  
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(k) a reference to a date or time is to that date or time in Perth, Western Australia; and   

(l) the Scheme must not be construed adversely to a party just because that party 
prepared it or caused it to be prepared. 

1.3 Business Day 

Except where otherwise expressly provided, where under the Scheme the day on which any 
act, matter or thing is to be done is a day other than a Business Day, such act, matter or thing 
shall be done on the immediately following Business Day. 

2. Conditions 

2.1 Conditions to the Scheme 

The Scheme is conditional upon, and will have no force or effect until, the satisfaction of each 
of the following conditions, and the provisions of clauses 3, 4 and 5 will not come into effect 
unless and until each of these conditions has been satisfied or waived in accordance with this 
clause 2.1: 

(a) as at 8.00 am on the Second Court Date each of the conditions set out in clause 3.1 
of the Scheme Implementation Agreement (other than the condition relating to the 
approval of the Court set out in clause 3.1(c) of the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement) has been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms of the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement;  

(b) as at 8.00 am on the Second Court Date, neither the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement nor the Deed Poll has been terminated; 

(c) the Court approves the Scheme under section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act, 
including with any alterations made or required by the Court under section 411(6) 
of the Corporations Act as are acceptable to VII and SSE; 

(d) such other conditions made or required by the Court under section 411(6) of the 
Corporations Act in relation to the Scheme as are acceptable to VII and SSE have 
been satisfied; and  

(e) the coming into effect, pursuant to section 411(10) of the Corporations Act, of the 
orders of the Court made under section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act (and, if 
applicable, section 411(6) of the Corporations Act) in relation to the Scheme. 

2.2 Certificates in relation to Conditions 

At or before the Court hearing on the Second Court Date, VII (and, if necessary, SSE) will 
provide to the Court a certificate (or such other evidence as the Court may request) confirming 
(in respect of matters within its knowledge) whether or not the Conditions set out in 
clauses 2.1(a) and 2.1(b) of the Scheme have been satisfied or waived.   

2.3 Termination of Scheme Implementation Agreement 

Without limiting any rights under the Scheme Implementation Agreement, in the event that the 
Scheme Implementation Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms before 8.00 am 
on the Second Court Date, VII and SSE are each released from: 

(a) any further obligation to take steps to implement the Scheme; and 

(b) any liability with respect to the Scheme. 
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3. Scheme 

3.1 Effective Date of Scheme 

Subject to clause 3.2, the Scheme will take effect on and from the Effective Date. 

3.2 End Date 

The Scheme will lapse and be of no further force or effect if the Implementation Date has not 
occurred on or before the End Date. 

4. Implementation of Scheme  

4.1 Lodgement of the Court orders with ASIC 

If the Conditions (other than the Condition in clause 2.1(e)) are satisfied (or waived in 
accordance with clause 2.1), VII must lodge with ASIC in accordance with section 411(10) of 
the Corporations Act an office copy of the Court orders approving the Scheme as soon as 
practicable after such office copy is received, and in any event by no later than 5.00 pm on the 
Business Day after the date on which the Court makes those orders (or such other Business 
Day as VII and SSE agree in writing). 

4.2 Transfer of Scheme Shares 

On the Implementation Date:  

(a) all of the Scheme Shares will, together with all rights and entitlements attaching to 
the Scheme Shares, be transferred to SSE without the need for any further act by 
any Scheme Shareholder (other than acts performed by VII as attorney or agent for 
Scheme Shareholders under the Scheme), by: 

(i) VII delivering to SSE a duly completed and executed Scheme Transfer 
(executed by VII (as transferor) as the attorney and agent of each 
Scheme Shareholder under clause 7.2); and 

(ii) SSE duly executing the Scheme Transfer (as transferee) and delivering it 
to VII for registration; and  

(b) as soon as possible after receipt of the Scheme Transfer under clause 4.2(a)(ii), VII 
must enter, or procure the entry of, the name and address of SSE in the VII Share 
Register as the holder of all of the Scheme Shares. 

4.3 Timing  

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Scheme, while SSE Shares forming part of the 
Scheme Consideration must be transferred (and relevant registers updated to record their 
transfer) on the Implementation Date, any requirements under clause 5 for the sending of share 
certificates, holding statements or allotment advices may be satisfied within 10 Business Days 
after the Implementation Date.  
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5. Scheme Consideration 

5.1 Scheme Consideration  

Subject to the Scheme becoming Effective, in consideration of the transfer to SSE of each 
Scheme Share held by a Scheme Shareholder under the Scheme, SSE will provide or cause to 
be provided the Scheme Consideration to each Scheme Shareholder for each Scheme Share 
held by it at the Record Date.  

5.2 Fractional entitlements 

If the number of Scheme Shares held by a Scheme Shareholder in such that the aggregate 
entitlement of that Scheme Shareholder to SSE Shares is not a whole number, then the 
entitlement in each case must be rounded up or down to the nearest whole number, with 
fractions of 0.5 being rounded up. 

5.3 Provision of Scheme Consideration  

The obligations of SSE under the Scheme to provide or cause to be provided the Scheme 
Consideration to Scheme Shareholders will be satisfied:  

(a) in the case of SSE Shares which are required to be transferred to the Scheme 
Shareholders under this clause 5, by SSE procuring that:  

(i) the name and address of each such Scheme Shareholder is entered into 
the SSE Share register on the Implementation Date in respect of the SSE 
Shares to which it is entitled under this clause 5;  

(ii) a share certificate is sent to the Registered Address of each such Scheme 
Shareholder representing the number of SSE Shares transferred to the 
Scheme Shareholder pursuant to the Scheme;  

(b) in the case of SSE Shares to be transferred in respect of Scheme Consideration to 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholders, by SSE procuring that: 

(i) the name and address of the Sale Nominee is entered into the SSE Share 
register on the Implementation Date in respect of the SSE Shares 
required to be transferred to it under this clause 5; 

(ii) a share certificate in the name of the Sale Nominee is sent to the Sale 
Nominee representing the number of SSE Shares so transferred to it; and 

(iii) the Sale Nominee sells those SSE Shares on behalf of Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders, and pays the proceeds in accordance with clause 5.6. 

5.4 Joint holders 

In the case of the Scheme Shares held in joint names the SSE Shares to be transferred under 
the Scheme will be transferred and registered in the names of the joint holders and will be 
forwarded to the holder whose name appears first on the VII Share Register on the Record 
Date.  

5.5 Binding instruction or notification 

Except for a Scheme Shareholder's tax file number, any binding instruction or notification 
between a Scheme Shareholder and VII relating to Scheme Shares on the Record Date 
(including any instructions relating to payment of dividends or to communications from VII) 
will, from the Record Date be deemed (except to the extent determined otherwise by SSE in its 
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sole discretion) to be similarly binding instruction or notification to, and accepted by, SSE in 
respect of the SSE Shares transferred to the Scheme Shareholders until that instruction or 
notification is revoked or amended in writing addressed to SSE, provided that any such 
instruction or notification accepted by SSE will apply to and in respect of the transfer of SSE 
Shares as the Scheme Consideration only to the extent that they:  

(a) are not inconsistent with the other provisions of the Scheme; and  

(b) are recognised under the laws of Singapore or SSE's constituent documents.  

5.6 Ineligible Foreign Shareholders  

(a) Unless SSE is satisfied, acting reasonably, that the laws of an Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholder's country of residence (as shown on the VII Share Register) permit the 
transfer of SSE Shares to the Ineligible Foreign Shareholder, either unconditionally 
or after compliance with conditions that SSE in its sole discretion regards as 
acceptable, SSE will procure VII to transfer the SSE Shares to which that Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to the Sale Nominee, and SSE will 
be under no obligation under this Scheme to transfer, and will not transfer, any SSE 
Shares to any such Ineligible Foreign Shareholder. 

(b) VII will procure that, as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event not more 
than 15 Business Days after the Implementation Date, the Sale Nominee uses its 
best endeavours to sell the SSE Shares transferred to the Sale Nominee pursuant to 
clause 5.6(a) at A$1.09 per SSE Share, in such manner and on such terms as the 
Sale Nominee determines in good faith. 

(c) In the event that SSE Shares remain unsold by the Sale Nominee in accordance with 
clause 5.6(b), VII will procure that Corbyns International Limited (registered 
number 1374080) will, as soon as reasonably practicable, purchase all of the 
remaining SSE Shares at A$1.09 per SSE Share. 

(d) Promptly after the last sale of SSE Shares in accordance with clause 5.6(b) or clause 
5.6(c) (as applicable), VII will procure that the Sale Nominee pay to each Ineligible 
Foreign Shareholder the proportion of the Proceeds to which the Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholder is entitled in accordance with the current notification made by each 
Ineligible Foreign Shareholder for payment of any VII dividends by deposit to a 
nominated bank account or, where there is no such notification, by sending or 
procuring the despatch to each Ineligible Foreign Shareholder by prepaid post to the 
Registered Address of the Ineligible Foreign Shareholder on the Record Date, a 
cheque in the name of the Ineligible Foreign Shareholder for the relevant amount 
(denominated in Australian dollars). 

(e) Each Ineligible Foreign Shareholder appoints VII as its agent to receive on its 
behalf any financial services guide or other notices (including any updates of those 
documents) that the Sale Nominee is required to provide to Ineligible Foreign 
Shareholders under the Corporations Act.  

5.7 Status of SSE Shares   

Subject to the Scheme becoming Effective, SSE will procure that:  

(a) the SSE Shares required to be transferred by VII will be transferred under the 
Scheme on terms such that each SSE Share will rank equally in all respects with 
each existing SSE Share; and 
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(b) each SSE Share transferred as Scheme Consideration is duly transferred and is fully 
paid, non assessable and free from any mortgage, charge, lien, encumbrance or 
other security interest. 

6. Dealings in VII Shares 

6.1 VII Share Register 

VII will, until the Scheme Consideration has been provided to the Scheme Shareholders 
pursuant to clause 5.3 and SSE has been entered in the VII Share Register as the holder of all 
of the Scheme Shares, maintain, or procure the maintenance of, the VII Share Register in 
accordance with the provisions of this clause 6 and the VII Share Register in this form and the 
terms of the Scheme will solely determine entitlements to the Scheme Consideration. 

6.2 Effect of share certificates and holding statements  

As from the Record Date, all share certificates for the Scheme Shares will cease to have effect 
as documents of title, and each entry on the VII Share Register at that time and date (other than 
entries in respect of SSE and its successors in title) will cease to have any effect other than as 
evidence of entitlement to the Scheme Consideration. 

6.3 No disposals after Record Date 

If the Scheme becomes Effective, a Scheme Shareholder, and any person claiming through that 
Scheme Shareholder (other than SSE and its successors in title), must not dispose of or purport 
or agree to dispose of any Scheme Shares or any interest in them after the Record Date. 

6.4 Quotation of VII Shares 

At any time after the Implementation Date to be determined by SSE, VII will apply:  

(a) for termination of official quotation of VII Shares on the ASX; and 

(b) to have itself removed from the official list of the ASX.  

7. General provisions 

7.1 Effect of Scheme 

The Scheme binds VII and all of the Scheme Shareholders (including those who did not attend 
the Scheme Meeting or who did not vote at that meeting or who voted against the Scheme at 
that meeting) and, to the extent permitted by law, overrides the constitution of VII. 

7.2 Appointment of agent and attorney 

On the Scheme becoming Effective, each Scheme Shareholder, without the need for any 
further act, is deemed to have irrevocably appointed VII as its agent and attorney for the 
purpose of: 

(a) executing any document or form or doing any other act necessary to give effect to 
the terms of the Scheme including, without limitation, the execution of the Scheme 
Transfer; and 

(b) enforcing the Deed Poll against SSE, 

and VII accepts such appointment.  VII, as agent and attorney of each Scheme Shareholder, 
may sub-delegate its functions, authorities or powers under this clause 7.2 to all or any of its 
directors and officers (jointly, severally, or jointly and severally). 
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7.3 Scheme Shareholders' agreement and consent 

Each Scheme Shareholder irrevocably: 

(a) agrees to the transfer of its Scheme Shares, together with all rights and entitlements 
attaching to those Scheme Shares, to SSE in accordance with the terms of the 
Scheme and agrees to the variation, cancellation or modification of the rights 
attached to their Scheme Shares constituted by, or resulting from, the Scheme; 

(b) consents to VII and SSE doing all things and executing all deeds, instruments, 
transfers or other documents as may be necessary, incidental or expedient to the 
implementation and performance of the Scheme;  

(c) acknowledges that the Scheme binds VII and all of the VII Shareholders from time 
to time (including those who do not attend the Scheme Meeting, do not vote at that 
meeting or vote against the Scheme); and 

(d) agrees, if acquiring SSE Shares under this Scheme, to be bound by and accept the 
SSE Shares subject to SSE's Articles. 

7.4 Transfer with clear title and warranty by Scheme Shareholders 

(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Scheme Shares transferred to SSE under the 
Scheme will be transferred free from all Encumbrances and interests of third parties 
of any kind, whether legal or otherwise.  

(b) Each Scheme Shareholder is deemed to have warranted to VII, in its own right and 
for the benefit of SSE, that all their Scheme Shares (including any rights and 
entitlements attaching to those shares) will, at the date of the transfer of them to 
SSE, be fully paid and free from all Encumbrances and interests of third parties of 
any kind, whether legal or otherwise, and restrictions on transfer of any kind, and 
that they have full power and capacity to sell and to transfer their Scheme Shares to 
SSE under the Scheme.  

7.5 Title to Scheme Shares 

On and from the Implementation Date, SSE will be beneficially entitled to the Scheme Shares 
transferred to it under the Scheme pending registration by VII of SSE in the VII Share Register 
as the holder of the Scheme Shares. 

7.6 Alterations or conditions 

VII may, by its counsel or solicitors, and with the consent of SSE, consent on behalf of all 
persons concerned, including a Scheme Shareholder, to any alteration or condition to the 
Scheme which the Court thinks fit to make or impose. 

7.7 Notices 

(a) Where a notice, transfer, transmission application, direction or other 
communication referred to in the Scheme is sent by post to VII, it will for all 
purposes be deemed to be received on the date (if any) on which it is actually 
received at VII's registered office (and it will not be deemed to be received in the 
ordinary course of post) or at the place where the VII Share Register is kept. 

(b) The accidental omission to give notice of the Scheme Meeting to any VII 
Shareholder, or the non-receipt of such a notice by any VII Shareholder, will not, 
unless ordered by the Court, invalidate the Scheme or the proceedings at the 
Scheme Meeting. 



 

 10

7.8 Further assurances 

(a) Each of the Scheme Shareholders consents to VII doing all things necessary or 
incidental to give full effect to the implementation of the Scheme and the 
transactions contemplated by it. 

(b) VII must do all things and execute all documents necessary to give full effect to the 
Scheme and the transactions contemplated by it.   

7.9 Stamp duty 

Any stamp duty payable in connection with the transfer of the Scheme Shares to SSE will be 
payable by VII.  

7.10 Fees and charges 

VII must pay all filing, application or similar fees due in relation to the Scheme. 

7.11 Limitation of liability 

None of VII, SSE, nor any director, officer or secretary of VII or SSE is liable for anything 
done or omitted to be done in the performance of the Scheme or the Deed Poll in good faith.  

7.12 Governing law 

The Scheme is governed by the laws of the State of Western Australia.  Each party irrevocably 
and unconditionally submits, in connection with the Scheme, to the non-exclusive jurisdiction 
of the Court and any courts which have jurisdiction to hear appeals from the Court and waives 
any right to object to any proceedings being brought in these courts. 
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Deed poll made on                                                      2013 

Parties Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 199604844C of 10 Anson Road, #15-
07, International Plaza, Singapore 079903 (SSE) 

In favour of Each Scheme Shareholder  

Recitals 

A. The VII Board considers that it is in the interests of VII that Scheme Shareholders should 
consider approving the Scheme.  Accordingly, the VII Board has resolved that VII should 
propose the Scheme. 

B. VII and SSE have entered into a scheme implementation agreement (Scheme Implementation 
Agreement) to provide for the implementation of the Scheme.  The effect of the Scheme will 
be that SSE acquires all of the Scheme Shares from Scheme Shareholders in exchange for the 
Scheme Consideration. 

C. SSE is entering into this deed poll to covenant in favour of Scheme Shareholders that it will 
observe and perform the obligations contemplated of it under the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement and the Scheme. 

1. Definitions and interpretations 

1.1 Definitions 

In this deed poll: 

(a) Scheme means the proposed scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the 
Corporations Act between VII and the Scheme Shareholders, as contemplated by 
the Scheme Implementation Agreement; and 

(b) capitalised terms have the meanings given to them in the Scheme or the Scheme 
Implementation Agreement (as applicable), unless the context requires otherwise. 

1.2 Interpretation 

Clause 1.2 of the Scheme Implementation Agreement applies to the interpretation of this deed 
poll, except that references to "this agreement" are to be read as references to "this deed poll".   

1.3 Nature of deed poll 

SSE acknowledges that: 

(a) this deed poll may be relied on and enforced by any Scheme Shareholder in 
accordance with its terms even though the Scheme Shareholder is not party to it; 
and 

(b) under the Scheme, each Scheme Shareholder irrevocably appoints VII as its agent 
and attorney to enforce this deed poll against SSE. 

2. Condition 

2.1 Condition 

The obligations of SSE under this deed poll are subject to the Scheme becoming Effective. 
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2.2 Termination 

Unless VII and SSE agree otherwise, if the Scheme Implementation Agreement is terminated 
or the Implementation Date has not occurred on or before the End Date, the obligations of SSE 
under this deed poll automatically terminate and the terms of this deed poll will be of no 
further force or effect. 

2.3 Consequences of termination 

If this deed poll is terminated under clause 2.2 then, in addition and without prejudice to any 
other rights, powers or remedies available to it: 

(a) SSE is released from its obligations to further perform this deed poll except those 
obligations under clause 7.2; and 

(b) each Scheme Shareholder retains the rights they have against SSE in respect of any 
breach of this deed poll which occurs before termination. 

3. Performance of obligations generally 

SSE agrees to comply with its obligations under the Scheme Implementation Agreement and 
do all things necessary or desirable on its part to give full effect to the Scheme Implementation 
Agreement.  

4. Scheme Consideration 

(a) Subject to clause 2, in consideration for the transfer to SSE of all of the Scheme 
Shares and all rights and entitlements attaching to them by each Scheme 
Shareholder, SSE undertakes in favour of each Scheme Shareholder to provide or 
cause to be provided the Scheme Consideration to each Scheme Shareholder in 
accordance with, and covenants to act in accordance with, clauses 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 
of the Scheme Implementation Agreement.  

(b) SSE undertakes in favour of each Scheme Shareholder that the SSE Shares which 
are provided to Scheme Shareholders in accordance with the Scheme:  

(i) rank equally in all respects; and  

(ii) are fully paid, non assessable and free from any mortgage, charge, lien, 
encumbrance or other security interest (except for any lien arising under 
the articles of SSE).   

5. SSE representations and warranties 

SSE represents and warrants that: 

(a) it is a company validly existing under the laws of its place of registration; 

(b) it has the corporate power to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed 
poll and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this deed poll; 

(c) it has taken all necessary corporate action to authorise its entry into this deed poll 
and has taken or will take all necessary corporate action to authorise the 
performance of this deed poll and to carry out the transactions contemplated by this 
deed poll; and 

(d) this deed poll is valid and binding upon it.  
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6. Continuing obligations 

This deed poll is irrevocable and, subject to clause 2, remains in full force and effect until: 

(a) SSE has fully performed its obligations under this deed poll; or 

(b) the earlier termination of this deed poll under clause 2.2. 

7. General 

7.1 Notices 

(a) All notices or other communication to SSE in respect of this deed poll must be: 

(i) in writing and in English; 

(ii) signed by the sender or by a person duly authorised by the sender; 

(iii) addressed in the manner and delivered or sent by prepaid ordinary post 
to the address, or sent by facsimile to the facsimile number described 
below: 

Address: Km 9, Vat Cach, Quan Toan 
Hong Bang TP 
Hai Phong Vietnam 

Facsimile: +84 (31) 3850828 

For the attention of: Alan Alexander Young 

 

(b) Any notice or other communication given in accordance with clause 7.1(a) will be 
deemed to have been duly given as follows: 

(i) if delivered by hand, on delivery at the address of the addressee, unless 
that delivery is made on a non-Business Day, or after 5.00 pm on a 
Business Day, in which case that communication will be deemed to be 
received at 9.00 am on the next Business Day; 

(ii) if sent by pre-paid mail, on the third Business Day after posting; and 

(iii) if sent by facsimile, at the local time (in the place of receipt of the 
facsimile) which then equates to the time at which that facsimile is sent 
as shown on the transmission report which is produced by the machine 
from which that facsimile is sent and which confirms transmission of 
that facsimile in its entirety, unless that local time is a non-Business Day, 
or after 5.00 pm on a Business Day, in which case that communication 
will be deemed to be received at 9.00 am on the next Business Day.  

7.2 Duty 

SSE will: 

(a) pay or procure the payment of all transaction duties and any related fines and 
penalties in respect of this deed poll, the performance of this deed poll and each 
transaction effected by, or made under, this deed poll (including in connection with 
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the transfer of Scheme Shares to SSE in accordance with the terms of the Scheme); 
and 

(b) indemnify each Scheme Shareholder against any liability of the Scheme 
Shareholder arising from failure to comply with clause 7.2(a). 

7.3 Waiver 

(a) Waiver of any right arising from a breach of this deed poll or of any right, power, 
authority, discretion or remedy created or arising upon default under this deed poll 
must be in writing and signed by the person granting the waiver. 

(b) A failure or delay in exercise, or partial exercise, of: 

(i) a right arising from a breach of this deed poll; or 

(ii) a right, power, authority, discretion or remedy created or arising upon 
default under this deed poll, 

does not result in a waiver of that right, power, authority, discretion or remedy. 

(c) SSE is not entitled to rely on a delay in the exercise or non-exercise of a right 
arising from a breach of this deed poll, or a delay in the exercise or non-exercise of 
a right, power, authority, discretion or remedy arising from a default under this deed 
poll as constituting a waiver of that right, power, authority, discretion or remedy. 

(d) SSE may not rely on any conduct of another person as a defence to the exercise of a 
right, power, authority, discretion or remedy by that other person. 

(e) This clause 7.3 may not itself be waived except in writing. 

7.4 Variation 

A provision of this deed poll or any right created under it may not be varied, altered or 
otherwise amended unless the variation is agreed to by SSE and VII in writing and the Court 
indicates that the variation, alteration or amendment would not itself preclude approval of the 
Scheme, in which event SSE must enter into a further deed poll in favour of the Scheme 
Shareholders giving effect to the variation, alteration or amendment.  

7.5 Cumulative rights 

The rights, powers and remedies of SSE and each Scheme Shareholder under this deed poll are 
cumulative and do not exclude any other rights, powers or remedies provided by the law 
independently of this deed poll. 

7.6 Assignment 

The rights and obligations of SSE and the rights of each Scheme Shareholder under this deed 
poll are personal and must not be assigned, charged or otherwise dealt with at law or in equity. 

7.7 Further action 

SSE will promptly do all things and execute and deliver all further documents required by law 
to give effect to this deed poll and the transactions contemplated by it. 
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7.8 Governing law and jurisdiction  

(a) This deed poll is governed by the laws of the state of Western Australia. 

(b) SSE irrevocably: 

(i) submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the state of 
Western Australia, and the courts competent to determine appeals from 
those courts, with respect to any proceedings that may be brought at any 
time relating to this agreement; and 

(ii) waives any objection it may now or in the future have to the venue of 
any proceedings, and any claim it may now or in the future have that any 
proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum, if that venue 
falls within clause 7.8(i). 





 

 

Annexure E : 
Notice of Scheme Meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 
 

 

VIETNAM INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
ACN 063 656 333 
 
 

 
NOTICE OF SCHEME MEETING 

Notice of Court ordered Scheme Meeting of VII Shareholders 

Notice is hereby given, by an order of the Federal Court of Australia made on 19 December 
2013 pursuant to section 411(1) of the Corporations Act, that a meeting of holders of ordinary 
shares in Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited (VII) will be held at 10.00 am (Perth time) on 
Tuesday, 4 February 2014 at the Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 
Hay Street, West Perth, Western Australia. 

The Court has also directed that Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok or, failing him, Mr Alan Alexander 
Young, act as the chair of the Scheme Meeting.  

The purpose of the Scheme Meeting is to consider and, if thought fit, to approve a scheme of 
arrangement (with or without any modifications or conditions approved by the Court to which VII 
and Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd (SSE) agrees) proposed to be made between VII and 
VII Shareholders in relation to the proposed acquisition of 100% of VII by SSE, to effect a 
restructure of the VII Group.  

To enable you to make an informed voting decision, further information on the Scheme is set 
out in the Scheme Booklet which this notice forms part of.  Capitalised terms used in this notice 
have the same meaning as set out in the defined terms in Section 12 of the Scheme Booklet. 

Business of the meeting  
 
Resolution – Approval of the Scheme 
 
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution:  

"That, pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of section 411 of the 
Corporations Act, the proposed scheme of arrangement between Vietnam 
Industrial Investments Limited and the holders of its fully paid ordinary shares, 
designated the "Scheme", as contained in and more particularly described in 
Annexure C of the Scheme Booklet accompanying the Notice of Scheme 
Meeting (with or without any modifications or conditions approved at this 
meeting or approved by the Federal Court of Australia after this meeting, and 
to which VII and SSE agree) is approved and, subject to approval of the 
Scheme by the Court, the VII Board is authorised to implement the Scheme 
with any such modifications or conditions." 

 
BY ORDER OF THE COURT 
 
 
 
Patricia Williams 
Company Secretary 
Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited 

Dated 19 December 2013  



 

EXPLANATORY NOTES  

Requisite Majorities 

In accordance with section 411(4)(a)(ii) of the Corporations Act, the resolution must be 
approved by, unless the Court orders otherwise: 

 a majority in number of VII Shareholders present and voting at the Scheme Meeting (in 
person, by proxy or attorney or in the case of a body corporate, by a duly appointed 
corporate representative); and 

 at least 75% of the total number of votes cast by VII Shareholders on the resolution.  

Court approval 

In accordance with section 411(4)(b) of the Corporations Act, the Scheme (with or without 
modification) must be approved by an order of the Court.  If the resolution put to this meeting is 
passed by the Requisite Majorities and the other Conditions Precedent are satisfied or waived 
(as applicable), VII intends to apply to the Court on 6 February 2014 for approval of the 
Scheme.  

VOTING 

The Independent Directors believe that the Scheme is important to all VII Shareholders and the 
majority of Independent Directors recommend that you vote in favour of the Scheme at the 
Scheme Meeting.  The Independent Directors do not control VII Shares and therefore are not 
entitled to vote at the Scheme Meeting. 

Whilst Van Hung Lam (Henry) is supportive of the Scheme, he (as holder of 100% of the issued 
share capital in Corbyns) has decided that he will not vote the VII Shares that he controls 
through Corbyns on the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting, given Corbyns' position as VII's 
ultimate holding company.  Therefore, Corbyns has informed VII that, whilst it will not vote on 
the Scheme at the Scheme Meeting, it is supportive of the Scheme. 

As at the date of this Notice of Scheme Meeting, Corbyns holds 81.75% of the issued share 
capital in VII.     

Voting entitlement 
 
VII Shareholders who are registered on the Register at 5.00 pm (Perth time) on 2 February 
2014 may vote at the Scheme Meeting in person, by attorney, by proxy or, in the case of a body 
corporate, by corporate representative. 

Voting by poll 

The vote will be conducted by poll.  On a poll VII Shareholders will be entitled to 1 vote per VII 
Share. 

How to vote 

VII Shareholders can vote by either: 

 attending the meeting and voting in person or by attorney or, in the case of corporate 
shareholders, by appointing a corporate representative to attend and vote; or 

 appointing a proxy to attend and vote on their behalf using the Proxy Form 
accompanying this Notice of Scheme Meeting and by submitting the proxy appointment 
and voting instructions as set out below. 



 

Voting in person (or by attorney) 
 
VII Shareholders, or their attorneys, who plan to attend the Scheme Meeting are asked to arrive 
at the venue 15 minutes prior to the time designated for the Scheme Meeting, so that their 
shareholding may be checked against the Register and attendance recorded.  Attorneys should 
bring with them an original or certified copy of the power of attorney under which they have 
been authorised to attend and vote at the Scheme Meeting.  
 
Voting by a corporation 
 
A VII Shareholder that is a corporation may appoint an individual to act as its representative and 
vote in person at the meeting.  The appointment must comply with the requirements of section 
250D of the Corporations Act.   
 
If a representative of the corporation is to attend the Scheme Meeting, the appropriate 
"Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative" should be lodged with VII before the 
Scheme Meeting or at the registration desk on the day of the Scheme Meeting.  A form of the 
certificate may be obtained from the Share Registry. 

Voting by proxy  
 
A Proxy Form is included with this Scheme Booklet.  If you wish to appoint a proxy to attend and 
vote at the Scheme Meeting, complete the Proxy Form. 
 
Your Proxy Form or appointment of attorney (in the event you wish to appoint an attorney to 
attend and vote at the Scheme Meeting) must either be: 

 sent by mail to the Share Registry (using the reply paid envelope included with this 
Scheme Booklet), addressed, Suite 1, Alexandra House, 770 Canning Highway, 
Applecross, Western Australia 6153 or PO Box 535, Applecross, Western Australia 
6953;  

 faxed to (08) 9315 2233 from within Australia, or +61 8 9315 2233 from overseas;  

 lodged online at www.securitytransfer.com.au using the details printed on the 
personalised Proxy Form; or  

 delivered by hand to Suite 1, Alexandra House, 770 Canning Highway, Applecross, 
Western Australia 6153, 

 
so that it is received by no later than 10.00 am (Perth time) on 2 February 2014.  Any Proxy 
Form received after that time will not be valid for the Scheme Meeting. 
 
A Proxy Form completed by custodians or nominees of VII Shareholders must be faxed to (08) 
9315 2233 from within Australia, or +61 8 9315 2233 from overseas, so that it is received by no 
later than 10.00 am (Perth time) on 2 February 2014. 
 
If an attorney signs a Proxy Form on your behalf, a copy of the authority under which the Proxy 
Form was signed must be received by the Share Registry at the same time as the Proxy Form 
(unless you have already provided a copy of the authority to VII). 



 

If: 

 a VII Shareholder nominates the chair of the Scheme Meeting as the VII Shareholder's 
proxy; or 

 a proxy appointment is signed by a VII Shareholder but does not name the proxies in 
whose favour it is given or otherwise under a default appointment according to the 
terms of the Proxy Form, 

the person acting as chair in respect of an item of business at the Scheme Meeting must act as 
proxy under the appointment in respect of that item of business. 

Proxy appointments in favour of the chair of the Scheme Meeting, the VII company secretary or 
any VII Director which do not contain a direction will be voted in support of the resolution at the 
Scheme Meeting. 

A VII Shareholder who wishes to submit a proxy has the right to appoint a proxy (who need not 
be a VII Shareholder) to represent him, her or it at the Scheme Meeting, other than the chair of 
the Scheme Meeting, by inserting the name of the chosen proxy in the space provided for that 
purpose in Section A of the Proxy Form.   

A VII Shareholder entitled to cast two or more votes may appoint two proxies to attend and vote 
on a poll and may specify the proportion or number of votes each proxy is appointed to 
exercise.  However, where the proportion or number is not specified, each proxy may exercise 
half the votes.  Any fraction of the votes resulting from the application of this mechanism shall 
be disregarded.  On a show of hands, a proxy may not vote if more than 1 proxy attends.  On a 
poll, each proxy may only exercise votes in respect of those shares or voting rights the proxy 
represents. 

A VII Shareholder who has deposited a Proxy Form may revoke it prior to its use, by instrument 
in writing executed by the VII Shareholder or by his, her or its attorney duly authorised in writing 
or, if the VII Shareholder is a company, executed by a duly authorised officer or attorney in 
compliance with the applicable law and deposited at the Share Registry by 5.00 pm (Perth time) 
on the last Business Day preceding the day of the Scheme Meeting or with the chair of the 
Scheme Meeting on the day of, and prior to the start of, the Scheme Meeting.  A VII 
Shareholder may also revoke a proxy in any other manner permitted by law. 
 
Further information for VII Shareholders 
 
If you have any questions please contact VII's Share Registry on (08) 9315 2333 (within 
Australia) or +61 8 9315 2333 (outside of Australia) Monday to Friday between 8.00 am and 
5.00 pm (Perth time).   



 

 

Directory 

Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited 
Unit 5a, 1 Station Street 
Subiaco WA 6008, Australia 
PO BOX 739, Subiaco WA 6904, Australia 
 
Telephone: +61 8 9388 0155  
Facsimile: +61 8 9388 9155 
 
Website: www.vii.net.au 
ASX code: VII  

Board of Directors 
Mr Roger (Sing-Leong) Kwok (Chairman) 
Mr Van Hung Lam (Henry) 
Mr Alan Alexander Young 
Mr Andrew David Walker 

Australian Legal Adviser to VII 
Clayton Utz 
Level 27, 250 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000, Australia   
 
Singaporean Legal Adviser to SSE 
Drew & Napier LLC 
Ocean Financial Centre 
Level 10, 10 Collyer Quay 
Singapore 049315 
 
Independent Expert 
BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd 
38 Station Street 
Subiaco WA 6008, Australia 
 

 Australian Auditor and Tax Adviser 
Ernst & Young 
The Ernst & Young Building 
11 Mounts Bay Road  
Perth WA 6000, Australia         
 
Share Registry 
Security Transfer Registrars Pty Limited 
Suite 1, Alexandra House  
770 Canning Highway 
Applecross WA 6153, Australia         

  

  

  

  

 



SECTION B: Voting Directions to your Proxy

SECTION A: Appointment of Proxy

SECTION C: Please Sign Below

REGISTERED OFFICE:
UNIT 5A
1 STATION STREET
SUBIACO WA 6008

SHARE REGISTRY:
Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd

All Correspondence to:
PO BOX 535,

 APPLECROSS WA 6953 AUSTRALIA
770 Canning Highway,

APPLECROSS WA 6153 AUSTRALIA
T: +61 8 9315 2333  F: +61 8 9315 2233

E: registrar@securitytransfer.com.au
W: www.securitytransfer.com.au

VIETNAM INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED
ACN: 063 656 333

PROXY FORM
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT. IF YOU ARE IN DOUBT AS TO HOW TO DEAL WITH IT, PLEASE CONTACT YOUR STOCK BROKER OR LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ADVISOR.

Holder Number:

1

I/We, the above named, being registered holders of Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited (Company) and entitled to attend and vote hereby appoint:

or failing the person named, or if no person is named, the Chair of the Scheme Meeting, as my/our Proxy to act generally at the Scheme Meeting on my/our behalf and to
vote in accordance with the following directions (or if no directions have been given, as the Proxy sees fit) at the Scheme Meeting of the Company to be held at 10.00am

(WST) on Tuesday 4 February 2014 at the Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce, 1304 Hay Street, West Perth, Western Australia and at any adjournment
of that meeting.

Code: VII

OR

The name of the person you are appointing
(if this person is someone other than the Chair of the Scheme Meeting).

The meeting Chair
 (mark with an "X")

If no directions are given my proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit or may abstain.
* If you mark the Abstain box for a particular item, you are directing your Proxy not to vote on your behalf on a show of hands or on a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority on a poll.

If you wish to appoint the Chair as your proxy and you do not wish to direct the Chair how to vote, please mark "X" in the box.
By marking this box, you acknowledge that the Chair may exercise your proxy even if he has an interest in the outcome of the resolution and votes cast by him/her other than as a proxy holder will be disregarded
because of that interest. If you do not mark this box, and you have not directed your proxy how to vote, the Chair will not cast your votes on the resolution and your votes will not be counted in calculating the
required majority if a poll is called on the resolution. The Chair of the Scheme Meeting intends to vote undirected proxies in favour of the resolution.

VII 1

Proxies must be received by Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd no later than 10.00am (WST) on Sunday 2 February 2014.

ONLINE PROXY SERVICE
 Except for Proxy Forms that are completed by custodians or nominees of VII Shareholders you can lodge your proxy online at www.securitytransfer.com.au

1. Log into the Investor Centre using your holding details.

2. Click on "Proxy Voting" and provide your Online Proxy ID to access the voting area.
Online Proxy ID:

This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overleaf to enable your directions to be implemented.

Please mark "X" in the box to indicate your voting directions to your Proxy.

Resolution

  1.  Approval of Scheme of Arrangement

         For       Against   Abstain*

            Individual or Security Holder                        Security Holder 2

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary                            Director

                         Security Holder 3

         Director / Company Secretary

9999666644441111444433336666000033336666



PRIVACY STATEMENT
Personal information is collected on this form by Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd as the registrar for securities issuers for the purpose of maintaining registers of securityholders,
facilitating distribution payments and other corporate actions and communications. Your personal details may be disclosed to related bodies corporate, to external service providers
such as mail and print providers, or as otherwise required or permitted by law. If you would like details of your personal information held by Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd or you
would like to correct information that is inaccurate please contact them on the address on this form.

  TELEPHONE NUMBER

( )

NAME

My/Our contact details in case of enquiries are:

5. Signing Instructions
Individual: where the holding is in one name, the Shareholder must sign.

Joint Holding:  where the holding is in more than one name, all of the

Shareholders must sign.

Power of Attorney:  to sign under power of attorney you must have already

lodged this document with the Company's share registry. If you have not
previously lodged this document for notation, please attach a certified

photocopy of the Power of Attorney to this form when you return it.

Companies:  where the Company has a Sole Director who is also the Sole

Company Secretary, this form must be signed by that person. If  the Company
(pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001) does not have a

Company Secretary, a Sole Director may sign alone. Otherwise this form must
be signed by a Director jointly with either  another Director or Company

Secretary. Please indicate the office held in the appropriate place.

If a representative of the corporation is to attend the Scheme Meeting the
appropriate "Certificate of Appointment of Corporate Representative"  should

be lodged with the Company before the Scheme Meeting or at the registration
desk on the day of the Scheme Meeting. A form of the certificate may be
obtained from the Company's share registry, Security Transfer Registrars Pty

Ltd.

6. Lodgement of Proxy
Proxy forms (and any Power of Attorney under which it is signed) must be
received by Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd no later than 10.00am (WST)

on Sunday 2 February 2014, being 48 hours before the time for holding the
Scheme Meeting.  Any Proxy form received after that time will not be valid for
the scheduled meeting.

Lodgement of Proxy Forms can be made with Security Transfer Registrars Pty

Ltd as set out below.

Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd

PO BOX 535
Applecross, Western Australia 6953

Street Address:
Alexandrea House, Suite 1
770 Canning Highway
Applecross, Western Australia 6153

Telephone +61 8 9315 2333

Facsimile +61 8 9315 2233

Email  registrar@securitytransfer.com.au

Online          www.securitytransfer.com.au
(Please refer to page one of the Proxy Form for more details)

NOTES
 
1. Name and Address

This is the name and address on the Share Register of VIETNAM

INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED. If this information is incorrect, please
make corrections on this form. Shareholders sponsored by a broker should

advise their broker of any changes. Please note that you cannot change
ownership of your shares using this form.

2.  Appointment of a Proxy
If you wish to appoint the Chair of the Scheme Meeting as your Proxy please
mark "X" in the box in Section A.  Please also refer to Section B of this proxy
form and ensure you mark the box in that section if you wish to appoint the

Chair as your Proxy.

If the person you wish to appoint as your Proxy is someone other than the
Chair of the Scheme Meeting please write the name of that person in Section

A.  If you leave this section blank, or your named Proxy does not attend the
Scheme Meeting, the Chair of the Scheme Meeting will be your Proxy. A Proxy
need not be a Shareholder of VIETNAM INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENTS

LIMITED.

3. Directing your Proxy how to vote
To direct the Proxy how to vote place an "X" in the appropriate box against the
item in Section B.  Where more than one Proxy is to be appointed and the

proxies are to vote differently, then two separate forms must be used to
indicate voting intentions.

4.  Appointment of a Second Proxy
You are entitled to appoint up to two (2) persons as proxies to attend the       

Scheme Meeting and vote on a poll.  If you wish to appoint a second Proxy,
an additional Proxy form may be obtained by telephoning the Company's      
share registry +61 8 9315 2333 or you may photocopy this form.

To appoint a second Proxy you must:

(a) On each of the Proxy forms, state the percentage of your voting rights or
number of securities applicable to that form.  If the appointments do not

specify the percentage or number of votes that each Proxy may exercise,
each Proxy may exercise half of your votes; and

(b)  Return both forms in the same envelope.

4444555533338888444433336666000033336666



 

 

Vietnam Industrial Investments Limited 
ACN 063 656 333 
 
 
 

 
            If any details on this        
              form are incorrect, 
              please  mark this 
              box and make this 
            correction on the form. 
Shareholders sponsored by a 
broker (reference number 
commences with an “X”) 
should advise their broker. 

Please return completed form to: 
Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd 

PO Box 535 
APPLECROSS WA 6953 

or Facsimile +61 8 9315 2233 
 Or Email: 

registrar@securitytransfer.com.au 

 
<<Name of Shareholder>> 
<<Address>> 
<<Address>> 
<<Address>> 
<<Address>> 
<<Address>> 

 
 
 

HIN/SRN No 
(Reference No): 

 
 

 
Enquiries to VII +61 8 9388 0155 
 
 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXX 
 
 

ROLL-OVER ELECTION FORM  
Use a black pen.  Where a choice is required mark the box with an X. 

IMPORTANT – This is an important document and requires your attention.  Please use this Roll-over Election Form if 
you intend to obtain a roll-over relief under the Scheme.  Where a roll-over relief applies, you may be eligible to defer 
capital gains tax (see Section 9 of the Scheme Booklet for further details). 

THIS ROLL-OVER ELECTION FORM CANNOT BE USED BY INELIGIBLE FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS OF 
VIETNAM INDUSTRIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED (VII). 

Do not complete this Roll-over Election Form until you have read the accompanying Scheme Booklet, in particular 
Section 9, and the instructions on this Roll-over Election Form. 

If you are unsure whether you can obtain roll-over relief you should seek independent tax advice. 

To be a valid choice for roll-over relief, you must choose to obtain roll-over relief by the time your income tax 
return for the year ending 30 June 2014 is lodged (no specific notice seeking to claim the rollover needs to 
be lodged with the Australian Taxation Office). You must also notify Structure Steel Engineering Pte Ltd 
(SSE) of the cost base of your original interest in VII Shares. 

A.  ELECTION FOR ROLL-OVER RELIEF   
  Is it your intention to obtain roll-over relief in respect of SSE shares that you receive under the Scheme? If 

so, please mark the box below with an “X” (if you do not mark this box, SSE will not make a joint election for 
roll-over relief with you and you may be liable for capital gains tax on disposal of your VII Shares).  
 
YES, I/we intend to obtain roll-over relief. 
 
If you have answered “YES” please also complete sections B and C. 

B. NOTIFICATION OF COST BASE   
 Cost base AUD No. of Shares at 

Record Date 
What is the total cost base of your original interest in VII Shares in Australian 
dollars immediately before you receive SSE shares (i.e. how much did you 
pay for your VII Shares including incidental costs such as brokerage)? 

  

C. SIGN HERE   
 
Authorised signature/s I/we confirm my/our intention to obtain roll-over relief under the Scheme in respect of my/our 
VII Shares as set out above and have provided the information in B to the extent required. 
 

Individual or Shareholder 1 Shareholder 2 Shareholder 3 

Sole Director and Sole Company 
Secretary 

Director  Director/Company Secretary 

 
_________________________ _______________________ ___________________ 
Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Date 
 



 

 

IMPORTANT NOTES    
 Shareholders (other than Ineligible Foreign Shareholders) are entitled to choose whether they obtain roll-over 

relief under the Scheme. 
 Defined terms in the accompanying Scheme Booklet have the same meanings where used in this Roll-over 

Election Form. 
 If you are in doubt as to how to deal with this Roll-over Election Form, please contact your legal, financial or 

other professional adviser. 
 
INELIGIBLE FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS 
A VII Shareholder who is an Ineligible Foreign Shareholder will not receive SSE shares under the Scheme.  If you are 
an Ineligible Foreign Shareholder, you cannot make a choice for roll-over relief.  Instead, the SSE shares that would 
have otherwise been transferred to Ineligible Foreign Shareholders under the Scheme will be transferred to a 
nominee who will sell those SSE shares and account to the Ineligible Foreign Shareholder for the proceeds.  A 
detailed description of this sale process is set out in Section 7 of the Scheme Booklet.   
 
HOW TO COMPLETE THIS ROLL-OVER ELECTION FORM 
STEP 1 – Read the Scheme Booklet (in particular Section 9) that accompanied this Roll-over Election Form.  
STEP 2 – Decide whether you intend to obtain roll-over relief under the Scheme. 
If you intend to obtain roll-over relief: 
STEP 3 – Complete sections A, B and C of this Roll-over Election Form.  More details on these sections are set out 
below. 
STEP 4 – Return this completed Roll-over Election Form to Security Transfer Registrars as described under “Where 
to return this form” below. 
STEP 5 – Prepare your tax return for the year ended 30 June 2014 in a manner that reflects this choice, by not 
including any capital gain relating to the disposal of your VII Shares. 
 
A. Roll-over Election 
Choosing roll-over relief – If you intend to obtain roll-over relief under the Scheme, please mark the box “YES” in the 
Roll-over Election Form.  You must then complete sections B and C of this Roll-over Election Form and return it to 
Security Transfer Registrars as described under “Where to return this form” below. You must also ensure you 
prepare your tax return for the year ended 30 June 2014 in a manner that reflects this choice, by not including any 
capital gain relating to the disposal of your Shares. 
Not choosing roll-over relief – If you choose not to obtain roll-over relief under the Scheme, you do not need to 
complete or submit this Roll-over Election Form.  In this case, SSE will not make a joint election for roll-over relief 
with you and you may be liable for capital gains tax on disposal of your VII Shares. 
 
B. Notification of cost base 
If you intend to obtain roll-over relief under the Scheme, you must notify SSE of your cost base in your original 
interest in VII.  Please provide the cost base of your original interest in VII Shares immediately before you receive 
SSE shares.  The cost base is broadly made up of the amount you paid for your original interest in VII Shares 
including, for example, brokerage and stamp duty costs. 
 
C. Signing Instructions 
You must sign and date the form as follows in the spaces provided: 
Individuals – where the holding is in one name, the holder must sign. 
Joint holding – where the holding is in more than one name, all of the holders must sign. 
Companies – this form must be signed by either 2 Directors or a Director and a Company Secretary.  Alternatively, 
where the company has a sole Director and, pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), there is no Company 
Secretary, or where the sole Director who is also the sole Company Secretary, that Director may sign alone.  Please 
sign in the appropriate space to indicate the office held. 
Power of Attorney – to sign as attorney, you must have already lodged the Power of Attorney with the registry, or 
alternatively, attach a certified photocopy of the Power of Attorney to this Roll-over Election Form when you return it. 
 
PRIVACY STATEMENT 
Personal information is collected on this form by VII, for the purpose of effecting your instructions in relation to this 
Roll-over Election Form, maintaining registers of shareholders, facilitating distribution payments and other corporate 
actions and communications.  Your personal information may be disclosed to our related bodies corporate and their 
professional advisers, to external service companies such as print or mail service providers, or as otherwise required 
or permitted by law.  If you would like details of your personal information held by VII or you would like to correct the 
information that is in accurate, incorrect or out of date, please contact Security Transfer Registrars. 
 
Where to return this form 
Please return this completed Roll-over Election Form to Security Transfer Registrars either by fax to +618 9315 2233, 
scan and email your form to registrar@securitytransfer.com.au, or in the reply paid envelope provided or if you are 
outside of Australia or do not otherwise use the reply paid envelope, to Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd, PO Box 
535, APPLECROSS WA 6953, Australia before or at the time you make your election in your tax return for the year 
ended 30 June 2014. 


